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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements

MGIC INVESTMENT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Unaudited)

(In thousands)  
September 30, 

2016  
December 31, 

2015

ASSETS     

Investment portfolio (notes 7 and 8):     

Securities, available-for-sale, at fair value:     

Fixed maturities (amortized cost, 2016 - $4,602,457; 2015 - $4,684,148)  $ 4,718,625  $ 4,657,561

Equity securities  7,218  5,645

Total investment portfolio  4,725,843  4,663,206

Cash and cash equivalents  274,743  181,120

Accrued investment income  42,310  40,224

Reinsurance recoverable on loss reserves (note 4)  46,863  44,487

Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses  4,632  3,319

Premiums receivable  47,421  48,469

Home office and equipment, net  32,009  30,095

Deferred insurance policy acquisition costs  17,408  15,241

Deferred income taxes, net (note 11)  602,142  762,080

Other assets  79,678  80,102

Total assets  $ 5,873,049  $ 5,868,343

     

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY     

Liabilities:     

Loss reserves (note 12)  $ 1,535,483  $ 1,893,402

Unearned premiums  321,326  279,973

Federal Home Loan Bank advance (note 3)  155,000  —

Senior notes (note 3)  417,087  —

Convertible senior notes (note 3)  349,073  822,301

Convertible junior subordinated debentures (note 3)  256,872  389,522

Other liabilities  255,129  247,005

Total liabilities  3,289,970  3,632,203

Contingencies (note 5)   

Shareholders’ equity (note 13):     
Common stock (one dollar par value, shares authorized 1,000,000; shares issued 2016 - 359,395; 2015 - 340,097; shares
outstanding 2016 - 345,474; 2015 - 339,657)  359,395  340,097

Paid-in capital  1,779,911  1,670,238

Treasury stock at cost (shares 2016 - 13,921; 2015 - 440)  (111,459)  (3,362)

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (note 9)  30,155  (60,880)

Retained earnings  525,077  290,047

Total shareholders’ equity  2,583,079  2,236,140

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  $ 5,873,049  $ 5,868,343

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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MGIC INVESTMENT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Unaudited)

  Three Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,

(In thousands, except per share data)  2016  2015  2016  2015

Revenues:         

Premiums written:         

Direct  $ 283,618  $ 273,803  $ 831,022  $ 800,619

Assumed  152  285  542  931

Ceded (note 4)  (33,446)  43,897  (99,944)  (22,334)

Net premiums written  250,324  317,985  731,620  779,216

Increase in unearned premiums, net  (12,948)  (78,751)  (41,447)  (109,186)

Net premiums earned  237,376  239,234  690,173  670,030

Investment income, net of expenses  27,515  25,939  82,572  75,815

Net realized investment gains (losses):     

Total other-than-temporary impairment losses  —  —  —  —

Portion of losses recognized in comprehensive income, before taxes  —  —  —  —

Net impairment losses recognized in earnings  —  —  —  —

Other realized investment gains  5,092  640  8,984  27,133

Net realized investment gains  5,092  640  8,984  27,133

Other revenue  3,867  3,698  14,234  9,877

Total revenues  273,850  269,511  795,963  782,855

         

Losses and expenses:         

Losses incurred, net (note 12)  60,897  76,458  192,499  248,481

Change in premium deficiency reserve  —  —  —  (23,751)

Amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs  2,575  2,368  6,781  6,191

Other underwriting and operating expenses, net  37,870  46,075  112,995  121,152

Interest expense  13,536  17,362  40,481  52,097

Loss on debt extinguishment (note 3)  75,223  —  90,531  —

Total losses and expenses  190,101  142,263  443,287  404,170

         

Income before tax  83,749  127,248  352,676  378,685

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes (note 11)  27,131  (695,604)  117,646  (690,897)

         

Net income  $ 56,618  $ 822,852  $ 235,030  $ 1,069,582

         

Income per share (note 6)         

Basic  $ 0.16  $ 2.42  $ 0.68  $ 3.15

Diluted  $ 0.14  $ 1.78  $ 0.58  $ 2.35

         

Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic (note 6)  349,376  339,701  343,403  339,504

Weighted average common shares outstanding - diluted (note 6)  406,050  468,128  421,423  468,076

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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MGIC INVESTMENT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Unaudited)

  Three Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,

(In thousands)  2016  2015  2016  2015

Net income  $ 56,618  $ 822,852  $ 235,030  $ 1,069,582

Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax (note 9):         

Change in unrealized investment gains and losses (note 7)  (14,434)  95,295  92,731  51,212

Benefit plan adjustments  (241)  (7,355)  (722)  (8,447)

Foreign currency translation adjustment  (10)  (2,947)  (974)  (4,571)

Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax  (14,685)  84,993  91,035  38,194

Comprehensive income  $ 41,933  $ 907,845  $ 326,065  $ 1,107,776

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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MGIC INVESTMENT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(Unaudited)

  Nine Months Ended September 30,

(In thousands)  2016  2015

Common stock     

Balance, beginning of period  $ 340,097  $ 340,047

Net common stock issued under share-based compensation plans  985  44

Issuance of common stock (note 13)  18,313  —

Balance, end of period  359,395  340,091

     

Paid-in capital     

Balance, beginning of period  1,670,238  1,663,592

Net common stock issued under share-based compensation plans  (5,989)  (446)

Issuance of common stock (note 13)  113,146  —

Reissuance of treasury stock, net  —  (6,894)

Tax benefit from share-based compensation  100  2,113

Equity compensation  8,753  8,942

Reacquisition of convertible junior subordinated debentures-equity component (note 3)  (6,337)  —

Balance, end of period  1,779,911  1,667,307

     

Treasury stock     

Balance, beginning of period  (3,362)  (32,937)

Purchases of common stock (note 13)  (108,097)  —

Reissuance of treasury stock, net  —  29,575

Balance, end of period  (111,459)  (3,362)

     

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)     

Balance, beginning of period  (60,880)  (81,341)

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (note 9)  91,035  38,194

Balance, end of period  30,155  (43,147)

     

Retained earnings (deficit)     

Balance, beginning of period  290,047  (852,458)

Net income  235,030  1,069,582

Reissuance of treasury stock, net  —  (29,494)

Balance, end of period  525,077  187,630

Total shareholders’ equity  $ 2,583,079  $ 2,148,519

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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MGIC INVESTMENT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited)

  Nine Months Ended September 30,

(In thousands)  2016  2015

Cash flows from operating activities:     

Net income  $ 235,030  $ 1,069,582

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:     

Depreciation and amortization  44,324  38,361

Deferred tax expense (benefit)  111,191  (698,177)

Realized investment gains, net  (8,984)  (27,133)

Excess tax benefits related to share-based compensation  (100)  (2,113)

Loss on debt extinguishment  31,071  —

Payment of original issue discount-convertible junior subordinated debentures  (41,540)  —

Payment of original issue discount-convertible senior notes  (11,250)  —

Change in certain assets and liabilities:     

Accrued investment income  (2,086)  (6,343)

Prepaid insurance premium  95  47,436

Reinsurance recoverable on loss reserves  (2,376)  19,093

Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses  (1,313)  2,149

Premium receivable  1,048  5,863

Deferred insurance policy acquisition costs  (2,167)  (2,757)

Profit commission receivable  (2,005)  91,500

Loss reserves  (357,919)  (416,864)

Premium deficiency reserve  —  (23,751)

Unearned premiums  41,353  61,705

Return premium accrual  (12,800)  (6,400)

Income taxes payable - current  822  752

Other  9,235  (17,872)

Net cash provided by operating activities  31,629  135,031

Cash flows from investing activities:     

Purchases of investments:     

Fixed maturities  (1,105,995)  (1,970,402)

Equity securities  (4,315)  (2,593)

Proceeds from sales of fixed maturities  718,894  1,527,680

Proceeds from maturity of fixed maturities  432,557  432,328

Proceeds from sale of equity securities  6,425  —

Net increase in payable for securities  3,376  48,120

Net decrease in restricted cash  —  17,212

Additions to property and equipment  (4,969)  (2,835)

Net cash provided by investing activities  45,973  49,510

Cash flows from financing activities:     

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt  573,094  —

Purchase of convertible senior notes  (363,778)  —

Purchase of convertible junior subordinated debentures-liability component  (91,110)  —

Purchase of convertible junior subordinated debentures-equity component  (9,750)  —

Purchase of common stock  (91,597)  —

Payment of debt issuance costs  (938)  —

Excess tax benefits related to share-based compensation  100  2,113

Net cash provided by financing activities  16,021  2,113

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  93,623  186,654

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  181,120  197,882

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $ 274,743  $ 384,536
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See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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MGIC INVESTMENT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

September 30, 2016
(Unaudited)

Note 1 – Nature of Business and Basis of
Presentation
MGIC Investment Corporation is a holding company which, through
Mortgage Guaranty Insurance Corporation (“MGIC”) is principally
engaged in the mortgage insurance business.  We provide mortgage
insurance to lenders throughout the United States and to
government sponsored entities to protect against loss from defaults
on low down payment residential mortgage loans.

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements of
MGIC Investment Corporation and its wholly-owned subsidiaries
have been prepared in accordance with the instructions to Form 10-
Q as prescribed by the Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”) for interim reporting and do not include all of the other
information and disclosures required by accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). These
statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated
financial statements and notes thereto for the year ended
December 31, 2015 included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K. As
used below, “we,” “our” and “us” refer to MGIC Investment
Corporation’s consolidated operations or to MGIC Investment
Corporation, as the context requires.

In the opinion of management the accompanying financial
statements include all adjustments, consisting primarily of normal
recurring accruals, necessary to fairly state our consolidated
financial position and consolidated results of operations for the
periods indicated. The consolidated results of operations for the
interim period may not be indicative of the results that may be
expected for the year ending December 31, 2016.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications to 2015 amounts have been made in the
accompanying financial statements to conform to the 2016
presentation. See Note 2 - “New Accounting Pronouncements” for a
discussion of our adoption of accounting guidance related to the
presentation of debt issuance costs in the first quarter of 2016, with
retrospective application to prior periods.

Subsequent events

We have considered subsequent events through the date of this
filing.

 Note 2 – New Accounting Pronouncements
Adopted Accounting Standards

Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs

In April 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”)
issued updated guidance related to the presentation of debt
issuance costs. The updated guidance requires the presentation of
debt issuance costs in the balance sheet as a deduction from the
carrying amount of the related debt liability instead of as a deferred
charge, consistent with the treatment of debt discounts. The updated
guidance was effective for reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2015. The adoption of this guidance as of March 31,
2016 has been applied retrospectively to prior periods. See Note 3 -
“Debt” for the reclassification made to our consolidated balance
sheet as of December 31, 2015. The adoption of this guidance had
no impact on our statements of operations or retained earnings.

Accounting for Share-Based Compensation When the Terms of an
Award Provide That a Performance Target Could Be Achieved after
the Requisite Service Period

In June 2014, the FASB issued updated guidance to resolve
diversity in practice concerning employee share-based
compensation that contains performance targets that could be
achieved after the requisite service period. No explicit guidance on
how to account for these types of performance share-based
compensation awards existed prior to this update. The updated
guidance requires that a performance target that affects vesting and
that can be achieved after the requisite service period be treated as
a performance condition. Compensation cost should be recognized
in the period in which it becomes probable that the performance
target will be achieved and should represent the compensation cost
attributable to the periods for which service has been rendered. If
the performance target becomes probable of being achieved before
the end of the service period, the remaining unrecognized
compensation cost for which requisite service has not yet been
rendered is recognized prospectively over the remaining service
period. The total amount of compensation cost recognized during
and after the service period should reflect the number of awards that
are expected to vest and should be adjusted to reflect those awards
that ultimately vest. The updated guidance was effective for
reporting periods after December 15, 2015. The adoption of this
guidance as of March 31, 2016, with application to awards granted
in 2016, is not expected to have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements.
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Prospective Accounting Standards

Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments

In August 2016, the FASB issued updated guidance that provides
specific guidance on the presentation of certain cash flow items
where there is currently diversity in practice, including, but not
limited to, debt prepayment and debt issuance costs and proceeds
from the settlement of insurance claims. The updated guidance is
effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017,
including interim periods within those annual periods and should be
applied retrospectively unless impracticable. Early adoption is
permitted including adoption in any interim period. We are currently
evaluating the impacts the adoption of this guidance will have on our
consolidated financial statements.

Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments

In June 2016, the FASB issued updated guidance that requires
immediate recognition of estimated credit losses expected to occur
over the remaining life of many financial instruments. Entities will be
required to utilize a current expected credit losses (“CECL”)
methodology that incorporates their forecasts of future economic
conditions into their loss estimate unless such forecast is not
reasonable and supportable, in which case the entity will revert to
historical loss experience. Any allowance for CECL reduces the
amortized cost basis of the financial instrument to the amount an
entity expects to collect. Credit losses relating to available-for-sale
fixed maturity securities are to be recorded through an allowance for
credit losses, rather than a write-down of the asset, with the amount
of the allowance limited to the amount by which fair value is less
than amortized cost. In addition, the length of time a security has
been in an unrealized loss position will no longer impact the
determination of whether a credit loss exists. The updated guidance
is not prescriptive about certain aspects of estimating expected
credit losses, including the specific methodology to use, and
therefore will require significant judgment in application. The
updated guidance is effective for annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2019, including interim periods within those annual
periods. Early adoption is permitted for annual and interim periods in
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018. We are currently
evaluating the impacts the adoption of this guidance will have on our
consolidated financial statements, but do not expect it to have a
material impact on our consolidated financial statements or
disclosures.

Improvements to Employee Share-Based Compensation Accounting

In March 2016, the FASB issued updated guidance that simplifies
several aspects of the accounting for employee share-based
compensation including the accounting for income taxes, forfeitures,
and statutory tax withholding requirements, as well as classification
of related amounts within the statement of cash flows. The updated
guidance requires that, prospectively, all tax effects related to share-
based compensation be made through the statement of operations
at the time of settlement. In contrast the current guidance requires
excess tax benefits to

 be recognized in paid-in capital under the current guidance. The
updated guidance also removes the requirement to delay recognition
of a tax benefit until it reduces current taxes payable. This change is
required to be applied on a modified retrospective basis, with a
cumulative effect adjustment to opening retained earnings.
Additionally, all tax related cash flows resulting from share-based
compensation are to be reported as operating activities on the
statement of cash flows, a change from the existing requirement to
present tax benefits as an inflow from financing activities and an
outflow from operating activities. Finally, for tax withholding
purposes, entities will be allowed to withhold an amount of shares up
to the employee’s maximum individual tax rate (as opposed to the
minimum statutory tax rate) in the relevant jurisdiction without
resulting in liability classification of the award. The change in
withholding requirements will be applied on a modified retrospective
approach. The updated guidance is effective for annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those
annual periods. Early adoption is permitted in any interim or annual
period. We are currently evaluating the impacts the adoption of this
guidance will have on our consolidated financial statements.

Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities

In January 2016, the FASB issued updated guidance to address the
recognition, measurement, presentation, and disclosure of certain
financial instruments. The updated guidance requires equity
investments, except those accounted for under the equity method of
accounting, that have a readily determinable fair value to be
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in net
income. Equity investments that do not have readily determinable
fair values may be remeasured at fair value either upon the
occurrence of an observable price change or upon identification of
an impairment. A qualitative assessment for impairment is required
for equity investments without readily determinable fair values. The
updated guidance also eliminates the requirement to disclose the
method and significant assumptions used to estimate the fair value
of financial instruments measured at amortized cost on the balance
sheet. The updated guidance is effective for annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within
those annual periods and will require recognition of a cumulative
effect adjustment at adoption. We do not currently expect the
adoption of this guidance to impact our consolidated financial
position or liquidity.

Disclosures about Short-Duration Contracts

In May 2015, the FASB issued updated guidance requiring
expanded disclosures for insurance entities that issue short-duration
contracts. The expanded disclosures are designed to provide
additional insight into an insurance entity’s ability to underwrite and
anticipate costs associated with claims. The disclosures include
information about incurred and paid claims development, on a net of
reinsurance basis, for the number of years claims incurred typically
remain outstanding, not to exceed ten years. Each period presented
in the disclosure about claims
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development that precedes the current reporting periods is
considered supplementary information. The expanded disclosures
also include more transparent information about significant changes
in methodologies and assumptions used to estimate claims, and the
timing, frequency, and severity of claims. The disclosures required
by this update are effective for annual periods beginning after
December 31, 2015, and interim periods within annual periods
beginning after December 31, 2016, and is to be applied
retrospectively. We are evaluating the applicability and impact, if any,
of the new disclosure requirements.

Note 3 – Debt
2016 debt transactions

During the first nine months of 2016, we completed a series of
transactions that repositioned the maturity profile of our debt and
lowered the number of potentially dilutive securities. These
transactions are discussed below.

5.75% Senior Notes

In August 2016, we issued $425 million aggregate principal amount
of 5.75% Senior Notes (the “5.75% Notes”) due in 2023 and
received net proceeds, after the deduction of underwriting fees, of
$418.1 million. Interest on the 5.75% Notes is payable semi-annually
on February 15 and August 15 of each year, commencing on
February 15, 2017. We have the option to redeem these notes, in
whole or in part, at any time or from time to time prior to maturity at a
redemption price equal to the greater of (i) 100% of the aggregate
principal amount of the notes to be redeemed and (ii) the make-
whole amount, which is the sum of the present values of the
remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest discounted
at the treasury rate defined in the notes plus 50 basis points, plus, in
each case, accrued interest thereon to, but excluding, the
redemption date. In addition to underwriting fees, we incurred
approximately $1.2 million of other expenses associated with the
issuance of these notes.

The 5.75% Notes have covenants customary for securities of this
nature, including customary events of default and further provide
that the trustee or holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal
amount of the outstanding 5.75% Notes may declare them
immediately due and payable upon the occurrence of certain events
of default after the expiration of the applicable grace period. In
addition, in the case of an event of default arising from certain
events of bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization relating to the
Company or any of its significant subsidiaries, the 5.75% Notes will
become due and payable immediately. This description is not
intended to be complete in all respects and is qualified in its entirety
by the terms of the 5.75% Notes, including their covenants and
events of default.

The net proceeds from the 5.75% Notes issuance were primarily
used as (i) cash consideration to purchase a portion of our 2%
Notes, and (ii) to repurchase the shares issued as partial
consideration in the purchases of our 2% Notes, as further

 described below. The remaining proceeds are being held for general
corporate purposes.

2% Convertible Senior Notes

In the third quarter of 2016, we entered into privately negotiated
agreements to purchase $292.4 million in par value of our
outstanding 2% Convertible Senior Notes (the “2% Notes”) due in
2020 at a purchase price of $362.1 million, plus accrued interest. We
funded the purchases with $230.7 million in cash proceeds from the
issuance of the 5.75% Notes and by issuing to certain sellers
approximately 18.3 million shares of our common stock. The excess
of the purchase price over carrying value is reflected as a loss on
debt extinguishment on our consolidated statements of operations
for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016. The
purchases of the 2% Notes reduced our potentially dilutive shares by
approximately 42.1 million shares, without considering the shares
issued in partial consideration in the purchase of the 2% Notes or
the repurchase of shares to offset such shares issued. For more
information about the share repurchases, see Note 13 -
“Shareholders’ Equity.”

5% Convertible Senior Notes

During the first nine months of 2016, we purchased $188.5 million in
par value of our 5% Convertible Senior Notes (the “5% Notes”) due
in 2017 at a purchase price of $195.5 million, plus accrued interest
using funds held at our holding company. The excess of the
purchase price over carrying value is reflected as a loss on debt
extinguishment on our consolidated statements of operations for the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2016. The purchases
of the 5% Notes reduced our potentially dilutive shares by
approximately 14.0 million shares.

9% Convertible Junior Subordinated Debentures

In February 2016, MGIC purchased $132.7 million of par value of
our 9% Convertible Junior Subordinated Debentures (the “9%
Debentures”) due in 2063 at a purchase price of $150.7 million, plus
accrued interest. The 9% Debentures include a conversion feature
that allows us, at our option, to make a cash payment to converting
holders in lieu of issuing shares of common stock upon conversion
of the 9% Debentures. The accounting standards applicable to
extinguishment of debt with a cash conversion feature require the
consideration paid to be allocated between the extinguishment of the
liability component and reacquisition of the equity component. The
purchase of the 9% Debentures resulted in an $8.3 million loss on
debt extinguishment on the consolidated statement of operations for
the nine months ended September 30, 2016, which represents the
difference between the fair value and the carrying value of the
liability component on the purchase date. In addition, our
shareholders’ equity was separately reduced by $6.3 million related
to the reacquisition of the equity component. For GAAP accounting
purposes, the 9% Debentures owned by MGIC are considered
retired and are eliminated in our consolidated financial statements
and the underlying common stock
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equivalents, approximately 9.8 million shares, are not included in the
computation of diluted shares.

Federal Home Loan Bank Advance

In February 2016, MGIC borrowed $155.0 million in the form of a
fixed rate advance from the Federal Home Loan Bank of Chicago
(“FHLB”) (the “Advance”) to provide funds used to purchase the 9%
Debentures. Interest on the Advance is payable monthly at an
annual rate, fixed for the term of the Advance, of 1.91%. The
principal of the Advance matures on February 10, 2023. MGIC may
prepay the Advance at any time. Such prepayment would be below
par if interest rates have risen after the Advance was originated, or
above par if interest rates have declined. The Advance is secured by
eligible collateral whose market value must be maintained at 102%
of the principal balance of the Advance. MGIC provided eligible
collateral from its investment portfolio.

Accounting standard update

As of March 31, 2016 we adopted the accounting update related to
the presentation of debt issuance costs in the financial statements.
The change in accounting guidance has been applied retrospectively
to prior periods. As a result, a reclassification of approximately $11.2
million of debt issuance costs was made on our December 31, 2015
balance sheet, resulting in a reduction to other assets and a
reduction to long-term debt; there was no impact on our
consolidated statements of operations or retained earnings.

The impact of the reclassification of debt issuance costs on our
outstanding debt obligations as of December 31, 2015 is as follows.

  December 31, 2015

(In millions)  
As previously

reported  Adjustment  As Adjusted

5% Notes  $ 333.5  $ (2.0)  $ 331.5

2% Notes  500.0  (9.2)  490.8

9% Debentures  389.5  —  389.5

Total long-term debt  $ 1,223.0  $ (11.2)  $ 1,211.8

 Long-term debt obligations

The par value of our debt obligations and their aggregate carrying
value as of September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015 were as
follows.

(In millions)  
September 30, 

2016  
December 31, 

2015

FHLB Advance  $ 155.0  $ —

5% Notes(1)  145.0  333.5

2% Notes(2) (3)  207.6  500.0

5.75% Notes  425.0  —

9% Debentures(4)  256.9  389.5

Long-term debt, par value  1,189.5  1,223.0

Less: Debt issuance costs  (11.5)  (11.2)

Long-term debt, carrying value  $ 1,178.0  $ 1,211.8

(1) Convertible at any time prior to maturity at the holder’s option, at an
initial conversion rate, which is subject to adjustment, of 74.4186 shares
per $1,000 principal amount, representing an initial conversion price of
approximately $13.44 per share.

(2) Prior to January 1, 2020, the 2% Notes are convertible only upon
satisfaction of one or more conditions. One such condition is that during
any calendar quarter commencing after March 31, 2014, the last
reported sale price of our common stock for each of at least 20 trading
days during the 30 consecutive trading days ending on, and including,
the last trading day of the immediately preceding calendar quarter be
greater than or equal to 130% of the applicable conversion price on
each applicable trading day. The 2% Notes are convertible at an initial
conversion rate, which is subject to adjustment, of 143.8332 shares per
$1,000 principal amount, representing an initial conversion price of
approximately $6.95 per share. 130% of such conversion price is $9.03.
On or after January 1, 2020, holders may convert their notes
irrespective of satisfaction of the conditions.

(3) Prior to April 10, 2017, the 2% Notes will not be redeemable. On any
business day on or after April 10, 2017 we may redeem for cash all or
part of the notes, at our option, at a redemption rate equal to 100% of
the principal amount of the notes being redeemed, plus any accrued
and unpaid interest, if the closing sale price of our common stock
exceeds 130% of the then prevailing conversion price of the notes for
each of at least 20 of the 30 consecutive trading days preceding notice
of the redemption.

(4) Convertible at any time prior to maturity at the holder’s option, at an
initial conversion rate, which is subject to adjustment, of 74.0741 shares
per $1,000 principal amount, representing an initial conversion price of
approximately $13.50 per share. If a holder elects to convert their
debentures, deferred interest owed on the debentures being converted
is also converted into shares of our common stock. The conversion rate
for any deferred interest is based on the average price that our shares
traded at during a 5-day period immediately prior to the election to
convert. In lieu of issuing shares of common stock upon conversion of
the debentures, we may, at our option, make a cash payment to
converting holders for all or some of the shares of our common stock
otherwise issuable upon conversion.
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The Convertible Senior Notes, Senior Notes and Convertible Junior
Subordinated Debentures are obligations of our holding company,
MGIC Investment Corporation, and not of its subsidiaries. As of
September 30, 2016, we had approximately $329 million in cash and
investments at our holding company. The modified duration of the
holding company investment portfolio, excluding cash and cash
equivalents, was 1.6 years at September 30, 2016.

Interest payments on our debt obligations appear below.

  Nine Months Ended September 30,

(In millions)  2016  2015

FHLB Advance  $ 1.7  $ —

Senior Notes, interest at 5.375% per annum,
due November 2015  —  1.7

5% Notes  6.9  8.6

2% Notes  7.0  5.0

9% Debentures  15.9  17.5

Total interest payments  $ 31.5  $ 32.8

Note 4 – Reinsurance
The reinsurance agreements we have entered into are discussed
below. The effect of all of our reinsurance agreements on premiums
earned and losses incurred is as follows:

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,  
Nine Months Ended

September 30,

(In thousands)  2016  2015  2016  2015

Premiums earned:         

Direct  $ 270,718  $ 252,951  $ 789,671  $ 738,870

Assumed  152  285  542  931

Ceded  (33,494)  (14,002)  (100,040)  (69,771)

Net premiums
earned  $ 237,376  $ 239,234  $ 690,173  $ 670,030

         
Losses incurred:         

Direct  $ 69,579  $ 81,699  $ 216,874  $ 265,445

Assumed  241  425  681  1,191

Ceded  (8,923)  (5,666)  (25,056)  (18,155)

Net losses
incurred  $ 60,897  $ 76,458  $ 192,499  $ 248,481

Quota share reinsurance

Effective July 1, 2015, we entered into a quota share reinsurance
agreement (“2015 QSR Transaction”) and commuted our prior 2013
quota share reinsurance agreement (“2013 QSR Transaction”). The
group of unaffiliated reinsurers is the same under our 2015 QSR
Transaction as our prior 2013 QSR Transaction and each has an
insurer financial strength rating of A- or better by Standard and
Poor’s Rating Services, A.M. Best or both. The 2015 QSR
Transaction provides coverage on policies that were in the 2013
QSR Transaction; additional qualifying in force policies as of the
agreement effective date which either had no history of defaults, or
where a single default had been cured for twelve or more months at
the agreement

 effective date; and all qualifying new insurance written
through December 31, 2016. The agreement cedes losses incurred
and premiums on or after the effective date through December 31,
2024, at which time the agreement expires. Early termination of the
agreement can be elected by us effective December 31, 2018 for a
fee, or under specified scenarios for no fee upon prior written notice,
including if we will receive less than 90% of the full credit amount
under the private mortgage insurer eligibility requirements
(“PMIERs”) of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac (collectively, the
“GSEs”) for the risk ceded in any required calculation period.

The 2015 QSR Transaction increased the amount of our insurance
in force covered by reinsurance and will result in an increase in the
amount of premiums and losses ceded. A higher level of losses
ceded, resulting from an increase in our loss ratio, will reduce our
profit commission. The structure of the 2015 QSR Transaction is
a 30% quota share for all policies covered, with a 20% ceding
commission as well as a profit commission. Generally, under the
2015 QSR Transaction, we will receive a profit commission provided
that the loss ratio on the loans covered under the agreement
remains below 60%.

Following is a summary of our quota share reinsurance agreements,
excluding captive agreements, for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2016 and 2015.

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,  
Nine Months Ended

September 30,

(In thousands)  2016  2015  2016  2015

2013 QSR Transaction         
Ceded premiums written,
net of profit commission  n/a  $ (69,410)  n/a  $ (11,355)

Ceded premiums earned,
net of profit commission  n/a  (11,568)  n/a  35,999

Ceded losses incurred  n/a  —  n/a  6,060

Ceding commissions (1)  n/a  (11,568)  n/a  10,235

Profit commission  n/a  11,568  n/a  62,525

2015 QSR Transaction (Effective July 1, 2015)
Ceded premiums written,
net of profit commission (2)  31,707  22,626  93,334  22,626

Ceded premiums earned,
net of profit commission (2)  31,707  22,626  93,334  22,626

Ceded losses incurred  7,432  4,236  22,015  4,236

Ceding commissions (1)  12,137  9,195  35,659  9,195

Profit commission  28,981  23,347  84,963  23,347

(1) Ceding commissions are reported within Other underwriting and
operating expenses, net on the consolidated statements of operations.

(2) Effective July 1, 2015 premiums are ceded on an earned and received
basis as defined in our 2015 QSR Transaction.

Under the terms of the 2015 QSR Transaction, ceded premiums,
ceding commission and profit commission are settled net on a
quarterly basis. The ceded premium due after deducting the related
ceding commission and profit commission is reported within “Other
liabilities” on the consolidated balance sheets.
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The reinsurance recoverable on loss reserves related to our 2015
QSR Transaction was $27 million as of September 30, 2016 and $11
million as of December 31, 2015. The reinsurance recoverable
balance is secured by funds on deposit from the reinsurers which
are based on the funding requirements of PMIERs that address
ceded risk.

Captive reinsurance

In the past, MGIC also obtained captive reinsurance. In a captive
reinsurance arrangement, the reinsurer is affiliated with the lender
for whom MGIC provides mortgage insurance. As part of our
settlement with the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“CFPB”)
in 2013 and with the Minnesota Department of Commerce (the “MN
Department”) in 2015, MGIC has agreed to not enter into any new
captive reinsurance agreement or reinsure any new loans under any
existing captive reinsurance agreement for a period of ten years
subsequent to the respective settlements. In accordance with the
CFPB settlement, all of our active captive arrangements were placed
into run-off. In addition, the GSEs will not approve any future
reinsurance or risk sharing transaction with a mortgage enterprise or
an affiliate of a mortgage enterprise.

The reinsurance recoverable on loss reserves related to captive
agreements was $20 million as of September 30, 2016, which was
supported by $94 million of trust assets, while as of December 31,
2015, the reinsurance recoverable on loss reserves related to
captive agreements was $34 million, which was supported by $137
million of trust assets. Each captive reinsurer is required to maintain
a separate trust account to support its combined reinsured risk on all
annual books. MGIC is the sole beneficiary of the trusts.

Note 5 – Litigation and Contingencies
Before paying a claim, we review the loan and servicing files to
determine the appropriateness of the claim amount. All of our
insurance policies provide that we can reduce or deny a claim if the
servicer did not comply with its obligations under our insurance
policy. We call such reduction of claims “curtailments.” In 2015 and
the first three quarters of 2016, curtailments reduced our average
claim paid by approximately 6.7% and 5.4%, respectively.

When reviewing the loan file associated with a claim, we may
determine that we have the right to rescind coverage on the loan. (In
our SEC reports, we refer to insurance rescissions and denials of
claims collectively as “rescissions” and variations of that term.) In
recent quarters, approximately 4% of claims received in a quarter
have been resolved by rescissions, down from the peak of
approximately 28% in the first half of 2009. Our loss reserving
methodology incorporates our estimates of future rescissions,
curtailments, and reversals of rescissions and curtailments. A
variance between ultimate actual rescission, curtailment and
reversal rates and our estimates, as a result of the outcome of
litigation, settlements or other factors, could materially affect our
losses.

 
When the insured disputes our right to curtail claims or rescind
coverage, we generally engage in discussions in an attempt to settle
the dispute. If we are unable to reach a settlement, the outcome of a
dispute ultimately would be determined by legal proceedings.

Until a liability associated with settlement discussions or legal
proceedings becomes probable and can be reasonably estimated,
we consider our claim payment or rescission resolved for financial
reporting purposes. Under ASC 450-20, an estimated loss from such
discussions and proceedings is accrued for only if we determine that
the loss is probable and can be reasonably estimated. In such
cases, we have recorded our best estimate of our probable loss. If
we are not able to implement settlements we consider probable, we
intend to defend MGIC vigorously against any related legal
proceedings.

In addition to matters for which we have recorded a probable loss,
we are involved in other discussions and/or proceedings with
insureds with respect to our claims paying practices. Although it is
reasonably possible that when these matters are resolved we will
not prevail in all cases, we are unable to make a reasonable
estimate or range of estimates of the potential liability. We estimate
the maximum exposure associated with matters where a loss is
reasonably possible to be approximately $281 million, although we
believe (but can give no assurance that) we will ultimately resolve
these matters for significantly less than this amount. This estimate of
our maximum exposure does not include interest or consequential or
exemplary damages.

Mortgage insurers, including MGIC, have been involved in litigation
and regulatory actions related to alleged violations of the anti-referral
fee provisions of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act, which
is commonly known as RESPA, and the notice provisions of the Fair
Credit Reporting Act, which is commonly known as FCRA.

For MGIC, while these proceedings in the aggregate have not
resulted in material liability, were there to be future proceedings
under these laws, there can be no assurance that the outcome
would not have a material adverse effect on us. In addition, various
regulators, including the CFPB, state insurance commissioners and
state attorneys general may bring other actions seeking various
forms of relief in connection with alleged violations of RESPA. The
insurance law provisions of many states prohibit paying for the
referral of insurance business and provide various mechanisms to
enforce this prohibition. While we believe our practices are in
conformity with applicable laws and regulations, it is not possible to
predict the eventual scope, duration or outcome of any such reviews
or investigations nor is it possible to predict their effect on us or the
mortgage insurance industry.
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Through a non-insurance subsidiary, we utilize our underwriting
skills to provide an outsourced underwriting service to our customers
known as contract underwriting. As part of the contract underwriting
activities, that subsidiary is responsible for the quality of the
underwriting decisions in accordance with the terms of the contract
underwriting agreements with customers. That subsidiary may be
required to provide certain remedies to its customers if certain
standards relating to the quality of our underwriting work are not
met, and we have an established reserve for such future obligations.
Claims for remedies may be made a number of years after the
underwriting work was performed. Beginning in the second half of
2009, our subsidiary experienced an increase in claims for contract
underwriting remedies, which continued throughout 2012. The

 underwriting remedy expense for 2015 was approximately $1 million,
but may increase in the future.

In addition to the matters described above, we are involved in other
legal proceedings in the ordinary course of business. In our opinion,
based on the facts known at this time, the ultimate resolution of
these ordinary course legal proceedings will not have a material
adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations.

See Note 11 – “Income Taxes” for a description of federal income
tax contingencies.

Note 6 – Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is calculated by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during
the reporting period. Diluted EPS includes the components of basic EPS and also gives effect to dilutive common equivalent shares
outstanding during the reporting period. We calculate diluted EPS using the treasury stock method for unvested restricted stock, and the if-
converted method for convertible debt instruments. For unvested restricted stock, assumed proceeds under the treasury stock method would
include unamortized compensation expense and windfall tax benefits or shortfalls. The determination of potentially issuable shares from our
convertible debt instruments does not consider satisfaction of the conversion requirements and the shares are included in the determination of
diluted EPS as of the beginning of the period, if dilutive. In addition, interest expense, net of tax, related to dilutive convertible debt instruments
is added back to earnings in calculating diluted EPS.

The following table reconciles the numerators and denominators used to calculate basic and diluted EPS and also indicates the number of
antidilutive securities.

  Three Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,

(In thousands, except per share data)  2016  2015  2016  2015

Basic earnings per share:         

Net income  $ 56,618  $ 822,852  $ 235,030  $ 1,069,582

Weighted average common shares outstanding  349,376  339,701  343,403  339,504

Basic income per share  $ 0.16  $ 2.42  $ 0.68  $ 3.15

Diluted earnings per share:         

Net income  $ 56,618  $ 822,852  $ 235,030  $ 1,069,582

Interest expense, net of tax (1):         

2% Convertible Senior Notes due 2020  1,324  1,982  5,288  5,946

5% Convertible Senior Notes due 2017  673  3,050  5,080  9,150

9% Convertible Junior Subordinated Debentures due 2063  —  5,697  —  17,090

Diluted income available to common shareholders  $ 58,615  $ 833,581  $ 245,398  $ 1,101,768

Weighted average shares - basic  349,376  339,701  343,403  339,504

Effect of dilutive securities:         

Unvested restricted stock units  1,395  1,983  1,428  2,128

2% Convertible Senior Notes due 2020  44,488  71,917  62,707  71,917

5% Convertible Senior Notes due 2017  10,791  25,674  13,885  25,674

9% Convertible Junior Subordinated Debentures due 2063  —  28,853  —  28,853

Weighted average shares - diluted  406,050  468,128  421,423  468,076

Diluted income per share  $ 0.14  $ 1.78  $ 0.58  $ 2.35

Antidilutive securities (in millions)  19.0  —  20.4  —

(1) Tax effected at a rate of 35%.
 

MGIC Investment Corporation - Q3 2016 | 16



Table of contents

Note 7 – Investments
The amortized cost, gross unrealized gains and losses and fair value of the investment portfolio at September 30, 2016 and December 31,
2015 are shown below.

September 30, 2016

(In thousands)  Amortized Cost  

Gross
Unrealized

Gains  

Gross
Unrealized
Losses (1)  Fair Value

U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. government corporations and agencies  $ 41,735  $ 562  $ (41)  $ 42,256

Obligations of U.S. states and political subdivisions  2,046,199  87,592  (1,122)  2,132,669

Corporate debt securities  1,720,839  33,409  (4,379)  1,749,869

Asset-backed securities  79,032  182  (32)  79,182

Residential mortgage-backed securities  245,876  616  (3,056)  243,436

Commercial mortgage-backed securities  347,630  3,563  (980)  350,213

Collateralized loan obligations  121,146  203  (349)  121,000

Total debt securities  4,602,457  126,127  (9,959)  4,718,625

Equity securities  7,094  127  (3)  7,218

Total investment portfolio  $ 4,609,551  $ 126,254  $ (9,962)  $ 4,725,843

 

December 31, 2015

(In thousands)  Amortized Cost  

Gross
Unrealized

Gains  

Gross
Unrealized
Losses (1)  Fair Value

U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. government corporations and agencies  $ 160,393  $ 2,133  $ (1,942)  $ 160,584

Obligations of U.S. states and political subdivisions  1,766,407  33,410  (7,290)  1,792,527

Corporate debt securities  2,046,697  2,836  (44,770)  2,004,763

Asset-backed securities  116,764  56  (203)  116,617

Residential mortgage-backed securities  265,879  161  (8,392)  257,648

Commercial mortgage-backed securities  237,304  162  (3,975)  233,491

Collateralized loan obligations  61,345  3  (1,148)  60,200

Debt securities issued by foreign sovereign governments  29,359  2,474  (102)  31,731

Total debt securities  4,684,148  41,235  (67,822)  4,657,561

Equity securities  5,625  38  (18)  5,645

Total investment portfolio  $ 4,689,773  $ 41,273  $ (67,840)  $ 4,663,206

(1) At September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, there were no other-than-temporary impairment losses recorded in other comprehensive income.

During the first quarter of 2016, we substantially liquidated our
Australian entities and repatriated most assets, including proceeds
from the monetization of our Australian investment portfolio. As of
September 30, 2016 we held no investments in foreign sovereign
governments.

 
As discussed in Note 3 - “Debt” we are required to maintain
collateral of at least 102% of the outstanding principal balance of the
FHLB Advance. As of September 30, 2016 that collateral is included
in our total investment portfolio amount shown above with a total fair
value of $167.4 million.
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The amortized cost and fair values of debt securities at
September 30, 2016, by contractual maturity, are shown in the
following table. Expected maturities will differ from contractual
maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay
obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties. Because
most asset-backed and mortgage-backed securities and
collateralized loan obligations provide for periodic payments
throughout their lives, they are listed in separate categories.

September 30, 2016     

(In thousands)  Amortized Cost  Fair Value

Due in one year or less  $ 350,683  $ 351,117

Due after one year through five years  1,166,094  1,184,500

Due after five years through ten years  1,148,505  1,177,837

Due after ten years  1,143,491  1,211,340

  $ 3,808,773  $ 3,924,794

Asset-backed securities  79,032  79,182

Residential mortgage-backed securities  245,876  243,436

Commercial mortgage-backed securities  347,630  350,213

Collateralized loan obligations  121,146  121,000

Total as of September 30, 2016  $ 4,602,457  $ 4,718,625

At September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the investment portfolio had gross unrealized losses of $10.0 million and $67.8 million,
respectively.  For those securities in an unrealized loss position, the length of time the securities were in such a position, as measured by their
month-end fair values, is as follows:

September 30, 2016  Less Than 12 Months  12 Months or Greater  Total

(In thousands)  Fair Value  
Unrealized

Losses  Fair Value  
Unrealized

Losses  Fair Value  
Unrealized

Losses

U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. government
corporations and  agencies  $ 22,655  $ (41)  $ —  $ —  $ 22,655  $ (41)

Obligations of U.S. states and political subdivisions  185,163  (815)  13,942  (307)  199,105  (1,122)

Corporate debt securities  200,500  (2,843)  41,424  (1,536)  241,924  (4,379)

Asset-backed securities  20  (32)  4,102  —  4,122  (32)

Residential mortgage-backed securities  3,204  (7)  186,494  (3,049)  189,698  (3,056)

Commercial mortgage-backed securities  84,048  (632)  38,992  (348)  123,040  (980)

Collateralized loan obligations  18,868  (186)  52,570  (163)  71,438  (349)

Equity securities  32  —  144  (3)  176  (3)

Total  $ 514,490  $ (4,556)  $ 337,668  $ (5,406)  $ 852,158  $ (9,962)

December 31, 2015  Less Than 12 Months  12 Months or Greater  Total

(In thousands)  Fair Value  
Unrealized

 Losses  Fair Value  
Unrealized

Losses  Fair Value  
Unrealized

 Losses

U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. government
corporations and agencies  $ 60,548  $ (1,467)  $ 1,923  $ (475)  $ 62,471  $ (1,942)

Obligations of U.S. states and political subdivisions  417,615  (6,404)  37,014  (886)  454,629  (7,290)

Corporate debt securities  1,470,628  (38,519)  114,982  (6,251)  1,585,610  (44,770)

Asset-backed securities  86,604  (173)  5,546  (30)  92,150  (203)

Residential mortgage-backed securities  35,064  (312)  209,882  (8,080)  244,946  (8,392)

Commercial mortgage-backed securities  134,488  (2,361)  69,927  (1,614)  204,415  (3,975)

Collateralized loan obligations  —  —  51,750  (1,148)  51,750  (1,148)

Debt securities issued by foreign sovereign governments  4,463  (102)  —  —  4,463  (102)

Equity securities  355  (8)  171  (10)  526  (18)

Total  $ 2,209,765  $ (49,346)  $ 491,195  $ (18,494)  $ 2,700,960  $ (67,840)

MGIC Investment Corporation - Q3 2016 | 18



Table of contents

The unrealized losses in all categories of our investments at
September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015 were primarily caused
by the difference in interest rates at each respective period,
compared to interest rates at the time of purchase. There were 268
and 303 securities in an unrealized loss position at September 30,
2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.

During each of the three and nine months ended September 30,
2016 and 2015 there were no other-than-temporary impairments
(“OTTI”) recognized.   The net realized investment gains on the
investment portfolio are as follows:

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,  
Nine Months Ended

September 30,

(In thousands)  2016  2015  2016  2015

Realized investment gains
(losses) on investments:         

Fixed maturities  $ 1,511  $ 638  $ 5,397  $ 27,123

Equity securities  3,581  2  3,587  10

Net realized
investment gains  $ 5,092  $ 640  $ 8,984  $ 27,133

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,  
Nine Months Ended

September 30,

(In thousands)  2016  2015  2016  2015

Realized investment gains
(losses) on investments:         

Gains on sales  $ 6,168  $ 720  $ 11,677  $ 28,711

Losses on sales  (1,076)  (80)  (2,693)  (1,578)

Net realized
investment gains  $ 5,092  $ 640  $ 8,984  $ 27,133

Note 8 – Fair Value Measurements
Our estimates of fair value for financial assets and financial liabilities
are based on the framework established in the fair value accounting
guidance.  The framework is based on the inputs used in valuation,
gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets and
requires that observable inputs be used in the valuations when
available.

To determine the fair value of securities available-for-sale in Level 1
and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, independent pricing sources
have been utilized. One price is provided per security based on
observable market data. To ensure securities are appropriately
classified in the fair value hierarchy, we review the pricing
techniques and methodologies of the independent pricing sources
and believe that their policies adequately consider market activity,
either based on specific transactions for the issue valued or based
on modeling of securities with similar credit quality, duration, yield
and structure that were recently traded. A variety of inputs are
utilized by the independent pricing sources including benchmark
yields, reported trades, non-binding broker/dealer quotes, issuer
spreads, two sided markets, benchmark securities, bids, offers and
reference data including data published in market research
publications. Inputs

 may be weighted differently for any security, and not all inputs are
used for each security evaluation.

Market indicators, industry and economic events are also
considered. This information is evaluated using a multidimensional
pricing model. This model combines all inputs to arrive at a value
assigned to each security. Quality controls are performed by the
independent pricing sources throughout this process, which include
reviewing tolerance reports, trading information, data changes, and
directional moves compared to market moves. In addition, on a
quarterly basis, we perform quality controls over values received
from the pricing sources which also include reviewing tolerance
reports, trading information, data changes, and directional moves
compared to market moves. We have not made any adjustments to
the prices obtained from the independent pricing sources.

In accordance with fair value accounting guidance, we applied the
following fair value hierarchy in order to measure fair value for
assets and liabilities:

Level 1 - Quoted prices for identical instruments in active
markets that we can access. Financial assets utilizing Level 1
inputs primarily include U.S. Treasury securities, equity
securities, and Australian government and semi government
securities.

Level 2 - Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets
that we can access; quoted prices for identical or similar
instruments in markets that are not active; and inputs, other than
quoted prices, that are observable in the marketplace for the
instrument. The observable inputs are used in valuation models
to calculate the fair value of the instruments. Financial assets
utilizing Level 2 inputs primarily include obligations of U.S.
government corporations and agencies, corporate bonds,
mortgage-backed securities, asset-backed securities, and most
municipal bonds.

The independent pricing sources utilize these approaches to
determine the fair value of the instruments in Level 2 of the fair
value hierarchy based on type of instrument:

Corporate Debt & U.S. Government and Agency Bonds are
evaluated by surveying the dealer community, obtaining
relevant trade data, benchmark quotes and spreads and
incorporating this information into the evaluation process.

Obligations of U.S. States & Political Subdivisions are
evaluated by tracking, capturing, and analyzing quotes for
active issues and trades reported via the Municipal Securities
Rulemaking Board records. Daily briefings and reviews of
current economic conditions, trading levels, spread
relationships, and the slope of the yield curve provide further
data for evaluation.
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Residential Mortgage-Backed Securities are evaluated by
monitoring interest rate movements, and other pertinent data
daily. Incoming market data is enriched to derive spread, yield
and/or price data as appropriate, enabling known data points
to be extrapolated for valuation application across a range of
related securities.

Commercial Mortgage-Backed Securities are evaluated using
valuation techniques that reflect market participants’
assumptions and maximize the use of relevant observable
inputs including quoted prices for similar assets, benchmark
yield curves and market corroborated inputs. Evaluation
utilizes regular reviews of the inputs for securities covered,
including executed trades, broker quotes, credit information,
collateral attributes and/or cash flow waterfall as applicable.

Asset-Backed Securities are evaluated using spreads and
other information solicited from market buy- and sell-side
sources, including primary and secondary dealers, portfolio
managers, and research analysts. Cash flows are generated
for each tranche, benchmark yields are determined, and deal
collateral performance and tranche level attributes including
market color as available are used, resulting in tranche-
specific spreads.

 Level 3 - Valuations derived from valuation techniques in which
one or more significant inputs or value drivers are unobservable
or from par values for equity securities restricted in their ability to
be redeemed or sold. The inputs used to derive the fair value of
Level 3 securities reflect our own assumptions about the
assumptions a market participant would use in pricing an asset
or liability. Financial assets utilizing Level 3 inputs include equity
securities that can only be redeemed or sold at their par value
and only to the security issuer and certain state premium tax
credit investments. The state premium tax credit investments
have an average maturity of less than 3 years, credit ratings of
AA+ or higher, and their balances reflect their remaining
scheduled payments discounted at an average annual rate of
7.1%. Our non-financial assets that are classified as Level 3
securities consist of real estate acquired through claim
settlement. The fair value of real estate acquired is the lower of
our acquisition cost or a percentage of the appraised value. The
percentage applied to the appraised value is based upon our
historical sales experience adjusted for current trends.

Fair value measurements for assets measured at fair value included the following as of September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015:

September 30, 2016

(In thousands)  Total Fair Value  

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for
Identical Assets

(Level 1)  

Significant Other
Observable Inputs

(Level 2)  

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)

U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. government corporations and  agencies  $ 42,256  $ 8,755  $ 33,501  $ —

Obligations of U.S. states and political subdivisions  2,132,669  —  2,131,839  830

Corporate debt securities  1,749,869  —  1,749,869  —

Asset-backed securities  79,182  —  79,182  —

Residential mortgage-backed securities  243,436  —  243,436  —

Commercial mortgage-backed securities  350,213  —  350,213  —

Collateralized loan obligations  121,000  —  121,000  —

Total debt securities  4,718,625  8,755  4,709,040  830

Equity securities (1)  7,218  2,950  —  4,268

Total investment portfolio  $ 4,725,843  $ 11,705  $ 4,709,040  $ 5,098

Real estate acquired (2)  $ 10,564  $ —  $ —  $ 10,564

(1) Equity securities in Level 3 are carried at cost, which approximates fair value.

(2) Real estate acquired through claim settlement, which is held for sale, is reported in Other assets on the consolidated balance sheets.
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December 31, 2015

(In thousands)  Total Fair Value  

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for
Identical Assets

(Level 1)  

Significant Other
Observable Inputs

(Level 2)  

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)

U.S. Treasury securities and obligations  of U.S. government corporations and   agencies  $ 160,584  $ 46,197  $ 114,387  $ —

Obligations of U.S. states and political  subdivisions  1,792,527  —  1,791,299  1,228

Corporate debt securities  2,004,763  —  2,004,763  —

Asset-backed securities  116,617  —  116,617  —

Residential mortgage-backed securities  257,648  —  257,648  —

Commercial mortgage-backed securities  233,491  —  233,491  —

Collateralized loan obligations  60,200  —  60,200  —

Debt securities issued by foreign  sovereign governments  31,731  31,731  —  —

Total debt securities  4,657,561  77,928  4,578,405  1,228

Equity securities (1)  5,645  2,790  —  2,855

Total investment portfolio  $ 4,663,206  $ 80,718  $ 4,578,405  $ 4,083

Real estate acquired (2)  $ 12,149  $ —  $ —  $ 12,149

(1) Equity securities in Level 3 are carried at cost, which approximates fair value.

(2) Real estate acquired through claim settlement, which is held for sale, is reported in Other assets on the consolidated balance sheets.

There were no transfers of securities between Level 1 and Level 2 during the first nine months of 2016.

For assets measured at fair value using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3), a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances for the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 is shown in the following tables. There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 in
those periods and there were no losses included in earnings for those periods attributable to the change in unrealized losses on assets still
held at the end of the applicable period.

Three Months Ended September 30, 2016

(In thousands)  Debt Securities  Equity Securities  
Total

Investments  
Real Estate

Acquired

Balance at June 30, 2016  $ 1,056  $ 6,940  $ 7,996  $ 9,642

Total realized/unrealized gains (losses):         

Included in other comprehensive income  —  (3,519)  (3,519)  —

Included in earnings and reported as net realized investment gains, net  —  3,579  3,579  —

Included in earnings and reported as losses incurred, net  —  —  —  (501)

Purchases  —  1,167  1,167  8,938

Sales  (226)  (3,899)  (4,125)  (7,515)

Balance at September 30, 2016  $ 830  $ 4,268  $ 5,098  $ 10,564

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015

(In thousands)  
Debt

Securities  
Equity

Securities  
Total

Investments  
Real Estate

Acquired

Balance at June 30, 2015  $ 1,634  $ 321  $ 1,955  $ 7,995

Total realized/unrealized gains (losses):         

Included in earnings and reported as losses incurred, net  —  —  —  (1,031)

Purchases  —  2,535  2,535  9,632

Sales  (247)  —  (247)  (6,512)

Balance at September 30, 2015  $ 1,387  $ 2,856  $ 4,243  $ 10,084
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Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016

(In thousands)  Debt Securities  Equity Securities  
Total

Investments  
Real Estate

Acquired

Balance at December 31, 2015  $ 1,228  $ 2,855  $ 4,083  $ 12,149

Total realized/unrealized gains (losses):         

Included in other comprehensive income  —  —  —  —

Included in earnings and reported as net realized investment gains, net  —  3,579  3,579  —

Included in earnings and reported as losses incurred, net  —  —  —  (143)

Purchases  —  4,258  4,258  27,953

Sales  (398)  (6,424)  (6,822)  (29,395)

Balance at September 30, 2016  $ 830  $ 4,268  $ 5,098  $ 10,564

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015

(In thousands)  Debt Securities  Equity Securities  
Total

Investments  
Real Estate

Acquired

Balance at December 31, 2014  $ 1,846  $ 321  $ 2,167  $ 12,658

Total realized/unrealized gains (losses):         

Included in earnings and reported as losses incurred, net  —  —  —  (1,503)

Purchases  7  2,535  2,542  26,346

Sales  (466)  —  (466)  (27,417)

Balance at September 30, 2015  $ 1,387  $ 2,856  $ 4,243  $ 10,084

Authoritative guidance over disclosures about the fair value of financial instruments requires additional disclosure for financial instruments not
measured at fair value. Certain financial instruments, including insurance contracts, are excluded from these fair value disclosure requirements.
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents (Level 1) and accrued investment income (Level 2) approximated their fair values. Additional
fair value disclosures related to our investment portfolio are included in Note 7 – “Investments.”

Financial Liabilities Not Measured at Fair Value

We incur financial liabilities in the normal course of our business. The following table presents the carrying value and fair value of our financial
liabilities disclosed, but not carried, at fair value at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015. The fair values of our Convertible Senior
Notes, Senior Notes and Convertible Junior Subordinated Debentures were based on observable market prices and the fair value of the
Federal Home Loan Bank Advance was estimated using discounted cash flows on current incremental borrowing rates for similar borrowing
arrangements, and in all cases they are categorized as Level 2.

  September 30, 2016  December 31, 2015

(In thousands)  Carrying Value  Fair Value  Carrying Value  Fair Value

Financial liabilities:         

FHLB Advance  $ 155,000  $ 159,302  n/a  n/a

5% Notes  144,629  148,904  331,546  345,616

2% Notes  204,444  261,530  490,755  701,955

5.75% Notes  417,087  442,531  n/a  n/a

9% Debentures  256,872  318,077  389,522  455,067

Total long-term debt  $ 1,178,032  $ 1,330,344  $ 1,211,823  $ 1,502,638
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Note 9 – Other Comprehensive Income
The pretax and related income tax (expense) benefit components of
our other comprehensive income (loss) for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 are included in the
following table.

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,  
Nine Months Ended

September 30,

(In thousands)  2016  2015  2016  2015

Net unrealized
holding (losses)
gains arising during
the period  $ (22,206)  $ 27,271  $ 142,852  $ (17,126)

Income tax benefit
(expense)  7,772  (9,531)  (50,121)  5,955

Valuation
allowance (1)  —  77,555  —  62,383

Net of taxes  (14,434)  95,295  92,731  51,212

         

Net changes in
benefit plan assets
and obligations  (370)  (546)  (1,110)  (1,638)

Income tax benefit  129  192  388  574

Valuation
allowance (1)  —  (7,001)  —  (7,383)

Net of taxes  (241)  (7,355)  (722)  (8,447)

         

Net changes in
unrealized foreign
currency translation
adjustment  (16)  (3,724)  (1,496)  (6,228)

Income tax benefit  6  1,306  522  2,186

Valuation
allowance (1)  —  (529)  —  (529)

Net of taxes  (10)  (2,947)  (974)  (4,571)

         

Total other
comprehensive
(loss) income  (22,592)  23,001  140,246  (24,992)

Total income tax
benefit (expense),
net of valuation
allowance  7,907  61,992  (49,211)  63,186

Total other
comprehensive
(loss) income, net
of tax  $ (14,685)  $ 84,993  $ 91,035  $ 38,194

(1) See Note 11 – “Income Taxes” for a discussion of the valuation
allowance recorded against deferred tax assets.

 The pretax and related income tax (expense) benefit components of
the amounts reclassified from our accumulated other comprehensive
loss to our consolidated statements of operations for the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 are included in
the following table.

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,  
Nine Months Ended

September 30,

(In thousands)  2016  2015  2016  2015

Reclassification
adjustment for net
realized gains
(losses) (1)  $ 5,248  $ (1,120)  $ 5,958  $ 10,591

Income tax
(expense) benefit  (1,837)  395  (1,963)  (3,697)

Valuation
allowance (2)  —  (413)  —  3,635

Net of taxes  3,411  (1,138)  3,995  10,529

         
Reclassification
adjustment related to
benefit plan assets
and obligations (3)  370  546  1,110  1,638

Income tax
expense  (129)  (192)  (388)  (574)

Valuation
allowance (2)  —  192  —  574

Net of taxes  241  546  722  1,638

         
Reclassification
adjustment related to
foreign currency (4)  —  —  1,467  —

Income tax
expense  —  —  (513)  —

Net of taxes  —  —  954  —

         
Total reclassifications  5,618  (574)  8,535  12,229

Total income tax
expense, net of
valuation allowance  (1,966)  (18)  (2,864)  (62)

Total
reclassifications,
net of tax  $ 3,652  $ (592)  $ 5,671  $ 12,167

(1) Increases (decreases) Net realized investment gains on the
consolidated statements of operations.

(2) See Note 11 – “Income Taxes” for a discussion of the valuation
allowance recorded against deferred tax assets.

(3) Decreases (increases) Other underwriting and operating expenses, net
on the consolidated statements of operations.

(4) Increases (decreases) Other revenue on the consolidated statements
of operations.
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Changes in our accumulated other comprehensive income (loss),
including amounts reclassified from other comprehensive income
(loss), for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 are included
in the table below.

  Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016

(In thousands)  

Net
unrealized
gains and
losses on
available-
for-sale

securities  

Net benefit
plan assets

and
obligations

recognized in
shareholders'

equity  

Net
unrealized

foreign
currency

translation  

Total
accumulated

other
comprehensive
income (loss)

Balance at
December 31,
2015, net of tax  $ (17,148)  $ (44,652)  $ 920  $ (60,880)

Other
comprehensive
income (loss)
before
reclassifications  96,726  —  (20)  96,706

Less: Amounts
reclassified from
accumulated
other
comprehensive
income (loss)  3,995  722  954  5,671

Balance at
September 30,
2016, net of tax  $ 75,583  $ (45,374)  $ (54)  $ 30,155

Note 10 – Benefit Plans
The following tables provide the components of net periodic benefit
cost for our pension, supplemental executive retirement and other
postretirement benefit plans for three and nine months ended
September 30, 2016 and 2015:

  Three Months Ended September 30,

  
Pension and Supplemental
Executive Retirement Plans  

Other Postretirement Benefit
Plans

(In thousands)  2016  2015  2016  2015

Service cost  $ 2,283  $ 2,564  $ 188  $ 208

Interest cost  3,976  3,962  176  174

Expected return on
plan assets  (4,877)  (5,278)  (1,222)  (1,248)

Recognized net
actuarial loss (gain)  1,464  1,372  —  (44)

Amortization of
prior service cost  (172)  (211)  (1,662)  (1,661)

Net periodic benefit
cost (benefit)  $ 2,674  $ 2,409  $ (2,520)  $ (2,571)

 
  Nine Months Ended September 30,

  
Pension and Supplemental
Executive Retirement Plans  

Other Postretirement Benefit
Plans

(In thousands)  2016  2015  2016  2015

Service cost  $ 6,848  $ 7,692  $ 564  $ 624

Interest cost  11,929  11,886  528  523

Expected return on
plan assets  (14,631)  (15,832)  (3,665)  (3,743)

Recognized net
actuarial loss (gain)  4,392  4,114  —  (132)

Amortization of prior
service cost  (515)  (633)  (4,987)  (4,986)

Net periodic benefit
cost (benefit)  $ 8,023  $ 7,227  $ (7,560)  $ (7,714)

We currently intend to make contributions totaling $11.4 million to
our qualified pension plan and supplemental executive retirement
plan in 2016, of which $2.6 million has been contributed through
September 30, 2016.

Note 11 – Income Taxes
Valuation Allowance
We review the need to maintain a deferred tax asset valuation
allowance on a quarterly basis. We analyze many factors, among
which are the severity and frequency of operating losses, our
capacity for the carryback or carryforward of any losses, the
existence and current level of taxable operating income, operating
results on a three year cumulative basis, the expected occurrence of
future income or loss, the expiration dates of the loss carryforwards,
the cyclical nature of our operating results, and available tax
planning strategies. Based on our analysis, we reduced our benefit
from income tax through the recognition of a valuation allowance
from the first quarter of 2009 through the second quarter of 2015. In
the third quarter of 2015, we concluded that it was more likely than
not that our deferred tax assets would be fully realizable and that the
valuation allowance was no longer necessary and we reversed the
valuation allowance.

The effect of the change in valuation allowance on the provision for
income taxes for three and nine months ended September 30, 2016
and 2015 was as follows:

  
Three months ended

September 30,  
Nine months ended

September 30,

(In thousands)  2016  2015  2016  2015

Provision for
income tax  $ 27,131  $ 43,694  $ 117,646  $ 131,568

Change in
valuation allowance  —  (739,298)  —  (822,465)

Provision for
(benefit from)
income taxes  $ 27,131  $ (695,604)  $ 117,646  $ (690,897)
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The change in the valuation allowance that was included in other
comprehensive income for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2015 was a decrease of $70.0 million and $54.5
million, respectively.

We have approximately $1.6 billion of net operating loss (“NOL”)
carryforwards on a regular tax basis and $0.7 billion of NOL
carryforwards for computing the alternative minimum tax as of
September 30, 2016. Any unutilized carryforwards are scheduled to
expire at the end of tax years 2030 through 2033.

Tax Contingencies

As previously disclosed, the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”)
completed examinations of our federal income tax returns for the
years 2000 through 2007 and issued proposed assessments for
taxes, interest and penalties related to our treatment of the flow-
through income and loss from an investment in a portfolio of residual
interests of Real Estate Mortgage Investment Conduits (“REMICs”).
The IRS indicated that it did not believe that, for various reasons, we
had established sufficient tax basis in the REMIC residual interests
to deduct the losses from taxable income. We appealed these
assessments within the IRS and in August 2010, we reached a
tentative settlement agreement with the IRS which was not finalized.

In 2014, we received Notices of Deficiency (commonly referred to as
“90 day letters”) covering the 2000-2007 tax years. The Notices of
Deficiency reflect taxes and penalties related to the REMIC matters
of $197.5 million and at September 30, 2016, there would also be
interest related to these matters of approximately $195.9 million. In
2007, we made a payment of $65.2 million to the United States
Department of the Treasury which will reduce any amounts we
would ultimately owe. The Notices of Deficiency also reflect
additional amounts due of $261.4 million, which are primarily
associated with the disallowance of the carryback of the 2009 net
operating loss to the 2004-2007 tax years. We believe the IRS
included the carryback adjustments as a precaution to keep open
the statute of limitations on collection of the tax that was refunded
when this loss was carried back, and not because the IRS actually
intends to disallow the carryback permanently.

We filed a petition with the U.S. Tax Court contesting most of the
IRS’ proposed adjustments reflected in the Notices of Deficiency and
the IRS has filed an answer to our petition which continues to assert
their claim. The case has twice been scheduled for trial and in each
instance, the parties jointly filed, and the U.S. Tax Court approved
(most recently in February 2016), motions for continuance to
postpone the trial date. Also in February 2016, the U.S. Tax Court
approved a joint motion to consolidate for trial, briefing, and opinion,
our case with similar cases of Radian Group, Inc., as successor to
Enhance Financial Services Group, Inc., et al. Litigation to resolve
our dispute with the IRS could be lengthy and costly in terms of legal
fees and related expenses. We can provide no assurance regarding
the outcome of any such litigation or whether a compromised

 settlement with the IRS will ultimately be reached and finalized.
Depending on the outcome of this matter, additional state income
taxes and state interest may become due when a final resolution is
reached. As of September 30, 2016, those state taxes and interest
would approximate $50.2 million. In addition, there could also be
state tax penalties. Our total amount of unrecognized tax benefits as
of September 30, 2016 is $107.9 million, which represents the tax
benefits generated by the REMIC portfolio included in our tax returns
that we have not taken benefit for in our financial statements,
including any related interest. We continue to believe that our
previously recorded tax provisions and liabilities are appropriate.
However, we would need to make appropriate adjustments, which
could be material, to our tax provision and liabilities if our view of the
probability of success in this matter changes, and the ultimate
resolution of this matter could have a material negative impact on
our effective tax rate, results of operations, cash flows, available
assets and statutory capital. In this regard, see Note 15 – “Capital
Requirements.”

The total amount of the unrecognized tax benefits, related to our
aforementioned REMIC issue that would affect our effective tax rate
is $94.4 million. We recognize interest accrued and penalties related
to unrecognized tax benefits in income taxes. As of September 30,
2016 and December 31, 2015, we had accrued $28.6 million and
$27.8 million, respectively, for the payment of interest.

Note 12 – Loss Reserves
We establish reserves to recognize the estimated liability for losses
and loss adjustment expenses (“LAE”) related to defaults on insured
mortgage loans. Loss reserves are established by estimating the
number of defaulted loans that will result in a claim payment, which
is referred to as the claim rate, and further estimating the amount of
the claim payment, which is referred to as claim severity.

Estimation of losses is inherently judgmental. The conditions that
affect the claim rate and claim severity include the current and future
state of the domestic economy, including unemployment, and the
current and future strength of local housing markets; exposure on
insured loans; the amount of time between default and claim filing;
and curtailments. The actual amount of the claim payments may be
substantially different than our loss reserve estimates. Our estimates
could be adversely affected by several factors, including a
deterioration of regional or national economic conditions, including
unemployment, leading to a reduction in borrower income and thus
their ability to make mortgage payments, and a drop in housing
values which may affect borrower willingness to continue to make
mortgage payments when the value of the home is below the
mortgage balance. Changes to our estimates could result in a
material impact to our results of operations and capital position,
even in a stable economic environment.
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The following table provides a reconciliation of beginning and ending
loss reserves for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and
2015:

  Nine months ended September 30,

(In thousands)  2016  2015

Reserve at beginning of period  $ 1,893,402  $ 2,396,807

Less reinsurance recoverable  44,487  57,841

Net reserve at beginning of period  1,848,915  2,338,966

Losses incurred:     
Losses and LAE incurred in respect of
defaults related to:     

Current year  292,090  338,611

Prior years (1)  (99,591)  (90,130)

Subtotal  192,499  248,481

Losses paid:     
Losses and LAE paid in respect of defaults
related to:     

Current year  5,942  9,227

Prior years  549,706  652,465

Reinsurance terminations (2)  (2,854)  (15,440)

Subtotal  552,794  646,252

Net reserve at end of period  1,488,620  1,941,195

Plus reinsurance recoverables  46,863  38,748

Reserve at end of period  $ 1,535,483  $ 1,979,943

(1) A negative number for prior year losses incurred indicates a
redundancy of prior year loss reserves.

(2) In a termination or commutation, the reinsurance agreement is
cancelled, with no future premium ceded and funds for any incurred but
unpaid losses transferred to us. The transferred funds result in an
increase in our investment portfolio (including cash and cash
equivalents) and a decrease in net losses paid (reduction in losses
incurred). In addition, there is an offsetting decrease in the reinsurance
recoverable (increase in losses incurred), and thus there is no net
impact to losses incurred.

The “Losses incurred” section of the table above shows losses
incurred on defaults that occurred in the current year and in prior
years.  The amount of losses incurred relating to defaults that
occurred in the current year represents the estimated amount to be
ultimately paid on such defaults.  The amount of losses incurred
relating to defaults that occurred in prior years represents the actual
claim rate and severity associated with those defaults resolved in the
current year differing from the estimated liability at the prior year-
end, as well as a re-estimation of amounts to be ultimately paid on
defaults continuing from the end of the prior year.  This re-estimation
of the claim rate and severity is the result of our review of current
trends in the default inventory, such as percentages of defaults that
have resulted in a claim, the amount of the claims relative to the
average loan exposure, changes in the relative level of defaults by
geography and changes in average loan exposure.

 Losses incurred on defaults that occurred in the current year
decreased in the first nine months of 2016 compared to the same
period in 2015, primarily due to a decrease in the number of new
defaults, net of related cures.

The prior year development of the reserves in the first nine months
of 2016 and 2015 is reflected in the following table.

  
Nine months ended September

30,

(In millions)  2016  2015

Decrease in estimated claim rate on primary
defaults  $ (108)  $ (95)

Increase in estimated severity on primary
defaults  12  12

Change in estimates related to pool reserves,
LAE reserves and reinsurance  (4)  (7)

Total prior year loss development (1)  $ (100)  $ (90)

(1) A negative number for prior year loss development indicates a
redundancy of prior year loss reserves, and a positive number indicates
a deficiency of prior year loss reserves.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 we
experienced favorable prior year loss reserve development. This
development was, in part, due to the resolution of approximately
54% and 52% of the prior year default inventory during the nine
months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  During
the first nine months of 2016, we experienced improved cure rates
on prior year defaults, which was offset in part by an increase in
severity on the prior year defaults. In addition to the resolution of
defaults, the first nine months of 2015 were also favorably impacted
by $21 million due to re-estimation of previously recorded reserves
relating to disputes on our claims paying practices and adjustments
to incurred but not reported losses (IBNR).  The favorable
development in the first nine months of 2015 was offset, in part, by
an increase in the severity on prior year defaults remaining in the
delinquent inventory.

The “Losses paid” section of the table above shows the breakdown
between claims paid on new default notices in the current year and
claims paid on defaults from prior years. Until a few years ago, it
took, on average, approximately twelve months for a default that is
not cured to develop into a paid claim. Over the past several years,
the average time it takes to receive a claim associated with a default
has increased. This is, in part, due to new loss mitigation protocols
established by servicers and to changes in some state foreclosure
laws that may include, for example, a requirement for additional
review and/or mediation processes. It is difficult to estimate how long
it may take for current and future defaults that do not cure to develop
into paid claims.

During the first nine months of 2016, our losses paid included $52
million associated with settlements for claims paying practices and
nonperforming loan sales. These settlements reduced our
delinquent inventory by 1,273 notices. These settlements had no
material impact on our losses incurred, net.
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The liability associated with our estimate of premiums to be refunded
on expected claim payments is accrued for separately at
September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015 and approximated $91
million and $102 million, respectively. This liability was included in
“Other liabilities” on our consolidated balance sheets.

Delinquent inventory

A rollforward of our primary default inventory for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 appears in the
following table. The information concerning new notices and cures is
compiled from monthly reports received from loan servicers. The
level of new notice and cure activity reported in a particular month
can be influenced by, among other things, the date on which a
servicer generates its report, the number of business days in a
month and transfers of servicing between loan servicers.

  
Three months ended

September 30,  
Nine months ended

September 30,

  2016  2015  2016  2015

Default inventory at
beginning of period  52,558  66,357  62,633  79,901

New notices  17,607  19,509  50,418  55,856

Cures  (15,556)  (17,036)  (50,249)  (56,700)

Paids (including those
charged to a deductible
or captive)  (3,051)  (3,958)  (9,619)  (12,671)

Rescissions and denials  (125)  (230)  (477)  (623)

Other items removed
from inventory  —  —  (1,273)  (1,121)

Default inventory at end of
period  51,433  64,642  51,433  64,642

The decrease in the primary default inventory experienced during
2016 and 2015 was generally across all markets and primarily in
book years 2008 and prior. As of September 30, 2016 the
percentage of loans in the inventory that have been in default for 12
or more consecutive months has declined compared with the prior
year end and one year prior, as shown in the following table.
Historically as a default ages it becomes more likely to result in a
claim. The percentage of loans that have been in default for 12 or
more consecutive months and the number of loans in our primary
claims received inventory have been affected by our suspended
rescissions and the resolution of certain of those rescissions
discussed below and in Note 5 – “Litigation and Contingencies.”

 
Consecutive months in default

 September 30, 2016  December 31, 2015  September 30, 2015

3 months or
less 12,333  24%  13,053  21%  13,991  22%

4 - 11
months 12,648  25%  15,763  25%  14,703  23%

12 months
or more (1) 26,452  51%  33,817  54%  35,948  55%

Total
primary
default
inventory 51,433  100%  62,633  100%  64,642  100%

Primary
claims
received
inventory
included in
ending
default
inventory 1,636  3%  2,769  4%  2,982  5%

(1) Approximately 48%, 50%, and 50% of the primary default inventory in
default for 12 consecutive months or more has been in default for at
least 36 consecutive months as of September 30, 2016, December 31,
2015, and September 30, 2015, respectively.

The number of months a loan is in the default inventory can differ
from the number of payments that the borrower has not made or is
considered delinquent. These differences typically result from a
borrower making monthly payments that do not result in the loan
becoming fully current. The number of payments that a borrower is
delinquent is shown in the table below.

Number of payments delinquent

 September 30, 2016  December 31, 2015  September 30, 2015

3 payments
or less 18,374  36%  20,360  33%  20,637  32%

4 - 11
payments 12,282  24%  15,092  24%  14,890  23%

12
payments
or more 20,777  40%  27,181  43%  29,115  45%

Total
primary
default
inventory 51,433  100%  62,633  100%  64,642  100%

Pool insurance default inventory decreased to 1,979 at
September 30, 2016 from 2,739 at December 31, 2015. and 2,950 at
September 30, 2015.

Claims paying practices

Our loss reserving methodology incorporates our estimates of future
rescissions. A variance between ultimate actual rescission rates and
our estimates, as a result of the outcome of litigation, settlements or
other factors, could materially affect our losses.

The liability associated with our estimate of premiums to be refunded
on expected future rescissions is accrued for separately. At
September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015
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the estimate of this liability totaled $6 million and $7 million,
respectively. This liability was included in “Other liabilities” on our
consolidated balance sheets.

For information about discussions and legal proceedings with
customers with respect to our claims paying practices see Note 5 –
“Litigation and Contingencies.”

Note 13 – Shareholders’ Equity
Capital transactions

As described in Note 3 - “Debt,” we entered into privately negotiated
agreements to purchase, for cash, together with, in certain cases,
shares of our common stock, $292.4 million aggregate principal
amount of our outstanding 2% Notes. We issued approximately 18.3
million shares of our common stock as partial consideration under
these agreements. We have repurchased the shares issued as
partial consideration for our 2% Notes repurchase. During the third
quarter of 2016, we repurchased an aggregate of approximately
13.5 million shares of our common stock, of which approximately 2.1
million shares remained unsettled as of September 30, 2016, at a
weighted average price per share of $8.02, which includes
commissions. The aggregate purchase price of the shares was
$108.1 million, which includes approximately $16.5 million of cash
settled after September 30, 2016. An additional 4.8 million shares
were purchased in October 2016.

As described in Note 3 - “Debt” the purchase of a portion of our 9%
Debentures by MGIC, and corresponding elimination of the
purchased 9% Debentures in consolidation, resulted in a reduction
to our consolidated shareholders’ equity of approximately $6.3
million as of September 30, 2016. This reduction represents the
allocated portion of the consideration paid to reacquire the equity
component of the 9% Debentures. The reduction was recognized in
paid-in capital and was less than the amount ascribed to paid-in
capital at original issuance of the 9% Debentures.

Shareholders Rights Agreement

Our Amended and Restated Rights Agreement dated July 23, 2015,
which was approved by shareholders (the “Agreement”), seeks to
diminish the risk that our ability to use our NOLs to reduce potential
future federal income tax obligations may become substantially
limited and to deter certain abusive takeover practices. The benefit
of the NOLs would be substantially limited, and the timing of the
usage of the NOLs could be substantially delayed, if we were to
experience an “ownership change” as defined by Section 382 of the
Internal Revenue Code.

Under the Agreement each outstanding share of our Common Stock
is accompanied by one Right. The “Distribution Date” occurs on the
earlier of ten days after a public announcement that a person has
become an “Acquiring Person,” or ten business days after a person
announces or begins a tender offer in which consummation of such
offer would result in a person becoming an “Acquiring Person.” An
“Acquiring Person” is any person that

 becomes, by itself or together with its affiliates and associates, a
beneficial owner of 5% or more of the shares of our Common Stock
then outstanding, but excludes, among others, certain exempt and
grandfathered persons as defined in the Agreement. The Rights are
not exercisable until the Distribution Date. Each Right will initially
entitle shareholders to buy one-tenth of one share of our Common
Stock at a Purchase Price of $45 per full share (equivalent to $4.50
for each one-tenth share), subject to adjustment. Each exercisable
Right (subject to certain limitations) will entitle its holder to purchase,
at the Rights’ then-current Purchase Price, a number of our shares
of Common Stock (or if after the Shares Acquisition Date, we are
acquired in a business combination, common shares of the acquiror)
having a market value at the time equal to twice the Purchase Price.
The Rights will expire on August 1, 2018, or earlier as described in
the Agreement. The Rights are redeemable at a price of $0.001 per
Right at any time prior to the time a person becomes an Acquiring
Person. Other than certain amendments, the Board of Directors may
amend the Rights in any respect without the consent of the holders
of the Rights.

Note 14 – Stock-Based Compensation
We have incentive stock plans under which restricted stock units
(“RSUs”) were granted to employees. We generally grant share-
based compensation to employees during the first quarter of each
fiscal year. Under the fair value method, compensation cost is
measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and
is recognized over the service period which generally corresponds to
the vesting period. Awards under our incentive plans generally vest
over periods ranging from one to three years.

The number of shares granted to employees and the weighted
average fair value per share during the periods presented were
(shares in thousands):

 Nine months ended September 30,

 2016  2015

 
Shares
Granted  

Weighted
Average

Share Fair
Value  

Shares
Granted  

Weighted
Average

Share Fair
Value

RSUs subject to
performance conditions 1,257  $ 5.66  1,144  $ 9.04

RSUs subject only to
service conditions 433  5.67  410  8.99

Note 15 – Capital Requirements
Capital - GSEs

Substantially all of our insurance written since 2008 has been for
loans purchased by the GSEs. The PMIERs of the GSEs include
financial requirements that require a mortgage insurer’s “Available
Assets” (generally only the most liquid assets of an insurer) to equal
or exceed its “Minimum Required Assets” (which are based on an
insurer’s book and are calculated from tables of factors with several
risk dimensions and are subject to a floor amount).
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Based on our interpretation of the PMIERs, as of September 30,
2016, MGIC’s Available Assets are in excess of its Minimum
Required Assets; and MGIC is in compliance with the financial
requirements of the PMIERs and eligible to insure loans purchased
by the GSEs.

Statutory Capital Requirements

The insurance laws of 16 jurisdictions, including Wisconsin, our
domiciliary state, require a mortgage insurer to maintain a minimum
amount of statutory capital relative to the risk in force (or a similar
measure) in order for the mortgage insurer to continue to write new
business. We refer to these requirements as the “State Capital
Requirements” and, together with the GSE Financial Requirements,
the “Financial Requirements.” While they vary among jurisdictions,
the most common State Capital Requirements allow for a maximum
risk-to-capital ratio of 25 to 1. A risk-to-capital ratio will increase if (i)
the percentage decrease in capital exceeds the percentage
decrease in insured risk, or (ii) the percentage increase in capital is
less than the percentage increase in insured risk. Wisconsin does
not regulate capital by using a risk-to-capital measure but instead
requires a minimum policyholder position (“MPP”). The “policyholder
position” of a mortgage insurer is its net worth or surplus,
contingency reserve and a portion of the reserves for unearned
premiums.

At September 30, 2016, MGIC’s risk-to-capital ratio was 11.1 to 1,
below the maximum allowed by the jurisdictions with State Capital
Requirements, and its policyholder position was $1.4 billion above
the required MPP of $1.1 billion. In calculating our risk-to-capital
ratio and MPP, we are allowed full credit for the risk ceded under our
reinsurance transaction with a group of unaffiliated reinsurers. It is
possible that under the revised State Capital Requirements
discussed below, MGIC will not be allowed full credit for the risk
ceded to the reinsurers. If MGIC is not allowed an agreed level of
credit under either the State Capital Requirements or the PMIERs,
MGIC may terminate the reinsurance agreement, without penalty. At
this time, we expect MGIC to continue to comply with the current
State Capital Requirements; however, you should read the rest of
these financial statement footnotes for information about matters
that could negatively affect such compliance.

At September 30, 2016, the risk-to-capital ratio of our combined
insurance operations (which includes a reinsurance affiliate) was
12.6 to 1. Reinsurance agreements with an affiliate permit MGIC to
write insurance with a higher coverage percentage than it could on
its own under certain state-specific requirements.  A higher risk-to-
capital ratio on a combined basis may indicate that, in order for
MGIC to continue to utilize reinsurance agreements with its affiliate,
additional capital contributions to the reinsurance affiliate could be
needed.

In each of the first three quarters of 2016 MGIC received approval
from the OCI to pay a $16 million dividend to our holding company,
which were paid in April, June, and September, respectively, its first
dividends since 2008. Any additional

 dividends paid by MGIC to our holding company in 2016 would
require OCI approval under the adjusted statutory net income
regulations discussed below.

MGIC is subject to statutory regulations as to payment of dividends.
The maximum amount of dividends that MGIC may pay in any
twelve-month period without regulatory approval by the OCI is the
lesser of adjusted statutory net income or 10% of statutory
policyholders’ surplus as of the preceding calendar year end.
Adjusted statutory net income is defined for this purpose to be the
greater of statutory net income, net of realized investment gains, for
the calendar year preceding the date of the dividend or statutory net
income, net of realized investment gains, for the three calendar
years preceding the date of the dividend less dividends paid within
the first two of the preceding three calendar years. The OCI
recognizes only statutory accounting practices prescribed or
permitted by the State of Wisconsin for determining and reporting
the financial condition and results of operations of an insurance
company. The OCI has adopted certain prescribed accounting
practices that differ from those found in other states. Specifically,
Wisconsin domiciled companies record changes in the contingency
reserves through the income statement as a change in underwriting
deduction. As a result, in periods in which MGIC is increasing
contingency reserves, statutory net income is lowered. For the year
ended December 31, 2015, MGIC’s statutory net income was
reduced by $444 million to account for the increase in contingency
reserves.

The NAIC previously announced that it plans to revise the minimum
capital and surplus requirements for mortgage insurers that are
provided for in its Mortgage Guaranty Insurance Model Act. In May
2016, a working group of state regulators released an exposure draft
of a risk-based capital framework to establish capital requirements
for mortgage insurers, although no date has been established by
which the NAIC must propose revisions to the capital requirements.
We are currently evaluating the impact of the framework contained
in the exposure draft, including the potential impact of certain items
that have not yet been completely addressed by the framework
which include: the treatment of ceded risk, minimum capital floors,
and action level triggers.

While MGIC currently meets the State Capital Requirements of
Wisconsin and all other jurisdictions, it could be prevented from
writing new business in the future in all jurisdictions if it fails to meet
the State Capital Requirements of Wisconsin, or it could be
prevented from writing new business in another jurisdiction if it fails
to meet the State Capital Requirements of that jurisdiction, and in
each case MGIC does not obtain a waiver of such requirements. It is
possible that regulatory action by one or more jurisdictions, including
those that do not have specific State Capital Requirements, may
prevent MGIC from continuing to write new insurance in such
jurisdictions.
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If we are unable to write business in all jurisdictions, lenders may be
unwilling to procure insurance from us anywhere. In addition, a
lender’s assessment of the future ability of our insurance operations
to meet the State Capital Requirements or the PMIERs may affect
its willingness to procure insurance from us. A possible future failure
by MGIC to meet the State Capital Requirements or the PMIERs will
not necessarily mean that MGIC lacks sufficient resources to pay
claims on its insurance liabilities. While we believe MGIC has
sufficient claims paying resources to meet its claim obligations on its
insurance in force on a timely basis, you should read the rest of
these financial statement footnotes for information about matters
that could negatively affect MGIC’s claims paying resources.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Forward Looking and Other Statements

As discussed under “Forward Looking Statements and Risk Factors” below, actual results may differ materially from the results
contemplated by forward looking statements. We are not undertaking any obligation to update any forward looking statements or other
statements we may make in the following discussion or elsewhere in this document even though these statements may be affected by events
or circumstances occurring after the forward looking statements or other statements were made. Therefore no reader of this document should
rely on these statements being current as of any time other than the time at which this document was filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.
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OVERVIEW

Through our subsidiary MGIC, we are a leading provider of private mortgage insurance in the United States, as measured by $180.1 billion
of primary insurance in force at September 30, 2016. As used below, “we” and “our” refer to MGIC Investment Corporation’s consolidated
operations. The discussion below should be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015. We refer to this Discussion as the “10-K
MD&A.”

Financial performance of MGIC Investment Corporation

  Three Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,

(In millions, except per share data, unaudited)  2016  2015  Change  2016  2015  Change

Selected statement of operations data             

Total revenues  $ 273.9  $ 269.5  2 %  $ 796.0  $ 782.9  2 %

Losses incurred, net  60.9  76.5  (20)%  192.5  248.5  (23)%

Loss on debt extinguishment  75.2  —  N/M  90.5  —  N/M

Income before tax  83.7  127.2  (34)%  352.7  378.7  (7)%

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes  27.1  (695.6)  N/M  117.6  (690.9)  N/M

Net income  56.6  822.9  (93)%  235.0  1,069.6  (78)%

Diluted income per share  $ 0.14  $ 1.78  (92)%  $ 0.58  $ 2.35  (75)%

Non-GAAP Financial Measures (1)             

Pretax operating income  $ 153.9  $ 126.6  22 %  $ 434.2  $ 351.6  23 %

Net operating income  102.2  83.1  23 %  288.0  229.5  25 %

Net operating income per diluted share  $ 0.25  $ 0.20  25 %  $ 0.71  $ 0.55  29 %

(1) See Explanation and Reconciliation of our use of Non-GAAP financial measures on pages 38-39.

Business Overview

Quarterly results

Net income for the third quarter 2016 was $56.6 million, or $0.14
per diluted share. Net income for the third quarter of 2015 was
$822.9 million, or $1.78 per diluted share. The decline in our net
income was primarily due to the tax benefit recognized upon
reversal of our deferred tax asset valuation allowance in the third
quarter of 2015 and the loss on debt extinguishment recorded in the
third quarter of 2016 from our 2% Notes repurchases. The decline in
net income was partially offset by a decrease in our losses incurred,
net.

Total revenues were $273.9 million, up 2% compared to the prior
year. Net premiums earned of $237.4 million decreased by 1%
compared to the prior year period as we ceded more premiums in
2016 and the third quarter of 2015 included a non-recurring increase
in net premiums earned due to commutation of our 2013 quota
share reinsurance agreement (“2013 QSR Transaction”). The
decrease in net premiums earned was offset in part by a higher level
of premiums earned on single premium policies in 2016 due to
increased cancellation activity and a reduction in premium refunds
and related premium refund accrual compared to the prior year due
to lower claim activity. Investment income, net of expenses,
increased 6% compared with the prior year, reflecting a higher
average investment yield over the period on our investment portfolio.
Realized gains were $5.1 million, up from $0.6 million in the prior
year.

 Losses incurred, net were $60.9 million, down 20% compared to
the prior year driven by fewer new delinquency notices and a lower
claim rate on the new notices received in the third quarter of 2016
compared to the prior year. The claim rate on new notices in the
third quarter of 2016 was approximately 12% compared to 13% in
the prior year.

Loss on debt extinguishment during the third quarter of 2016
reflects the repurchases of our 2% Notes at a cost that was in
excess of our carrying value and a write-off of the unamortized debt
issuance costs on the repurchased portion of the notes. The
repurchases were completed with funds from our 5.75% Notes
issuance, and in certain cases, shares of our common stock. These
transactions continued the repositioning of our debt maturity profile
and reduced potentially dilutive shares.

See Note 3 - “Debt” to our consolidated financial statements for
further discussion of the accounting for this transaction. Further, we
will continue to assess opportunities to enhance our capital position,
improve our debt profile, and reduce potential dilution from our
outstanding convertible debt issuances, which could result in
additional losses in 2016.
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The difference in Provision for (benefit from) income taxes
reflects the change in our tax position. The third quarter of 2015
included a benefit from the reversal of our valuation allowance
against our deferred tax assets, while the third quarter of 2016
results reflected a full tax provision.

Year to date results

Net income for the first nine months of 2016 was $235.0 million,
or $0.58 per diluted share. Net income for the first nine months of
2015 was $1.1 billion, or $2.35 per diluted share. The decline in our
net income was primarily due to the tax benefit recognized upon
reversal of our deferred tax asset valuation allowance in the third
quarter of 2015 and the loss on debt extinguishment resulting from
our debt transactions completed during the first nine months of
2016. The decline in net income was partially offset by a decrease in
our losses incurred, net.

Total revenues were $796.0 million, up 2% compared to the
same period in the prior year. Net premiums earned of $690.2 million
increased by 3% compared to the same period in the prior year due
to a reduction in our premium refunds and related premium refund
accrual and higher earned premiums on single premium policies due
to increased cancellation activity compared to the prior year. These
increases were offset in part by a higher level of premiums ceded in
2016. Investment income, net of expenses, increased 9% compared
to the same period in the prior year, reflecting higher average
portfolio yields over the period. Realized gains were $9.0 million,
down from $27.1 million in the same period of the prior year. A
substantial portion of our realized gains in 2015 were from fixed
maturity security sales in the first quarter under favorable market
conditions.

Losses incurred, net were $192.5 million, down 22.5%
compared to the same period in the prior year driven by fewer new
delinquency notices received in the first nine months of 2016
compared to the same period of the prior year. There was also a
higher level of favorable prior year loss development due to a lower
claim rate on previously reported defaults and on our estimate of
incurred but not reported losses (IBNR).

Loss on debt extinguishment during the first nine months of
2016 reflects the repurchases of a portion of our 5% Notes and 2%
Notes, and MGIC’s purchase of a portion of our 9% Debentures at
costs that were in excess of our carrying values. In addition, the
repurchases of the 5% Notes and 2% Notes included the write-off of
unamortized debt issuance costs on the repurchased portions of
those notes.

See Note 3 - “Debt” to our consolidated financial statements for
further discussion of the accounting for these transactions. Further,
we will continue to assess opportunities to enhance our capital
position, improve our debt profile, and reduce potential dilution from
our outstanding convertible debt issuances, which could result in
additional losses in 2016.

The difference in Provision for (benefit from) income taxes
reflects the change in our tax position. The first nine months of 2015
included a benefit from the reversal of our valuation allowance
against our deferred tax assets in the third quarter

 of 2015, while the first nine months of 2016 results reflected a full tax
provision.

See “Results of Consolidated Operations” below for additional
discussion of our results for the third quarter and first nine months of
2016 compared to the respective prior year periods.

Capital

GSEs
For a number of years, substantially all of the loans we insured

have been sold to Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac (the “GSEs”), which
have been in conservatorship since late 2008.  When the
conservatorship will end and what role, if any, the GSEs will play in
the secondary mortgage market post-conservatorship will be
determined by Congress.  The scope of the FHA’s large market
presence may also change in connection with the determination of
the future of the GSEs. See our risk factor titled “Changes in the
business practices of the GSEs, federal legislation that changes
their charters or a restructuring of the GSEs could reduce our
revenues or increase our losses.”   While we strongly believe private
mortgage insurance should be an integral part of credit
enhancement in a future mortgage market, its role in that market
cannot be predicted.

We must comply with the Private Mortgage Eligibility
Requirements (the “PMIERs”) of the GSEs to be eligible to insure
loans purchased by them. The PMIERs include financial
requirements, as well as business, quality control and certain
transaction approval requirements. The financial requirements of the
PMIERs require a mortgage insurer’s “Available Assets” (generally
only the most liquid assets of an insurer) to equal or exceed its
“Minimum Required Assets” (which are based on an insurer’s book
and are calculated from tables of factors with several risk
dimensions and are subject to a floor amount). Based on our
interpretation of the PMIERs, as of September 30, 2016, MGIC’s
Available Assets are $4.7 billion and its Minimum Required Assets
are $4.1 billion. MGIC is in compliance with the PMIERs and eligible
to insure loans purchased by the GSEs.

If MGIC ceases to be eligible to insure loans purchased by one
or both of the GSEs, it would significantly reduce the volume of our
new business writings. Factors that may negatively impact MGIC’s
ability to continue to comply with the financial requirements of the
PMIERs include the following:

• The GSEs may reduce the amount of credit they allow under the
PMIERs for the risk ceded under our quota share reinsurance
transaction. The GSEs’ ongoing approval of that transaction is
subject to several conditions and the transaction will be
reviewed under the PMIERs at least annually by the GSEs. For
more information about the transaction, see Note 4 -
“Reinsurance” to our consolidated financial statements.
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• The GSEs could make the PMIERs more onerous in the future;
in this regard, the PMIERs provide that the tables of factors that
determine Minimum Required Assets will be updated every two
years and may be updated more frequently to reflect changes in
macroeconomic conditions or loan performance. The GSEs will
provide notice 180 days prior to the effective date of table
updates. In addition, the GSEs may amend the PMIERs at any
time.

• Our future operating results may be negatively impacted by the
matters discussed in our risk factors. Such matters could
decrease our revenues, increase our losses or require the use
of assets, thereby creating a shortfall in Available Assets.

• Should additional capital be needed by MGIC in the future,
additional capital contributions from our holding company may
not be available due to competing demands on holding company
resources, including for repayment of debt.

While on an overall basis, the amount of Available Assets MGIC
must hold in order to continue to insure GSE loans increased under
the PMIERs over what state regulation currently requires, our
reinsurance transaction mitigates the negative effect of the PMIERs
on our returns. In this regard, see the first bullet point above.

State Regulations
The insurance laws of 16 jurisdictions, including Wisconsin,

our domiciliary state, require a mortgage insurer to maintain a
minimum amount of statutory capital relative to the risk in force (or a
similar measure) in order for the mortgage insurer to continue to
write new business. We refer to these requirements as the “State
Capital Requirements.” While they vary among jurisdictions, the
most common State Capital Requirements allow for a maximum risk-
to-capital ratio of 25 to 1. A risk-to-capital ratio will increase if (i) the
percentage decrease in capital exceeds the percentage decrease in
insured risk, or (ii) the percentage increase in capital is less than the
percentage increase in insured risk. Wisconsin does not regulate
capital by using a risk-to-capital measure but instead requires a
minimum policyholder position (“MPP”). The “policyholder position”
of a mortgage insurer is its net worth or surplus, contingency reserve
and a portion of the reserves for unearned premiums.

At September 30, 2016, MGIC’s risk-to-capital ratio was
11.1 to 1, below the maximum allowed by the jurisdictions with State
Capital Requirements, and its policyholder position was $1.4 billion
above the required MPP of $1.1 billion. In calculating our risk-to-
capital ratio and MPP, we are allowed full credit for the risk ceded
under our reinsurance transaction with a group of unaffiliated
reinsurers. It is possible that under the revised State Capital
Requirements discussed below, MGIC will not be allowed full credit
for the risk ceded to the reinsurers. If MGIC is not allowed an agreed
level of credit under either the State Capital Requirements or the
PMIERs, MGIC may terminate the reinsurance agreement, without
penalty. At this time, we expect

 MGIC to continue to comply with the current State Capital
Requirements; however, refer to our risk factor titled “State capital
requirements may prevent us from continuing to write new insurance
on an uninterrupted basis” for more information about matters that
could negatively affect such compliance.

The NAIC previously announced that it plans to revise the
minimum capital and surplus requirements for mortgage insurers
that are provided for in its Mortgage Guaranty Insurance Model Act.
In May 2016, a working group of state regulators released an
exposure draft of a risk-based capital framework to establish capital
requirements for mortgage insurers, although no date has been
established by which the NAIC must propose revisions to the capital
requirements. We continue to evaluate the impact of the framework
contained in the exposure draft, including the potential impact of
certain items that have not yet been completely addressed by the
framework which include: the treatment of ceded risk, minimum
capital floors, and action level triggers. Currently we believe that the
PMIERs contain the more restrictive capital requirements in most
circumstances.

GSE Reform
The Federal Housing Finance Agency (“FHFA”) is the

conservator of the GSEs and has the authority to control and direct
their operations. The increased role that the federal government has
assumed in the residential housing finance system through the GSE
conservatorship may increase the likelihood that the business
practices of the GSEs change in ways that have a material adverse
effect on us and that the charters of the GSEs are changed by new
federal legislation. The financial reform legislation that was passed
in July 2010 (the “Dodd-Frank Act”) required the U.S. Department of
the Treasury to report its recommendations regarding options for
ending the conservatorship of the GSEs. This report did not provide
any definitive timeline for GSE reform; however, it did recommend
using a combination of federal housing policy changes to wind down
the GSEs, shrink the government’s footprint in housing finance
(including FHA insurance), and help bring private capital back to the
mortgage market. Since then, members of Congress introduced
several bills intended to change the business practices of the GSEs
and the FHA; however, no legislation has been enacted. As a result
of the matters referred to above, it is uncertain what role the GSEs,
FHA and private capital, including private mortgage insurance, will
play in the residential housing finance system in the future or the
impact of any such changes on our business. In addition, the timing
of the impact of any resulting changes on our business is uncertain.
Most meaningful changes would require Congressional action to
implement and it is difficult to estimate when Congressional action
would be final and how long any associated phase-in period may
last.

For additional information about the business practices of the
GSEs, see our risk factor titled “Changes in the business practices
of the GSEs, federal legislation that changes their charters or a
restructuring of the GSEs could reduce our revenues or increase our
losses.”
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Loan Modification and Other Similar Programs
Our operating results continue to be impacted by the Home

Affordable Modification Program (“HAMP”) and the GSEs’ Home
Affordable Refinance Program (“HARP”). During the first nine
months of each of 2015 and 2016, we were notified of modifications
that cured delinquencies that had they become paid claims would
have resulted in approximately $479 million and $405 million,
respectively, of estimated claim payments. Based on information that
is provided to us, most of the modifications resulted in reduced
payments from interest rate and/or amortization period adjustments.
Approximately 7% and 6% of the modifications resulted in principal
forgiveness in each of the first nine months of 2015 and 2016,
respectively.

In 2015 and the first nine months of 2016, approximately 16%
and 15%, respectively, of our primary cures were the result of
modifications, with HAMP accounting for approximately 66% and
64% of the modifications in each of those periods, respectively.
Although the HAMP and HARP programs have been extended
through December 2016 and September 2017, respectively, we
believe that we have realized the majority of the benefits from them
because the number of loans insured by us that we are aware are
entering those programs has decreased significantly.

HARP allows borrowers who are not delinquent but who may not
otherwise be able to refinance their loans under the current GSE
underwriting standards, to refinance their loans. We allow HARP
refinances on loans that we insure, regardless of whether the loan
meets our current underwriting standards, and we account for the
refinance as a loan modification (even where there is a new lender)
rather than new insurance written. As of September 30, 2016,
approximately 11% of our primary insurance in force had benefited
from HARP and was still in force.

As shown in the following table, as of September 30, 2016
approximately 20% of our primary risk in force has been modified.

Modifications

Policy year  HARP (1)  HAMP  Other

2003 Prior  11.1%  19.2%  16.0%

2004  17.9%  19.7%  14.3%

2005  24.7%  20.7%  13.9%

2006  27.5%  21.3%  13.9%

2007  38.2%  20.2%  8.8%

2008  52.4%  12.4%  4.4%

2009  27.4%  1.8%  1.4%

2010 - Q3 2016  —%  0.1%  —%

Total  10.9%  5.9%  3.2%

(1) Includes proprietary programs that are substantially the same as HARP.

 As of September 30, 2016 based on loan count, the loans
associated with 97.7% of HARP modifications, 77.7% of HAMP
modifications and 73.2% of other modifications remaining in our
inventory were current.

Eligibility under certain loan modification programs can
adversely affect us by creating an incentive for borrowers who are
able to make their mortgage payments to become delinquent in an
attempt to obtain the benefits of a modification. New notices of
delinquency increase our incurred losses.

Over the past several years, the average time it takes to receive
a claim associated with a defaulted loan has increased. This is, in
part, due to new loss mitigation protocols established by servicers
and to changes in some state foreclosure laws that may include, for
example, a requirement for additional review and/or mediation
processes. Unless a loan is cured during a foreclosure delay, at the
completion of the foreclosure, additional interest and expenses may
be due to the lender from the borrower. See “Results of
Consolidated Operations - Losses incurred, net” for additional
discussion on our loss severity.
 
Factors Affecting Our Results
Our results of operations are affected by:

• Premiums written and earned

Premiums written and earned in a year are influenced by:

• New insurance written, which increases insurance in force, and
is the aggregate principal amount of the mortgages that are
insured during a period. Many factors affect new insurance
written, including the volume of low down payment home
mortgage originations and competition to provide credit
enhancement on those mortgages, including competition from
the FHA, the VA, other mortgage insurers, GSE programs that
may reduce or eliminate the demand for mortgage insurance
and other alternatives to mortgage insurance. New insurance
written does not include loans previously insured by us which
are modified, including loans refinanced under HARP.

• Cancellations, which reduce insurance in force. Cancellations
due to refinancings are affected by the level of current mortgage
interest rates compared to the mortgage coupon rates
throughout the in force book, current home values compared to
values when the loans in the in force book became insured and
the terms on which mortgage credit is available. Generally,
single premium policies are not refundable; therefore, if a single
premium policy is cancelled, because the loan is repaid, the
remaining unearned premium is earned immediately.
Cancellations also include rescissions, which require us to
return any premiums received related to the rescinded policy,
and policies cancelled due to claim payment, which require us to
return any premium received from the date of default.
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• Premium rates, which are affected by product type, competitive
pressures, the risk characteristics of the loans insured, the
percentage of coverage on the loans, and in some cases the
age of the insurance policy. The substantial majority of our
monthly mortgage insurance premiums are under a premium
plan in which, for the first ten years of the policy, the amount of
premium is determined by multiplying the initial premium rate by
the original loan balance; thereafter, the premium declines
because a lower premium rate is used for the remaining life of
the policy. However, for loans that have utilized HARP, the initial
ten-year period resets to begin as of the date of the HARP
transaction. The remainder of our monthly premiums are under
a premium plan in which premiums are determined by a fixed
percentage of the loan’s amortizing balance over the life of the
policy.

• Premiums ceded, net of a profit commission, under reinsurance
agreements. See Note 4 - “Reinsurance” to our consolidated
financial statements for a discussion of our reinsurance
agreements.

Premiums are generated by the insurance that is in force during
all or a portion of the period. A change in the average insurance in
force in the current period compared to an earlier period is a factor
that will increase (when the average in force is higher) or reduce
(when it is lower) premiums written and earned in the current period,
although this effect may be enhanced (or mitigated) by differences in
the average premium rate between the two periods as well as by
premiums that are returned or expected to be returned in connection
with claim payments and rescissions, and premiums ceded under
reinsurance agreements. Also, new insurance written and
cancellations during a period will generally have a greater effect on
premiums written and earned in subsequent periods than in the
period in which these events occur.

• Investment income

Our investment portfolio is composed principally of investment
grade fixed maturity securities. The principal factors that influence
investment income are the size of the portfolio and its yield. As
measured by amortized cost (which excludes changes in fair value,
such as from changes in interest rates), the size of the investment
portfolio is mainly a function of cash generated from (or used in)
operations, such as net premiums received, investment income, net
claim payments and expenses, and cash provided by (or used for)
non-operating activities, such as debt or stock issuances or
repurchases.

• Losses incurred, net

Losses incurred, net are the current expense that reflects
estimated payments that will ultimately be made as a result of
delinquencies on insured loans. As explained under “Critical
Accounting Policies” in our 10-K MD&A, except in the case of a
premium deficiency reserve, we recognize an estimate of this

 expense only for delinquent loans. Losses incurred are generally
affected by:

• The state of the economy, including unemployment and housing
values, each of which affects the likelihood that loans will
become delinquent and whether loans that are delinquent cure
their delinquency. The level of new delinquencies has historically
followed a seasonal pattern, with new delinquencies in the first
part of the year lower than new delinquencies in the latter part of
the year, though this pattern can be affected by the state of the
economy and local housing markets.

• The product mix of the in force book, with loans having higher
risk characteristics generally resulting in higher delinquencies
and claims.

• The size of loans insured, with higher average loan amounts
tending to increase losses incurred.

• The percentage of coverage on insured loans, with deeper
average coverage tending to increase incurred losses.

• Changes in housing values, which affect our ability to mitigate
our losses through sales of properties with delinquent
mortgages as well as borrower willingness to continue to make
mortgage payments when the value of the home is below the
mortgage balance.

• The rate at which we rescind policies or curtail claims. Our
estimated loss reserves reflect mitigation from rescissions of
policies, curtailments, and denials of claims. We collectively
refer to such rescissions and denials as “rescissions” and
variations of this term.

• The distribution of claims over the life of a book. Historically, the
first few years after loans are originated are a period of relatively
low claims, with claims increasing substantially for several years
subsequent and then declining, although persistency
(percentage of insurance remaining in force from one year
prior), the condition of the economy, including unemployment
and housing prices, and other factors can affect this pattern. For
example, a weak economy or housing price declines can lead to
claims from older books increasing, continuing at stable levels or
experiencing a lower rate of decline. See further information
under “Mortgage Insurance Earnings and Cash Flow Cycle”
below.

• Losses ceded under reinsurance agreements. See “Results of
Consolidated Operations - Reinsurance agreements” below.

MGIC Investment Corporation - Q3 2016 | 36



Table of contents

• Underwriting and other expenses

The majority of our operating expenses are fixed, with some
variability due to contract underwriting volume. Contract underwriting
generates fee income included in “Other revenue.” Underwriting and
other expenses are net of any ceding commission associated with
our reinsurance agreements. See “Results of Consolidated
Operations - Reinsurance agreements” below.

  
• Interest expense

Interest expense reflects the interest associated with our
outstanding debt obligations. For information about our outstanding
debt obligations, see Note 3 - “Debt” to our consolidated financial
statements and under “Liquidity and Capital Resources” below.

• Other

Certain activities, which we do not consider to be part of our
fundamental operating activities, may also impact our results of
operations and are described below.

• Net realized investment gains (losses)

From time to time we may elect to realize gains through sales
of securities that are trading above our cost basis. Realized gains
and losses are a function of the difference between the amount
received on the sale of a security and the security’s cost basis, as
well as any “other than temporary” impairments (“OTTI”) recognized
in earnings.  The amount received on the sale of fixed maturity
securities is affected by the coupon rate of the security compared to
the yield of comparable securities at the time of sale.

• Loss on debt extinguishment

At times, we may undertake activities to enhance our capital
position, improve our debt profile, and reduce potential dilution from
our outstanding convertible debt issuances. Extinguishing our
outstanding debt obligations early through these discretionary
activities may result in losses primarily driven by the payment of
consideration in excess of our carrying value, and the write off of
unamortized debt issuance costs on the extinguished portion of the
debt.

Refer to “Explanation and reconciliation of our use of Non-GAAP
financial measures” to understand how these items impact our
evaluation of our fundamental financial performance.

 Mortgage Insurance Earnings and Cash Flow Cycle
In our industry, a “book” is the group of loans insured in a

particular calendar year. In general, the majority of any underwriting
profit (premium revenue minus losses) that a book generates occurs
in the early years of the book, with the largest portion of any
underwriting profit realized in the first year following the year the
book was written. Subsequent years of a book generally result in
modest underwriting profit or underwriting losses. This pattern of
results typically occurs because relatively few of the claims that a
book will ultimately experience typically occur in the first few years of
the book, when premium revenue is highest, while subsequent years
are affected by declining premium revenues, as the number of
insured loans decreases (primarily due to loan prepayments) and
premium rates reset to lower levels on a substantial portion of our
monthly premium program after ten years, and increasing losses.
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EXPLANATION AND RECONCILIATION OF OUR USE OF NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

Non-GAAP financial measures

We believe that use of the Non-GAAP financial measures of
pretax operating income (loss), net operating income (loss) and net
operating income (loss) per diluted share facilitate the evaluation of
the company's fundamental financial performance and provide
relevant and meaningful information to investors about the ongoing
operating results of the company. On a consolidated basis, these
measures are not recognized in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(GAAP) and should not be viewed as alternatives to GAAP
measures of performance. The measures described below have
been established to increase transparency for the purpose of
evaluating the fundamental operating trends and enabling more
meaningful comparisons with our competitors.

Pretax operating income (loss) is defined as GAAP income
(loss) before tax excluding the effects of net realized investment
gains (losses), gain (loss) on debt extinguishment, net impairment
losses recognized in income (loss) and infrequent or unusual non-
operating items.

    
Net operating income (loss) is defined as GAAP net income

(loss) excluding the after-tax effects of net realized investment gains
(losses), gain (loss) on debt extinguishment, net impairment losses
recognized in income (loss), infrequent or unusual non-operating
items, and the effects of changes in our deferred tax valuation
allowance. The amounts of adjustments to net income (loss) are tax
effected using a federal statutory tax rate of 35%.

    
Net operating income (loss) per diluted share is calculated by

dividing (i) net operating income (loss) adjusted for interest expense
on convertible debt, share dilution from convertible debt, and the
impact of stock-based compensation arrangements consistent with
the accounting standard regarding earnings per share, whenever the
impact is dilutive by (ii) diluted weighted average common shares
outstanding.

Although pretax operating income (loss) and net operating
income (loss) exclude certain items that have occurred in the past
and are expected to occur in the future, the excluded items are: (1)
not viewed as part of the operating performance of our primary
activities; or (2) impacted by both discretionary and other economic
factors and are not necessarily indicative of operating trends. These
adjustments, along with the reasons for their treatment, are
described below. Other companies may calculate these measures
differently, and, therefore, their measures may not be comparable to
those used by us.

 (1) Net realized investment gains (losses). The recognition of net
realized investment gains or losses can vary significantly across
periods as the timing of individual securities sales is highly
discretionary and is influenced by such factors as market
opportunities, our tax and capital profile, and overall market
cycles.

Trends in the profitability of our fundamental operating activities
can be more clearly identified without the fluctuations of these
realized gains and losses. We do not view them to be indicative
of our fundamental operating activities. Therefore, these items
are excluded from our calculation of net operating income (loss).

(2) Gains and losses on debt extinguishment. Gains and losses on
debt extinguishment result from discretionary activities that are
undertaken to enhance our capital position, improve our debt
profile, and reduce potential dilution from our outstanding
convertible debt issuances; therefore, these activities are not
viewed as part of our fundamental operating activities and their
results and are excluded from our calculation of net operating
income (loss).

(3) Net impairment losses recognized in earnings. The recognition
of net impairment losses on investments can vary significantly in
both size and timing, depending on market credit cycles,
individual issuer performance, and general economic conditions.
We do not view these impairment losses to be indicative of
fundamental operating activities and we exclude them from our
calculation of net operating income (loss).

(4) Deferred tax asset valuation allowance. The recognition, or
reversal, of a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets is
subject to significant management judgment and the effects are
recorded to the discrete accounting period when recognized or
reversed. Such recognition or reversal may significantly impact
the discrete accounting period in which it is recorded; however
recognition or reversal of a valuation allowance does not impact
our cash position or operational activities. Therefore, we do not
view the recognition, or reversal, of a valuation allowance
against deferred tax assets to be indicative of fundamental
operating activities and their effects are excluded from our
calculation of net operating income (loss).
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Non-GAAP Reconciliations

Reconciliation of Income before tax to pretax operating income and calculation of Net operating income

  Three Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,

(In thousands)  2016  2015  2016  2015

Income before tax per Statement of Operations  $ 83,749  $ 127,248  $ 352,676  $ 378,685

Adjustments:         
Net realized investment gains  (5,092)  (640)  (8,984)  (27,133)

Loss on debt extinguishment  75,223  —  90,531  —

Pretax operating income  153,880  126,608  434,223  351,552

Income taxes:         
Provision for income taxes(1)  51,677  43,470  146,188  122,071

Net operating income  $ 102,203  $ 83,138  $ 288,035  $ 229,481

         
(1) Income before tax within operating income is tax effected at our effective tax rate. The effective tax rate for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 excludes the

effects of the change in our valuation allowance. Adjustments are tax effected at the Federal Statutory Rate of 35%.

Reconciliation of Net income to Net operating income

  Three Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,

(In thousands)  2016  2015  2016  2015

Net income  $ 56,618  $ 822,852  $ 235,030  $ 1,069,582

Effect of change in deferred tax asset valuation allowance  —  (739,298)  —  (822,465)

Adjustments, net of tax(1):         
Net realized investment gains  (3,310)  (416)  (5,840)  (17,636)

Loss on debt extinguishment  48,895  —  58,845  —

Net operating income  $ 102,203  $ 83,138  $ 288,035  $ 229,481

         
(1) Adjustments are tax effected at the Federal Statutory Rate of 35%.

Reconciliation of Net operating income per diluted share to Net income per diluted share

  Three Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,

  2016  2015  2016  2015

Net income per diluted share  $ 0.14  $ 1.78  $ 0.58  $ 2.35

Effect of change in deferred tax asset valuation allowance(1)  —  (1.58)  —  (1.76)

Net realized investment gains  (0.01)  —  (0.01)  (0.04)

Loss on debt extinguishment  0.12  —  0.14  —

Net operating income per diluted share  $ 0.25  $ 0.20  $ 0.71  $ 0.55

         
(1) The change in our deferred tax asset valuation allowance includes a $698.1 million reduction to our tax provision for amounts to be realized in future periods, or $1.49 per

diluted share.
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MORTGAGE INSURANCE PORTFOLIO

New insurance written

The amount of our primary new insurance written during the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 was as
follows:

Primary NIW by FICO score

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,  
Nine Months Ended

September 30,

(In billions)  2016  2015  2016  2015

740 and greater  $ 8.7  $ 7.1  $ 20.5  $ 19.3

700-739  3.5  3.1  9.0  8.3

660-699  1.6  1.7  4.5  4.4

659 and less  0.4  0.5  1.1  1.2

Total Primary  $ 14.2  $ 12.4  $ 35.1  $ 33.2

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,  
Nine Months Ended

September 30,

  2016  2015  2016  2015

Percentage of primary
NIW         

Policy payment type:         

Monthly premiums  82.0%  81.7%  79.8%  79.6%

Single premiums  17.7%  18.0%  19.9%  20.1%

Annual premiums  0.3%  0.3%  0.3%  0.3%

         
Type of mortgage:         

Purchases  80.8%  87.9%  81.9%  80.6%

Refinances  19.2%  12.1%  18.1%  19.4%

         
LTV:         

95.01% and above  6.0%  4.9%  5.5%  4.4%

90.01% to 95.00%  46.9%  51.4%  48.8%  50.4%

85.01% to 90.00%  31.9%  33.1%  31.8%  33.0%

80.01% to 85%  15.2%  10.6%  13.9%  12.2%

 
Conditions and Trends impacting our NIW

• New insurance written continues to have strong underlying
credit characteristics as from our perspective lenders maintain
high underwriting standards.

• An improved employment environment and what we view as
solid housing market fundamentals, such as household
formations, increased home sales and low interest rates,
resulted in an increase in the percentage and volume of new
insurance written resulting from purchase mortgage transactions
during the first half of 2016 when compared to the same period
in the prior year. While the volume of new insurance written
resulting from purchase mortgage transactions increased in the
third quarter of 2016 when compared to the same period in
2015, the percentage of our new insurance written represented
by such transactions decreased year-over-year. Since mortgage
interest rates are expected to remain low and housing market
fundamentals are expected to remain stable to modestly
improving most forecasts are calling for an increase in purchase
activity in future periods. Increasing purchase activity is
generally a net positive as we estimate that our industry’s
market share is approximately 3-4 times higher for purchase
loans compared to refinances. However, these same forecasts
for low mortgage rates are predicting refinance activity will
remain elevated, which could cause the percentage of purchase
transactions to decline but that will be highly dependent on the
future level of mortgage interest rates.

• Competition has been centered on pricing practices in the
market, including: (i) reductions to standard filed rates on
borrower-paid policies, (ii) use by certain competitors of a
spectrum of filed rates to allow for formulaic, risk-based pricing;
and (iii) use of customized rates (discounted from published
rates) on lender-paid single premium policies.

– In response to the competitive dynamics in the market, we
revised our filed premium rates effective April 2016. In
general, the revisions decreased our filed premium rates on
some higher-FICO score loans and increased our filed
premium rates on some lower-FICO loans. In addition to the
revisions of our filed rates, we continue to use the authority
set forth in our rate filings to negotiate customized lender-
paid single premium policy rates on a selective basis.

MGIC Investment Corporation - Q3 2016 | 40



Table of contents

Insurance in force and risk in force

The amount of our insurance in force and risk in force is
impacted by the amount of new insurance written and cancellations
of primary insurance in force during the period. For the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, the impact of our
new insurance written and cancellations was as follows:

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,  
Nine Months Ended

September 30,

(In billions)  2016  2015  2016  2015

NIW  $ 14.2  $ 12.4  $ 35.1  $ 33.2

Cancellations  (11.6)  (8.5)  (29.5)  (25.4)

Change in primary
insurance in force  $ 2.6  $ 3.9  $ 5.6  $ 7.8

         
Direct primary insurance
in force as of September
30,  $ 180.1  $ 172.7     
         
Direct primary risk in force
as of September 30,  $ 46.8  $ 45.0     

Cancellation activity due to refinancing has historically been
affected by the level of mortgage interest rates and the level of home
price appreciation. Cancellations generally move inversely to the
change in the direction of interest rates, although they generally lag
a change in direction. Cancellations also include rescissions,
policies cancelled due to claim payment, and policies cancelled
when borrowers achieve the required amount of home equity.

Persistency

Persistency is the percentage of insurance remaining in force
from one year prior. Our persistency rate was 78.3% at
September 30, 2016 compared to 79.7% at December 31, 2015 and
80.0% at September 30, 2015. Since 2000, our year-end persistency
ranged from a high of 84.7% at December 31, 2009 to a low of
47.1% at December 31, 2003.

Credit profile of primary risk in force

The proportion of our total primary risk in force written after 2008
has been steadily increasing in proportion to our total primary risk in
force. The loans insured from our 2009 and later origination years
possess significantly improved credit characteristics when compared
to our 2005-2008 origination years. The loans we insured beginning
in 2009, on average, have substantially higher FICO scores and
lower LTVs than those insured in 2005-2008. The credit profile of our
risk in force has also benefited from modification programs such as
HARP. HARP allows borrowers who are not delinquent, but who may
not otherwise be able to refinance their loans under the current GSE
underwriting standards, to refinance their loans under terms that
generally provide the borrowers with a greater ability to pay and
more financial flexibility to cover the loan obligations. The

 following chart shows the composition of our primary risk in force as
of September 30, 2016. As shown in the chart below, the aggregate
of our 2009-2016 book years and our HARP modifications
accounted for approximately 80% of our total primary risk in force at
September 30, 2016.

Pool and other insurance

MGIC has written no new pool insurance since 2009, however,
for a variety of reasons, including responding to capital market
alternatives to private mortgage insurance and customer demands,
MGIC may write pool risk in the future. Our direct pool risk in force
was $568 million ($247 million on pool policies with aggregate loss
limits and $321 million on pool policies without aggregate loss limits)
at September 30, 2016 compared to $659 million ($271 million on
pool policies with aggregate loss limits and $388 million on pool
policies without aggregate loss limits) at December 31, 2015. If claim
payments associated with a specific pool reach the aggregate loss
limit, the remaining insurance in force within the pool would be
cancelled and any remaining defaults under the pool would be
removed from our default inventory.

In the third quarter of 2016 we participated in a GSE credit risk
transfer transaction through an affiliate of MGIC. The transaction
transfers risk via a pool structure for which we are providing credit
insurance. Our level of participation in this transaction was
immaterial to our financial statements and will remain immaterial to
our financial statements in future periods. Any future participation in
GSE credit risk transfer programs will be dependent on the terms of
the transactions.
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RESULTS OF CONSOLIDATED OPERATIONS

The following section of the MD&A provides a comparative discussion of MGIC Investment Corporation’s Results of Consolidated Operations
for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015.

Revenue

  Three Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,

(In millions)  2016  2015  Change  2016  2015  Change

Net premiums written  $ 250.3  $ 318.0  (21)%  $ 731.6  $ 779.2  (6)%

            

Net premiums earned  $ 237.4  $ 239.2  (1)%  $ 690.2  $ 670.0  3 %

Investment income, net of expenses  27.5  25.9  6 %  82.6  75.8  9 %

Net realized investment gains  5.1  0.6  750 %  9.0  27.1  (67)%

Other revenue  3.9  3.7  5 %  14.2  9.9  43 %

Total revenues  $ 273.9  $ 269.5  2 %  $ 796.0  $ 782.9  2 %

Net premiums written and earned

Quarterly results
Net premiums written and earned each decreased from the prior

year period, primarily due to the following:
• Net premiums written in the 2015 period included the return of

unearned ceded premiums to us from reinsurers resulting from
the commutation of our 2013 QSR Transaction.

• Net premiums earned decreased 1% as we ceded more earned
premiums compared to the prior year and the third quarter of
2015 included a non-recurring increase in our profit commission
due to the commutation of our 2013 QSR Transaction, which
reduced the premiums we ceded in that period. The decline was
offset in part by an increase in the premiums earned on single
premium policies due to increased cancellation activity and a
lower level of premium refunds and a reduction in our premium
refund accrual due to lower claim activity.

 Year to date results
Net premiums written decreased while net premiums earned

increased from the prior year period primarily due to the following:
• Net premiums written in the 2015 period included the return of

unearned ceded premiums to us from reinsurers resulting from
the commutation of our 2013 QSR Transaction. Partially
offsetting the impact of the commutation was an increase in new
insurance written in the first nine months of 2016 compared to
the prior year period.

• Net premiums earned increased 3% primarily due to a lower
level of premium refunds and a reduction to our premium
accrual due to lower claim activity, as well as an increase in the
premiums earned on single premium policies due to increased
cancellation activity and higher average insurance in force.
These increases were offset in part by a higher amount of
premiums ceded in 2016.

See “Overview - Factors Affecting Our Results” above for additional factors that influenced the amount of net premiums written and earned
during the period.

Although we expect that our insurance in force will increase in 2016 compared to 2015, the ratio of net premiums earned divided by the
weighted average primary insurance in force outstanding for the year (sometimes referred to as “premium yield” or “effective premium yield”) is
likely to decline in 2016 from 2015 levels.
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Our effective premium yield is primarily impacted by the following items; however the impact on our premium yield may will vary from period
to period.

Description  Explanation of impact on our premium yield
Change in premium rates  Changing premium rates have decreased our premium yield in 2016 primarily due to the following factors.

 

• The books we wrote in 2009 and after were 70% of our insurance in force as of September 30, 2016 and
these book years have a lower average premium rate than prior books due to several factors, including,
lower risk characteristics on the 2009 and later books and competitive pricing in the industry in recent
periods.

 

• The monthly premium program used for the substantial majority of loans we insured provides for a set
premium rate for the first ten years of the policy and a lower premium rate thereafter. The initial ten-year
period is reset when the loan is refinanced under HARP.

  

– As of September 30, 2016 approximately 4%, 7%, and 3% of our total primary risk in force (and
insurance in force) was written in 2006, 2007, and 2008; respectively, was not refinanced under HARP
and is subject to reset after ten years.

Change in premium refunds and premium
refund accruals (excluding most single
premium policies)  

Premium refunds upon claim payment or rescission decrease our premium yield. In 2016 compared to 2015,
we have experienced lower levels of cancellations from claims and rescissions; therefore the negative impact
on our effective premium yield has lessened in recent periods.

 

Generally, the level of premiums we refund and our premium refund accrual are highly variable from period to
period. When a policy is cancelled for a reason other than rescission or claim payment, all premium that is
non-refundable is immediately earned and any refundable premium is returned to the servicer or borrower.
Non-refundable premium is primarily associated with our single premium policies, which is discussed below.

  – When a policy is rescinded, all previously collected premium is returned to the servicer.

  
– When a policy is cancelled due to claim payment, we return any premium received since the date of

default.

Single premium policy persistency

 

The recent decrease in single premium policy persistency has increased our premium yield, with an increasing
impact in recent periods as single premiums have become a larger portion of our insurance in force and
mortgage interest rates have remained low resulting in greater cancellations of policies.

 

Generally, the premium on a single premium policy is not refundable and is earned over the estimated policy
life. Therefore, if persistency is less than the estimated policy life assumption, the effective premium yield will
increase.

Reinsurance
 

The use of reinsurance lowers our premium yield, however the magnitude of the impact varies from period to
period due to the following considerations.

 
• The 2015 QSR Transaction increases the amount of our insurance in force covered by reinsurance and

will result in an increase in the amount of premiums and losses ceded.

  
– We cede 30% of earned and received premiums and losses incurred. The premiums we cede are

reduced by a profit commission, which primarily varies by the level of losses we cede.

 

*Our reinsurance affects premiums, underwriting expenses and losses incurred and should be analyzed by
reviewing its total effect on our Statements of operations, as discussed below under “Reinsurance
agreements.”

Reinsurance agreements
Our reinsurance affects various lines of our statements of

operations and therefore we believe it should be analyzed by
reviewing its effect on our net income, described as follows.

• We cede a fixed percentage of premiums on insurance covered
by the agreement.

• We receive the benefit of a profit commission through a
reduction in the premiums we cede. The profit commission
varies directly and inversely with the level of losses on a “dollar
for dollar” basis and is eliminated at levels of losses that we do
not expect to occur. As a result, lower levels of losses result in a
higher profit commission and less benefit from ceded losses;
higher levels of losses result in more benefit from ceded losses
and a lower profit commission (or for levels of losses we do not
expect, its elimination).

 • We receive the benefit of a ceding commission through a
reduction in underwriting expenses equal to 20% of premiums
ceded (before the effect of the profit commission).

• We cede a fixed percentage of losses incurred on insurance
covered by the agreement.

The effects described above result in a net cost of the
reinsurance, with respect to a covered loan, of 6% (but can be lower
if losses are materially higher than we expect). This cost is derived
by dividing the reduction in our pre-tax net income from such loans
with reinsurance by our direct (that is, without reinsurance)
premiums from such loan. Although the net cost of the reinsurance
is generally constant at 6%, the effect of the reinsurance on the
various components of pre-tax income discussed above will vary
from period to period, depending on the level of ceded losses. The
restructuring of the 2015 QSR Transaction caused volatility in our
2015 premium yield, which
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has continued in 2016, in part due to an increase in the amount of
losses ceded as more of our insurance in force is covered, and
fluctuations in our loss ratio, which impacts our profit commission.
Because more of our insurance in force is covered under the 2015
QSR Transaction than was covered under the commuted 2013 QSR
Transaction, the absolute dollar cost of the 2015 QSR Transaction
will be modestly higher than the cost of the 2013 QSR Transaction.

The following table provides additional information related to our
premiums written and earned and risk in force subject to reinsurance
agreements for 2016 and 2015.

  
As of and For the Nine Months Ended

September 30,

(Dollars in thousands)  2016  2015

New insurance written subject to quota
share reinsurance agreements  89%  92 %

Insurance in force subject to quota
share reinsurance agreements  75%  72 %

Insurance in force subject to captive
reinsurance agreements  2%  3 %

2015 QSR Transaction     
Ceded premiums written, net of profit
commission  $ 93,334  22,626

% of direct premiums written  11%  3 %

Ceded premiums earned, net of profit
commission  $ 93,334  22,626

% of direct premiums earned  12%  3 %

Ceding commissions  $ 35,659  9,195

Ceded risk in force  $ 10,536,627  9,654,988

2013 QSR Transaction     
Ceded premiums written, net of profit
commission  n/a  $ (11,355)

% of direct premiums written  n/a  (1)%

Ceded premiums earned, net of profit
commission  n/a  $ 35,999

% of direct premiums earned  n/a  5 %

Ceding commissions  n/a  $ 10,235

Ceded risk in force  n/a  $ —

Captives     

Ceded premiums written  $ 6,265  $ 10,595

% of direct premiums written  1%  1 %

Ceded premiums earned  $ 6,361  $ 10,678

% of direct premiums earned  1%  1 %

As part of the settlement with the Consumer Financial Protection
Bureau (“CFPB”) in 2013 and the Minnesota Department of
Commerce (the “MN Department”) in 2015, MGIC has agreed to not
enter into any new captive reinsurance agreements or reinsure any
new loans under any existing captive reinsurance agreement for a
period of ten years from the date of settlement. In addition the GSEs
will not approve any future reinsurance or risk sharing transaction
with a mortgage enterprise or an affiliate of a mortgage enterprise.

 Investment income

Quarterly results
Our investment portfolio generated net investment income of

$27.5 million in the third quarter, an increase of 6% from that
reported for the same period in 2015. The increase in investment
income was due to an increase in average portfolio yields over the
period. The portfolio’s average pre-tax investment yield was 2.5% for
three months ended September 30, 2016 compared to 2.4% for the
three months ended September 30, 2015.

Year to date results
Our investment portfolio generated net investment income of

$82.6 million for the first nine months of 2016, an increase of 9%
from that reported in the same period in 2015. The increase in
investment income was due to an increase in average portfolio
yields over the period. The portfolio’s pre-tax investment yield
averaged was 2.5% for the nine months ended September 30, 2016
compared to 2.4% for the nine months ended September 30, 2015.

Realized gains (losses) and other-than-temporary impairments

Quarterly results
Net realized gains for the third quarter of 2016 were $5.1 million

compared to $0.6 million for the third quarter of 2015.

Year to date results
Net realized gains for the first nine months of 2016 were $9.0

million compared to $27.1 million in same period of 2015. Realized
gains in 2016 were taken from both the fixed maturity and equity
portfolio. Realized gains in 2015 were primarily taken from the fixed
maturity portfolio as we sold securities to realize gains under
favorable market conditions.

At September 30, 2016, the net unrealized gains in our
investment portfolio were $116.3 million, which included $126.3
million of gross unrealized gains, partially offset by $10.0 million of
gross unrealized losses. At December 31, 2015, the net unrealized
losses in our investment portfolio were $26.6 million, which included
$67.8 million of gross unrealized losses, partially offset by $41.3
million of gross unrealized gains.

Other revenue

Quarterly results
Other revenue for the third quarter of 2016 was $3.9 million

compared to $3.7 million for the third quarter of 2015. The increase
in other revenue was primarily due to an increase in contract
underwriting fees.

Year to date results
Other revenue for the first nine months of 2016 was $14.2

million compared to $9.9 million in the same period of 2015. The
increase in other revenue in the first nine months of 2016 compared
to the prior year period was primarily due to the substantial
liquidation of our Australian operations for which we recognized
approximately $4 million of gains related to changes in foreign
currency exchange rates in the first quarter of 2016.
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Our remaining assets in Australia are minimal and are not expected
to have a material impact on our future consolidated statements of
operations upon final liquidation.

 

Losses incurred, net
As discussed in “Critical Accounting Policies” in our 10-K MD&A

and consistent with industry practices, we establish loss reserves for
future claims only for loans that are currently delinquent. The terms
“delinquent” and “default” are used interchangeably by us. We
consider a loan in default when it is two or more payments past due.
Loss reserves are established based on estimating the number of
loans in our default inventory that will result in a claim payment,
which is referred to as the claim rate, and further estimating the
amount of the claim payment, which is referred to as claim severity.

Estimation of losses is inherently judgmental. The conditions
that affect the claim rate and claim severity include the current and
future state of the domestic economy, including unemployment, and
the current and future strength of local housing markets; exposure
on insured loans; the amount of time between default and claim
filing; and curtailments.. The actual amount of the claim payments
may be substantially different than our loss reserve estimates. Our
estimates could be adversely affected by several factors, including a
deterioration of regional or national economic conditions, including
unemployment, leading to a reduction in borrower

 income and thus their ability to make mortgage payments, and a
drop in housing values that could result in, among other things,
greater losses on loans, and may affect borrower willingness to
continue to make mortgage payments when the value of the home is
below the mortgage balance. Our estimates are also affected by any
agreements we enter into regarding our claims paying practices,
such as the settlement agreements discussed in Note 5 – “Litigation
and Contingencies” to our consolidated financial statements.
Changes to our estimates could result in a material impact to our
results of operations and capital position, even in a stable economic
environment.

The loss ratio is the ratio, expressed as a percentage, of the
sum of incurred losses and loss adjustment expenses to net
premiums earned. All items included in the loss ratio computation
are presented in our GAAP financial statements. The loss ratio does
not reflect any effects due to changes in premium deficiency
reserves. Management utilizes the loss ratio as one component to
measure the profitability of our underwriting operations.

  Three Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,

(In millions)  2016  2015  Change  2016  2015  Change

Losses and LAE incurred in respect of defaults related to:             

Current year  $ 95.6  $ 115.0  (17)%  $ 292.1  $ 338.6  (14)%

Prior years  (34.7)  (38.5)  (10)%  (99.6)  (90.1)  11 %

Losses incurred, net  $ 60.9  $ 76.5  (20)%  $ 192.5  $ 248.5  (23)%

Loss Ratio  25.7%  32.0%    27.9%  37.1%   

Quarterly results
Losses incurred, net in the third quarter of 2016 decreased 20%

as losses incurred on defaults that occurred in the current year
declined compared to the same period in the prior year, offset in part
by a lower level of favorable prior year reserve development.

Losses and LAE incurred on defaults that occurred in the current
year declined due to:

• a 10% reduction in new notices received as new notices
received in the third quarter of 2016 were 17,607 compared to
19,509 in the same period of the prior year, and

• a lower claim rate applied to new notices received. The claim
rate applied to new notices was approximately 12% in the third
quarter of 2016 compared to approximately 13% in same
period of the prior year.

 Losses and LAE incurred on defaults that occurred in prior years
reflects favorable prior years’ development due to:

• a lower claim rate on previously reported defaults and on our
IBNR in the third quarter of 2016 and a lower claim rate on
previously reported defaults in the third quarter of 2015. The
favorable development resulting from a decrease in our
estimated claim rate was higher in the third quarter of 2015
compared to 2016, resulting in a decrease in the favorable
impact on our losses incurred, net compared to the prior year.

The decline in the loss ratio compared to the prior year was
primarily due to a lower level of losses incurred, net.

Year to date results
Losses incurred, net in the first nine months of 2016, decreased

23% as losses incurred on defaults that occurred in the current year
declined and prior years favorable reserve development increased
compared to the same period in the prior year.
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Losses and LAE incurred on defaults that occurred in the current
year declined due to:

• a 10% reduction in new notices received as new notices
received in the first nine months of 2016 were 50,418
compared to 55,856 in the same period of the prior year.

The claim rate applied to new notices through the first nine
months of both 2016 and 2015 was approximately 13%, but
generally ranged from 12% to 13% quarter to quarter with notices
received early in the year generally having a claim rate at the lower
end of the range due to seasonal factors.

Losses and LAE incurred on defaults that occurred in prior years
reflects favorable prior years’ development due to:

• a lower claim rate on previously reported defaults and on our
estimate of IBNR in the first nine months of 2016 and a lower
claim rate on previously reported delinquencies in the first nine
months of 2015. The first nine months of 2015 was also
favorably impacted by $21 million due to re-estimation of
previously recorded reserves relating to disputes on our
claims paying practices and adjustments to IBNR. The
favorable claim rate development was modestly higher in the
2016 period compared to 2015.

• The claim rate development was offset in part by adverse
development in our claims severity estimates on previously
reported defaults in each of the first nine months of 2016 and
2015 with the adverse impact being slightly higher in the 2016
period.

The decline in the loss ratio from the prior year period was due
to a lower level of losses incurred, net, and a higher level of net
premiums earned.

See “Claims severity” below for the recent quarters’ changes in
our claims severity estimates.

Historically, losses incurred have followed a seasonal trend in
which the second half of the year has weaker credit performance
than the first half, with higher new notice activity and a lower cure
rate.

Loans insured in 2008 and prior continue to represent a
substantial portion of our new notices received each quarter, with
many new notices previously having been reported delinquent. For
the first nine months of 2016, loans insured in 2008 and prior
represented approximately 88% of the new notices received and
90% of those notices were previously delinquent. For the first nine
months of 2015, loans insured in 2008 and prior represented
approximately 93% of the new notices received and 88% of those
notices were previously delinquent. As a result of this cycle in which
loans default, cure, and re-default, along with the duration defaults
may ultimately remain in our notice inventory, significant judgment is
required in establishing the ultimate claim rate and it is expected to
cause variability in our loss reserves in future periods.
Claims severity

 The positive loss reserve development related to the claim rate
on default notices received in prior years in the first nine months of
2016 and 2015 was partially offset by increases in our expected
severity assumption on prior year notices. As shown in the following
table, the average claim paid, expressed as a percentage of our
exposure (the unpaid principal balance of the loan times our
insurance coverage percentage), following periods of relative
stability had increased in recent quarters prior to the second quarter
of 2016. Our loss reserve estimates take into consideration trends
over time, because the development of the delinquencies may vary
from period to period without establishing a meaningful trend.

Note: Table excludes material settlements(1).

Period  

Average
exposure on
claim paid  

Average claim
paid  

% Paid to
exposure  

Average
number of

missed
payments at

claim
received date

Q3 2016  $ 43,747  $ 48,050  109.8%  34

Q2 2016  43,709  47,953  109.7%  35

Q1 2016  44,094  49,281  111.8%  34

         
Q4 2015  44,342  49,134  110.8%  35

Q3 2015  44,159  48,156  109.1%  33

Q2 2015  44,683  48,587  108.7%  34

Q1 2015  44,403  47,366  106.7%  33

         
Q4 2014  44,321  46,714  105.4%  32

Q3 2014  43,769  45,849  104.8%  30

Q2 2014  43,402  45,531  104.9%  30

Q1 2014  43,711  45,897  105.0%  28

         
Q4 2013  44,923  47,072  104.8%  26

Q3 2013  44,163  45,706  103.5%  25

Q2 2013  43,990  45,340  103.1%  24

Q1 2013  45,458  47,421  104.3%  22

(1) - Settlements include amounts paid for claims paying practices and
nonperforming loan (“NPL”) sales.

The average exposure (which, in the case of delinquent loans
that have not been filed as claims, may change if different
information is received from servicers) on items remaining in our
default inventory at September 30, 2016 is $44,790. The average
number of missed payments on items remaining in our default
inventory at September 30, 2016 is 20.

Factors that impact claim severity include the exposure on the
loan, the amount of time between default and claim filing (which
impacts the amount of interest and expenses) and curtailments. All
else being equal, the longer the period between default and claim
filing, the greater the severity. The majority of loans from 2005-2008
(which represent the majority of loans in the delinquent inventory)
are covered by master policy terms that, except under certain
circumstances, do not limit the
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number of years that an insured can include interest when filing a
claim if they comply with their obligations under the terms of the
master policy.

See Note 12 – “Loss Reserves” to our consolidated financial
statements for a discussion of our losses incurred and claims paying
practices.

The primary average claim paid can vary materially from period
to period based upon a variety of factors, including the local market
conditions, average loan amount, average coverage percentage, the
amount of time between default and claim filing, and our loss
mitigation efforts on loans for which claims are paid.

The primary average claim paid for the top 5 states (based on
2016 paid claims, excluding settlement amounts) for the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 appears in the
following table.

Primary average claim paid

 
Three Months Ended

September 30,  
Nine Months Ended

September 30,

 2016  2015  2016  2015

Florida 58,540  59,409  61,065  58,299

New Jersey 82,061  75,956  81,949  72,543

Illinois 53,620  52,077  50,004  50,226

New York 84,634  66,863  73,150  68,792

Maryland 65,978  77,196  72,639  75,092

All other jurisdictions 40,400  41,272  40,824  40,949

        
All jurisdictions 48,050  48,156  48,449  47,614

Note: Jurisdictions in italics in the table above are those that predominately
use a judicial foreclosure process, which generally increases the amount of
time it takes for a foreclosure to be completed.

The primary average exposure of our primary risk in force at
September 30, 2016, December 31, 2015 and September 30, 2015
and for the top 5 jurisdictions (based on 2016 paid claims, excluding
settlement amounts) appears in the following table.

Primary average exposure

 September 30, 2016  
December 31,

2015  
September 30,

2015

Florida $ 49,714  $ 49,095  $ 48,817

New Jersey 63,146  62,496  62,417

Illinois 40,732  40,368  40,283

New York 51,845  50,964  50,856

Maryland 63,652  62,912  62,954

All other
jurisdictions 46,160  44,887  44,526

All jurisdictions $ 46,983  $ 45,820  $ 45,494

 The primary default inventory by policy year at September 30,
2016, December 31, 2015 and September 30, 2015 appears in the
following table.

Primary default inventory by policy year

 
September 30,

2016  
December 31,

2015  
September 30,

2015

Policy year:      

2004 and prior 11,753  14,599  15,376

2005 6,113  7,890  8,283

2006 9,698  11,853  12,320

2007 16,088  20,000  20,619

2008 4,236  5,418  5,527

2009 412  515  529

2010 213  274  285

2011 239  246  245

2012 357  388  384

2013 644  615  530

2014 1,008  672  485

2015 597  163  59

2016 75  —  —

Total primary default
inventory 51,433  62,633  64,642

Our results of operations continue to be negatively impacted by
the mortgage insurance we wrote during 2005 through 2008.
Although uncertainty remains with respect to the ultimate losses we
may experience on these books of business, as we continue to write
new insurance on high-quality mortgages, those books have
become a smaller percentage of our total portfolio, and we expect
this trend to continue. Our 2005 through 2008 books of business
represented approximately 27% and 32% of our total primary risk in
force at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.
Approximately 37% and 36% of the remaining primary risk in force
on our 2005-2008 books of business benefited from HARP as of
September 30, 2016 and as of December 31, 2015, respectively.

On our primary business, the highest claim frequency years
have typically been the third and fourth year after the year of loan
origination. However, the pattern of claim frequency can be affected
by many factors, including persistency and deteriorating economic
conditions. Low persistency can accelerate the period in the life of a
book during which the highest claim frequency occurs. Deteriorating
economic conditions can result in increasing claims following a
period of declining claims. As of September 30, 2016, 51% of our
primary risk in force was written subsequent to December 31, 2013,
59% of our primary risk in force was written subsequent to
December 31, 2012, and 65% of our primary risk in force was written
subsequent to December 31, 2011.
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The primary default inventory for the top 15 jurisdictions (based
on 2016 losses paid, excluding settlement amounts) at
September 30, 2016, December 31, 2015 and September 30, 2015
appears in the following table.

Primary default inventory by jurisdiction

 
September 30,

2016  
December 31,

2015  
September 30,

2015

Florida 4,372  5,903  6,387

New Jersey 2,756  3,498  3,601

Illinois 2,744  3,301  3,519

New York 3,269  3,901  4,037

Maryland 1,328  1,609  1,653

Pennsylvania 2,997  3,574  3,679

California 1,592  2,019  2,107

Ohio 2,637  3,209  3,169

Washington 811  1,049  1,093

Virginia 896  1,109  1,086

Puerto Rico 1,974  2,221  2,310

Michigan 1,522  1,877  1,975

Massachusetts 1,158  1,390  1,447

Connecticut 678  832  895

Georgia 1,861  2,225  2,255

All other jurisdictions 20,838  24,916  25,429

Total primary default
inventory 51,433  62,633  64,642

Note: Jurisdictions in italics in the table above are those that predominately
use a judicial foreclosure process, which generally increases the amount of
time it takes for a foreclosure to be completed.

 Information about net losses paid during the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 appears in the
following table.

Net losses paid

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,  
Nine Months Ended

September 30,

(In millions)  2016  2015  2016  2015

Total primary (excluding
settlements)  $ 147  $ 190  $ 466  $ 603

Rescission and NPL
settlements(1)  1  —  52  10

Pool (2)  14  17  42  52

Other  —  —  —  —

Direct losses paid  162  207  560  665

Reinsurance  (5)  (5)  (19)  (21)

Net losses paid  157  202  541  644

LAE  4  5  14  17

Net losses and LAE paid
before terminations  161  207  555  661

Reinsurance terminations  (3)  (15)  (3)  (15)

Net losses and LAE paid  $ 158  $ 192  $ 552  $ 646

(1) See Note 12 - “Loss Reserves” for additional information on our
settlements for claims paying practices and NPL sales.  

(2) The three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 each include $11
million and the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 each
include $32 million paid under the terms of the settlement with Freddie
Mac.
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Primary claims paid for the top 15 jurisdictions (based on 2016
losses paid, excluding settlement amounts) and all other jurisdictions
for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015
appears in the following table.

Paid losses by jurisdiction

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,  
Nine Months Ended

September 30,

(In millions)  2016  2015  2016  2015

Florida  $ 19  $ 36  69  $ 125

New Jersey  14  13  45  31

Illinois  10  12  33  47

New York  11  8  27  22

Maryland  7  11  23  35

Pennsylvania  7  9  21  26

California  7  10  20  31

Ohio  6  7  16  21

Washington  4  8  13  20

Virginia  4  5  12  13

Puerto Rico  3  3  11  10

Michigan  3  4  11  13

Massachusetts  4  4  11  11

Connecticut  3  4  10  14

Georgia  3  4  10  15

All other jurisdictions  42  52  134  169

  147  190  466  603
Rescission and NPL
settlements(1)  1  —  52  10

Other (Pool, LAE,
Reinsurance)  10  2  34  33

Net losses and LAE paid  $ 158  $ 192  $ 552  $ 646

(1) See Note 12 - “Loss Reserves” for additional information on our
settlements for claims paying practices and NPL sales.

We believe losses paid will continue to decline in the remainder
of 2016 compared to the prior year.

 The primary and pool loss reserves at September 30, 2016,
December 31, 2015 and September 30, 2015 appear in the table
below.

Gross Reserves
 

September 30,
2016  

December 31,
2015  

September 30,
2015

Primary:       
Direct loss reserves (in
millions)  $ 1,408  $ 1,681  $ 1,745

IBNR and LAE  85  126  132

Total primary loss
reserves  $ 1,493  $ 1,807  $ 1,877

Ending default
inventory  51,433  62,633  64,642

Percentage of loans
delinquent (default rate)  5.16%  6.31%  6.54%

Average total primary
loss reserves per
default  $ 29,027  $ 28,859  $ 29,032

Primary claims received
inventory included in
ending default inventory  1,636  2,769  2,982

Pool(1):       

Direct loss reserves (in
millions):       

With aggregate loss
limits  $ 24  $ 34  $ 40

Without aggregate
loss limits  8  9  9

Reserve related to
Freddie Mac
Settlement(2)  10  42  52

Total pool direct loss
reserves  $ 42  $ 85  $ 101

Ending default
inventory:       

With aggregate loss
limits  1,456  2,126  2,282

Without aggregate
loss limits  523  613  668

Total pool ending
default inventory  1,979  2,739  2,950

Pool claims received
inventory included in
ending default inventory  87  60  75

Other gross reserves
(in millions)  $ —  $ 1  $ 2

(1) Since a number of our pool policies include aggregate loss limits and/or
deductibles, we do not disclose an average direct reserve per default
for our pool business.

(2) See our Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on November 30, 2012 for a discussion of our settlement with Freddie
Mac regarding a pool policy.
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Underwriting and other expenses

  Three Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,

(In millions)  2016  2015  Change  2016  2015  Change

Other underwriting and operating expenses, net  $ 37.9  $ 46.1  (18)%  $ 113.0  $ 121.2  (7)%

Underwriting expense ratio(1)  14.7%  14.4%    15.1%  15.2%   

(1) The underwriting expense ratio is the ratio, expressed as a percentage, of the underwriting and operating expenses, net and amortization of deferred
policy acquisition costs of our combined insurance operations (which excludes underwriting and operating expenses of our non-insurance operations) to
net premiums written.

Quarterly results
Underwriting and other expenses decreased primarily due to the

return of ceding commissions in 2015 to reinsurers as a result of
commuting our 2013 QSR Transaction.

The increase in the underwriting expense ratio compared to the
prior year was primarily due to an increase in compensation related
expenses. The expense ratio for the third quarter of 2015 includes
the impact of commuting our 2013 QSR Transaction, which had the
effect of increasing the underwriting expense ratio in that period.

 
Year to date results

Underwriting and other expenses decreased primarily due to the
return of ceding commissions in 2015 to reinsurers as a result of
commuting our 2013 QSR Transaction.

The underwriting expense ratio was relatively stable compared
to the prior year period.

Interest expense

 Three Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,

(In millions)  2016  2015  Change  2016  2015  Change

Interest expense  $ 13.5  $ 17.4  (22)%  $ 40.5  $ 52.1  (22)%

Quarterly & Year to date results
Interest expense decreased in both the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the respective prior year periods

reflecting the following:

Reductions to interest expense:

• maturity of our 5.375% Senior Notes in November of 2015,
• repurchase of $188.5 million in par value of our 5% Notes in the

first half of 2016,
• repurchase by MGIC of $132.7 million in par value of our 9%

Debentures, which are eliminated in consolidation, in the first
quarter of 2016,

• repurchase of $292.4 million in par value of our 2% Notes in the
third quarter of 2016.

 Increases to interest expense:

• MGIC borrowed $155.0 million in the form of a fixed rate
advance from the Federal Home Loan Bank in the first quarter of
2016, and

• we issued $425 million aggregate principal of 5.75% Senior
Notes in the third quarter of 2016.

See “Note 3 - Debt” for a further description of all of our 2016
debt transactions.
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Loss on debt extinguishment

  Three Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,

(In millions)  2016  2015  Change  2016  2015  Change

Loss on debt extinguishment  $ 75.2  $ —  N/M  $ 90.5  $ —  N/M

Quarterly results
Loss on debt extinguishment in the third quarter was driven by

the repurchase of a portion of our 2% Notes in the third quarter of
2016 for which we paid consideration in excess of the carrying value
of the notes repurchased. The loss also includes the write-off of
unamortized debt issuance costs on the extinguished portion of the
outstanding 2% Notes.

 Year to date results
Loss on debt extinguishment during the first nine months was

primarily due to the repurchase of a portion of our 2% Notes in the
third quarter of 2016 for which we paid consideration in excess of
the carrying value of the notes repurchased. The loss also includes
the write-off of debt issuance costs on the extinguished portion of
the outstanding 2% Notes. In addition, during the first half of 2016,
we repurchased a portion of our 5% Notes and MGIC purchased a
portion of our 9% Debentures, which were each completed at a cost
in excess of the respective carrying values. The 9% Debentures held
by MGIC are eliminated in consolidation.

See “Note 3 - Debt” for a further description of all of our 2016
debt transactions.

Income taxes

  Three Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,

(In millions, except rate)  2016  2015  Change  2016  2015  Change

Income before tax  $ 83.7  $ 127.2  (34)%  $ 352.7  $ 378.7  (7)%

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes  $ 27.1  $ (695.6)  N/M  $ 117.6  $ (690.9)  N/M

Effective tax provision (benefit) rate  32.4%  (546.9)%  N/M  33.3%  (182.4)%  N/M

Quarterly results
Income tax expense for the third quarter increased compared to

the same period in the prior year. This change is primarily due to the
reversal of our deferred tax valuation allowance in the third quarter
of 2015 and because we were required to establish a full tax
provision position in 2016. The difference between our statutory tax
rate of 35% and our effective tax provision rate of 32.4% for the third
quarter of 2016 was primarily due to the benefits of tax preferenced
securities. The difference between our statutory tax rate of 35% and
our effective tax (benefit) rate of (546.9)% for the third quarter of
2015 was primarily due to the impact of the changes in our overall
valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets.

 Year to date results
Income tax expense for the first nine months of 2016 increased

compared to the same period in the prior year. This change is
primarily due to the reversal of our deferred tax valuation allowance
in the third quarter of 2015 and because we were required to
establish a full tax provision position in 2016. The difference
between our statutory tax rate of 35% and our effective tax provision
rate of 33.3% for the first nine months of 2016 was primarily due to
the benefits of tax preferenced securities. The difference between
our statutory tax rate of 35% and our effective tax (benefit) rate of
(182.4)% was primarily due to the impact of the changes in our
overall valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets.

See Note 11 – “Income Taxes” to our consolidated financial
statements for a discussion of our tax position.
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FINANCIAL CONDITION

Investments

• Investment Portfolio 2016 Summary

◦ Investments totaled $4.73 billion as of September 30, 2016,
increasing from $4.66 billion as of December 31, 2015.

◦ Unrealized net capital gains totaled $116.3 million as of
September 30, 2016 compared to unrealized net capital losses
of $26.6 million as of December 31, 2015.

◦ Net investment income was $27.5 million in the third quarter of
2016, an increase of 6% from $25.9 million in the third quarter
of 2015, and $82.6 million in the first nine months of 2016, an
increase of 9% from $75.8 million in the first nine months of
2015.

◦ Net realized investment gains totaled $5.1 million in the third
quarter of 2016 compared to $0.6 million in the third quarter of
2015 and $9.0 million in the first nine months of 2016 compared
to $27.1 million in the first nine months of 2015.

• Investment Portfolio Composition

As of September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, our
investment portfolio was primarily made up of fixed maturity
securities. Total investments increased by $62.6 million during the
first nine months of 2016 from the prior year end primarily due to
increase in fair values, which was offset in part by the sale of
investments to repurchase of a portion of our 5% Notes in the first
half of 2016. At September 30, 2016, based on fair value, 99.7% of
our fixed maturity securities were investment grade securities. The
ratings shown in the following chart are provided by one or more of:
Moody’s, Standard & Poor’s and Fitch Ratings. If three ratings are
available the middle rating is utilized, otherwise the lowest rating is
utilized. Approximately 2% of our investment portfolio, excluding
cash and cash equivalents, is guaranteed by financial guarantors.
As of September 30, 2016, less than 1% of our fixed maturity
securities relied on financial guaranty insurance to elevate their
rating.

 The composition of our fixed maturity security ratings, based on
fair value, at September 30, 2016, December 31, 2015 and
September 30, 2015 is shown in the chart below.

Loss Reserves

Loss reserves are the primary liability on our balance sheet and
they represent our estimated liability for losses and settlement
expenses under MGIC’s mortgage guaranty insurance policies,
before considering offsetting reinsurance balances recoverable. The
loss reserves can be split into two parts: (1) reserves representing
estimates of losses and settlement expenses on known
delinquencies and (2) IBNR reserves representing estimates of
losses and settlement expenses on delinquencies that have
occurred but have not yet been reported to us. Our gross liability for
both is reduced by reinsurance balances recoverable on our
estimated losses and settlement expenses to calculate a net reserve
balance. The net reserve balance decreased by 19% to $1.49
billion as of September 30, 2016, from $1.85 billion as
of December 31, 2015. Reinsurance balances recoverable on our
estimated losses and settlement expenses, which serve to offset our
loss reserves, were $46.9 million and $44.5 million as of
September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively. The
overall decrease in our loss reserves during the first nine months of
2016 was due to a higher level of losses paid ($552.8 million)
relative to losses incurred ($192.5 million).
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Debt
As shown in the table below, during the first nine months of 2016

we executed several transactions that reduced our aggregated
principal amount of outstanding debt obligations by $33.5 million.

2016 changes in long-term debt obligations

(in millions, except ratios)  

Long-term
debt,

par value  

Ratio of long-
term debt to

shareholders’
equity  Transaction

Long-term debt at
December 31, 2015  $ 1,223.0  54.7%   

For the three months
ended March 31, 2016:       

+ Advance from FHLB
(1)  155.0    

Secured Advance from
FHLB to MGIC

– 9% Debentures
repurchase (1)  (132.6)    

Purchased by MGIC
with funds from the
Advance

– 5% Notes
repurchase  (138.3)    

Repurchased with
holding company cash
on hand

Long-term debt at March
31, 2016  $ 1,107.1  47.2%   
For the three months
ended June 30, 2016:       

– 5% Notes
repurchase  (50.2)    

Repurchased with
holding company cash
on hand

Long-term debt at June
30, 2016  $ 1,056.9  42.1%   
For the three months
ended September 30,
2016:       

+ 5.75% Notes
issuance  425.0    

Issued Senior Notes due
2023

– 2% Notes
repurchase

 

(292.4)

   

Repurchased with funds
from our 5.75% Notes
issuance and issuance
of common stock

Long-term debt at
September 30, 2016  $ 1,189.5  46.0%   

(1) The borrowing from the FHLB and repurchase of our 9% Debentures
were transactions executed by MGIC. The 9% Debentures are deemed
extinguished on our consolidated financial statements, but remain
outstanding as obligations owed by us to MGIC.

See Note 3 - “Debt” to our consolidated financial statements for
the scheduled maturities of our outstanding debt and additional
disclosures regarding our debt as of September 30, 2016.

53 | MGIC Investment Corporation - Q3 2016



Table of contents

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Cash Flows

We have three primary types of cash flows: (1) operating cash
flows, which consist mainly of cash generated by our insurance
operations and income earned on our investment portfolio, less
amounts paid for claims, debt repurchase activity, interest expense
and operating expenses, (2) investing cash flows related to the
purchase, sale and maturity of investments and (3) financing cash
flows generally from activities that impact our capital structure, such
as changes in debt and shares outstanding. The following table
summarizes our consolidated cash flows from operating, investing
and financing activities:

  
Nine Months Ended September

30,

(In thousands)  2016  2015

Total cash provided by:     

Operating activities  31,629  135,031

Investing activities  45,973  49,510

Financing activities  16,021  2,113

Increase in cash and cash equivalents  $ 93,623  $ 186,654

Net cash provided by operating activities for the nine months
ended September 30, 2016 decreased compared to the same period
of 2015 primarily due to the commutation of our 2013 QSR
transaction and corresponding settlement in the third quarter of 2015
for which we received return payment for written premiums
previously ceded by us and received payment of our profit
commission accrued during the term of the agreement. In addition,
we repurchased a portion of our debt obligations during 2016 that
included amounts paid for original issue discounts on the
extinguished portion of the outstanding obligations. The decrease
was offset in part by a lower level of losses paid in 2016.

Net cash from investing activities for the nine months ended
September 30, 2016 decreased when compared to the same period
of 2015, primarily due to a decrease in unsettled security purchase
activity in 2016 compared to the prior year and changes in restricted
cash in 2015. These decreases were offset in part by lower
reinvestment of proceeds from sales and maturity of fixed maturity
securities as a portion of the proceeds were utilized to fund debt
repurchases in 2016. In addition, net proceeds from sales of equity
securities increased in 2016.

Net cash provided by financing activities for the nine months
ended September 30, 2016 includes the net proceeds from the
issuance of our 5.75% Notes and the Advance from the FHLB, less
amounts paid to purchase portions of our outstanding 5% and 2%
Notes, our 9% Debentures, and to repurchase common stock issued
as partial consideration of our 2% Notes repurchases. We also paid
expenses associated with our 5.75% Notes issuance.

 Capital Structure

Debt at Our Holding Company and Holding Company Capital
Resources

The Convertible Senior Notes and Convertible Junior
Subordinated Debentures are obligations of our holding company,
MGIC Investment Corporation, and not of its subsidiaries. The
payment of dividends from our insurance subsidiaries, which other
than investment income and raising capital in the public markets is
the principal source of our holding company cash inflow, is restricted
by insurance regulation. MGIC is the principal source of dividend-
paying capacity and Office of the Commissioner of Insurance of the
State of Wisconsin (the “OCI”) authorization is required for MGIC to
pay dividends.  In each of the first three quarters of 2016 MGIC
received approval from the OCI to pay a $16 million dividend to our
holding company, which were paid in April, June, and September
respectively, its first dividends since 2008. We expect to continue to
receive quarterly dividends from MGIC; however, any additional
dividends require approval from the OCI.

2016 Debt transactions:

• 5.75% Senior Notes

In August 2016, we issued $425 million of 5.75% Senior
Notes due 2023 and received net proceeds of $418.1 million.
The following table outlines the use of funds received from the
issuance through September 30, 2016.

  
Cash

proceeds (uses)

Issuance of 5.75% Senior Notes  $ 418.1

Purchases of 2% Notes   

– cash consideration paid to sellers  (230.7)

– repurchases of common stock issued as
consideration to certain sellers  (91.6)

Cash paid as of September 30, 2016  (322.3)

– repurchases of common stock issued as
consideration to certain sellers, with settlement
after September 30, 2016  (16.5)

Cash paid or committed to use as of September 30,
2016  (338.8)

Cash available for use as of September 30, 2016  $ 79.3

In October 2016, we purchased the remaining 4.8 million
shares issued as partial consideration for our 2% Notes
repurchases at a weighted average price of $8.08, resulting in
additional cash use of approximately $39 million. The funds
remaining are being held for general corporate purposes.
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• 2% Convertible Senior Notes

In August 2016, we purchased $292.4 million in par value of
our 2% Notes at a purchase price of $362.1 million, plus accrued
interest using a combination of net proceeds from our 5.75%
Senior Notes issuance, together with, in certain cases, shares of
MGIC Investment Corporation’s common stock.

• 5% Convertible Senior Notes

During the first nine months of 2016, we purchased $188.5
million in par value of our 5% Notes at a purchase price of
$195.5 million, plus accrued interest using funds held at our
holding company.

• 9% Convertible Junior Subordinated Debentures

In February 2016, MGIC purchased $132.7 million of par
value of our 9% Debentures at a purchase price of $150.7
million, plus accrued interest. The 9% Debentures are not
extinguished; MGIC will hold them as an asset and will receive
interest on them at the same time interest is paid to other
holders of the 9% Debentures. In this regard, the 9%
Debentures will continue to be a use of holding company
liquidity. However, for GAAP accounting purposes, the 9%
Debentures owned by MGIC will be considered retired and will
be eliminated in our consolidated financial statements resulting
in interest expense on the statement of operations that is lower
than the cash payments due from our holding company.

We may from time to time continue to seek to acquire our debt
obligations through cash purchases and/or exchanges for other
securities. We may do this in open market purchases, privately
negotiated acquisitions or other transactions. The amounts involved
may be material.

Debt at our Holding Company

At September 30, 2016, we had approximately $329 million in
cash and investments at our holding company. As of September 30,
2016, our holding company’s debt obligations were $1,168 million in
par value, which consisted of the following obligations:

• $425 million of 5.75% Senior Notes due 2023, with an annual
interest cost of $24 million;

• $145 million of 5% Convertible Senior Notes due 2017, with an
annual interest cost of $7 million;

• $208 million of 2% Convertible Senior Notes due 2020, with an
annual interest cost of $4 million;

• $390 million of 9% Convertible Junior Subordinated Debentures
due 2063 (of which approximately $133 million is held by MGIC),
with an annual interest cost of $35 million (of which
approximately $12 million is payable to MGIC). See “2016 Debt
transactions” above for the accounting treatment of the
debentures held by MGIC.

 Subject to certain limitations and restrictions, holders of each of
the convertible debt issues may convert their notes into shares of
our common stock at their option prior to certain dates under the
terms of their issuance, in which case our corresponding obligation
will be eliminated.

See Note 8 – “Debt” to our consolidated financial statements in
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2015 for additional information about our convertible debt, including
our option to defer interest on our 9% Debentures. Any deferred
interest compounds at the stated rate of 9%. The description in Note
8 - “Debt” to our consolidated financial statements in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K is qualified in its entirety by the terms of the
notes and debentures.

Debt at our subsidiaries

In February 2016, MGIC borrowed $155.0 million in the form of a
fixed rate advance from the FHLB (the “Advance”) to provide funds
used to purchase the 9% Debentures. Interest on the Advance is
payable monthly at an annual rate, fixed for the term of the Advance,
of 1.91%. The principal of the Advance matures on February 10,
2023. MGIC may prepay the Advance at any time. Such prepayment
would be below par if interest rates have risen after the Advance
was originated, or above par if interest rates have declined. The
Advance is secured by eligible collateral whose market value must
be maintained at 102% of the principal balance of the Advance.
MGIC provided eligible collateral from its investment portfolio.

Capital Contributions to Subsidiaries

We may also contribute funds to our insurance operations to
comply with the PMIERs or the State Capital Requirements. See
“Overview - Capital” above for a discussion of these requirements.
See discussion of our non-insurance contract underwriting services
in Note 5 – “Litigation and Contingencies” to our consolidated
financial statements.

PMIERs

Substantially all of our insurance written since 2008 has been for
loans purchased by the GSEs. The PMIERs of the GSEs include
financial requirements that require a mortgage insurer’s “Available
Assets” (generally only the most liquid assets of an insurer) to equal
or exceed its “Minimum Required Assets” (which are based on an
insurer’s book and are calculated from tables of factors with several
risk dimensions and are subject to a floor amount).

Based on our interpretation of the PMIERs, as of September 30,
2016, MGIC’s Available Assets are $4.7 billion and its Minimum
Required Assets are $4.1 billion. MGIC is in compliance with the
requirements of the PMIERs and eligible to insure loans purchased
by the GSEs. Our Available Assets exclude approximately $167.4
million of securities in our investment portfolio pledged under the
terms of the Advance. The investment by MGIC in our 9%
Debentures using funds from the Advance was not included in our
Available Assets at the time of purchase, or in periods subsequent.
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Although we are in compliance with PMIERs as of
September 30, 2016, our capital requirements under PMIERs may
increase in the future because the GSEs have indicated that the
tables of factors used to determine the Minimum Required Assets
will be updated every two years and may be updated more
frequently to reflect changes in macroeconomic conditions or loan
performance. The GSEs will provide notice 180 days prior to the
effective date of table updates. In addition, the GSEs may amend
the PMIERs at any time. We plan to continuously comply with the
existing PMIERs through our operational activities or through the
contribution of funds from our holding company, subject to demands
on the holding company's resources, as outlined above.

Risk-to-Capital

We compute our risk-to-capital ratio on a separate company
statutory basis, as well as for our combined insurance operations.
The risk-to-capital ratio is our net risk in force divided by our
policyholders’ position. Our net risk in force includes both primary
and pool risk in force, and excludes risk on policies that are currently
in default and for which loss reserves have been established. The
risk amount includes pools of loans or bulk deals with contractual
aggregate loss limits and in some cases without these limits.
Policyholders’ position consists primarily of statutory policyholders’
surplus (which increases as a result of statutory net income and
decreases as a result of statutory net loss and dividends paid), plus
the statutory contingency reserve. The statutory contingency reserve
is reported as a liability on the statutory balance sheet. A mortgage
insurance company is required to make annual contributions to the
contingency reserve of approximately 50% of net earned premiums.
These contributions must generally be maintained for a period of ten
years.  However, with regulatory approval a mortgage insurance
company may make early withdrawals from the contingency reserve
when incurred losses exceed 35% of net earned premium in a
calendar year.

MGIC’s separate company risk-to-capital calculation appears in
the table below.

(In millions, except ratio)  
September 30,

2016  
December 31,

2015

Risk in force - net (1)  $ 28,455  $ 27,301

     
Statutory policyholders’ surplus  $ 1,495  $ 1,574

Statutory contingency reserve  1,062  691

Statutory policyholders’ position  $ 2,557  $ 2,265

     
Risk-to-capital  11.1:1  12.1:1

(1) Risk in force – net, as shown in the table above is net of reinsurance
and exposure on policies currently in default for which loss reserves
have been established.

 Our combined insurance companies’ risk-to-capital calculation
appears in the table below.

(In millions, except ratio)  
September 30,

2016  
December 31,

2015

Risk in force - net (1)  $ 34,271  $ 33,072

     
Statutory policyholders’ surplus  $ 1,496  $ 1,608

Statutory contingency reserve  1,225  827

Statutory policyholders’ position  $ 2,721  $ 2,435

     
Risk-to-capital  12.6:1  13.6:1

(1) Risk in force – net, as shown in the table above, is net of reinsurance
and exposure on policies currently in default ($2.7 billion at
September 30, 2016 and $3.2 billion at December 31, 2015) for which
loss reserves have been established.

The decrease in MGIC's and our combined insurance
companies’ risk-to-capital in the first nine months of 2016 reflects the
percentage increase in our net risk in force more than offset by the
percentage increase in our statutory policyholders’ position in both
calculations. Statutory policyholders’ position increased in both
calculations due to increases in our contingency reserves, which
were partially offset by a decrease in surplus as the 9% Debentures
held by MGIC are non-admitted assets. Our risk in force, net of
reinsurance, increased in the first nine months of 2016, due to an
increase in our insurance in force. Our risk-to-capital ratio will
increase if (i) the percentage decrease in capital exceeds the
percentage decrease in insured risk, or (ii) the percentage increase
in capital is less than the percentage increase in insured risk.

For additional information regarding regulatory capital see Note
15 – “Capital Requirements” to our consolidated financial statements
as well as our risk factor titled “State Capital requirements may
prevent us from continuing to write new insurance on an
uninterrupted basis.”

Financial Strength Ratings

The financial strength of MGIC, our principal mortgage
insurance subsidiary, is as follows:

Rating Agency  Rating  Outlook

Moody’s Investor Services  Baa3  Stable

Standard and Poor’s Rating Services’  BBB  Stable

For further information about the importance of MGIC’s ratings,
see our risk factor titled “Competition or changes in our relationships
with our customers could reduce our revenues, reduce our premium
yields and/or, or increase our losses.”

MGIC Investment Corporation - Q3 2016 | 56



Table of contents

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

At September 30, 2016, the approximate future payments under our contractual obligations of the type described in the table below are as
follows:

Contractual Obligations

  Payments due by period

(In millions)  Total  Less than 1 year  1-3 years  3-5 years  
More than 5

years

Long-term debt obligations  $ 2,490.7  $ 207.6  $ 109.4  $ 312.9  $ 1,860.8

Operating lease obligations  2.9  0.7  1.1  1.0  0.1

Tax obligations  20.0  —  20.0  —  —

Purchase obligations  10.6  3.8  6.8  —  —

Pension, SERP and other post-retirement plans  274.9  23.8  46.9  55.2  149.0

Other long-term liabilities  1,535.5  721.7  614.2  199.6  —

Total  $ 4,334.6  $ 957.6  $ 798.4  $ 568.7  $ 2,009.9

Our long-term debt obligations at September 30, 2016 include
$145 million of 5% Convertible Senior Notes due in 2017, $208
million 2% Convertible Senior Notes due in 2020, $425 million
5.75% Senior Notes due in 2023, $155 million of a 1.91% FHLB
advance due in 2023, and $257 million in 9% Convertible Junior
Subordinated Debentures due in 2063, including related interest, as
discussed in Note 3 – “Debt” to our consolidated financial
statements and under “Liquidity and Capital Resources” above. Our
operating lease obligations include operating leases on certain office
space, data processing equipment and autos, as discussed in Note
19 – “Leases” to our consolidated financial statements in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015. Tax
obligations primarily relate to our current dispute with the IRS, as
discussed in Note 11 – “Income Taxes.” Purchase obligations
consist primarily of agreements to purchase data processing
hardware or services made in the normal course of business. See
Note 13 – “Benefit Plans” to our consolidated financial statements in
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2015 for a discussion of expected benefit payments under our
benefit plans.

 Our other long-term liabilities represent the loss reserves
established to recognize the liability for losses and loss adjustment
expenses related to defaults on insured mortgage loans. The timing
of the future claim payments associated with the established loss
reserves was determined primarily based on two key assumptions:
the length of time it takes for a notice of default to develop into a
received claim and the length of time it takes for a received claim to
be ultimately paid. The future claim payment periods are estimated
based on historical experience, and could emerge significantly
different than this estimate. Due to the uncertain impact of certain
factors, such as loss mitigation protocols established by servicers
and changes in some state foreclosure laws it is difficult to estimate
the amount and timing of future claim payments. See Note 12 –
“Loss Reserves” to our consolidated financial statements. In
accordance with GAAP for the mortgage insurance industry, we
establish loss reserves only for loans in default. Because our
reserving method does not take account of the impact of future
losses that could occur from loans that are not delinquent, our
obligation for ultimate losses that we expect to occur under our
policies in force at any period end is not reflected in our financial
statements or in the table above.
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Forward Looking Statements and Risk Factors

General:  Our revenues and losses could be affected by the risk
factors referred to under “Location of Risk Factors” below. These risk
factors are an integral part of Management’s Discussion and Analysis.

These factors may also cause actual results to differ materially
from the results contemplated by forward looking statements that we
may make. Forward looking statements consist of statements which
relate to matters other than historical fact. Among others, statements
that include words such as we “believe,” “anticipate” or “expect,” or
words of similar import, are forward looking statements. We are not
undertaking any obligation to update any forward looking statements
we may make even though these statements may be affected by
events or circumstances occurring after the forward looking
statements were made. Therefore no reader of this document should
rely on these statements being current as of any time other than the
time at which this document was filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

Location of Risk Factors:  The risk factors are in Item 1 A of our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015,
as supplemented by Part II, Item 1 A of our Quarterly Reports on
Form 10-Q for the Quarters ended March 31, 2016 and June 30, 2016
and by Part II, Item 1 A of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The
risk factors in the 10-K, as supplemented by these 10-Qs and through
updating of various statistical and other information, are reproduced in
Exhibit 99 to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Our investment portfolio is essentially a fixed maturity portfolio and
is exposed to market risk. Important drivers of the market risk are
credit spread risk and interest rate risk.

Credit spread risk is the risk that we will incur a loss due to
adverse changes in credit spreads. Credit spread is the additional
yield on fixed maturity securities above the risk-free rate (typically
referenced as the yield on U.S. Treasury securities) that market
participants require to compensate them for assuming credit, liquidity
and/or prepayment risks.

We manage credit risk via our investment policy guidelines which
primarily place our investments in investment grade securities and
limit the amount of our credit exposure to any one issue, issuer and
type of instrument. Guideline and investment portfolio detail is
available in "Business – Section C, Investment Portfolio" in Item 1 of
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2015.

Interest rate risk is the risk that we will incur a loss due to adverse
changes in interest rates relative to the characteristics of our interest
bearing assets.

 One of the measures used to quantify interest rate risk exposure
is modified duration. Modified duration measures the price sensitivity
of the assets to the changes in spreads. At September 30, 2016, the
modified duration of our fixed income investment portfolio was 4.8
years, which means that an instantaneous parallel shift in the yield
curve of 100 basis points would result in a change of 4.8% in the fair
value of our fixed income portfolio. For an upward shift in the yield
curve, the fair value of our portfolio would decrease and for a
downward shift in the yield curve, the fair value would increase. See
Note 7 – “Investments” to our consolidated financial statements for
additional disclosure surrounding our investment portfolio.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our principal executive
officer and principal financial officer, has evaluated our disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended), as of the end of the
period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Based on
such evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial
officer concluded that such controls and procedures were effective as
of the end of such period. There was no change in our internal control
over financial reporting that occurred during the third quarter of 2016
that materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II.  OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1 A. Risk Factors

With the exception of the changes described and set forth
below, there have been no material changes in our risk factors from
the risk factors disclosed in the Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015 as supplemented by Part
II, Item I A of our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the Quarters
ended March 31, 2016 and June 30, 2016. The risk factors in the 10-
K, as supplemented by those 10-Qs and this 10-Q, and through
updating of various statistical and other information, are reproduced in
their entirety in Exhibit 99 to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

We are involved in legal proceedings and are subject to the risk of
additional legal proceedings in the future.

Before paying a claim, we review the loan and servicing files
to determine the appropriateness of the claim amount. All of our
insurance policies provide that we can reduce or deny a claim if the
servicer did not comply with its obligations under our insurance policy.
We call such reduction of claims “curtailments.” In 2015 and the first
three quarters of 2016, curtailments reduced our average claim paid
by approximately 6.7% and 5.4%, respectively.

When reviewing the loan file associated with a claim, we may
determine that we have the right to rescind coverage on the loan. (In
our SEC reports, we refer to insurance rescissions and denials of
claims collectively as “rescissions” and variations of that term.) In
recent quarters, approximately 4% of claims received in a quarter
have been resolved by rescissions, down from the peak of
approximately 28% in the first half of 2009. Our loss reserving
methodology incorporates our estimates of future rescissions,
curtailments, and reversals of rescissions and curtailments. A
variance between ultimate actual rescission, curtailment and reversal
rates and our estimates, as a result of the outcome of litigation,
settlements or other factors, could materially affect our losses.

When the insured disputes our right to curtail claims or
rescind coverage, we generally engage in discussions in an attempt
to settle the dispute. If we are unable to reach a settlement, the
outcome of a dispute ultimately would be determined by legal
proceedings.

Until a liability associated with settlement discussions or legal
proceedings becomes probable and can be reasonably estimated, we
consider our claim payment or rescission resolved for financial
reporting purposes. Under ASC 450-20, an estimated loss from such
discussions and proceedings is accrued for only if we determine that
the loss is probable and can be reasonably estimated. In such cases,
we have recorded our best estimate of our probable loss. If we are not
able to implement settlements we consider probable, we intend to
defend MGIC vigorously against any related legal proceedings.

 
In addition to matters for which we have recorded a probable

loss, we are involved in other discussions and/or proceedings with
insureds with respect to our claims paying practices. Although it is
reasonably possible that when these matters are resolved we will not
prevail in all cases, we are unable to make a reasonable estimate or
range of estimates of the potential liability. We estimate the maximum
exposure associated with matters where a loss is reasonably possible
to be approximately $281 million, although we believe (but can give
no assurance that) we will ultimately resolve these matters for
significantly less than this amount. This estimate of our maximum
exposure does not include interest or consequential or exemplary
damages.

Mortgage insurers, including MGIC, have been involved in
litigation and regulatory actions related to alleged violations of the
anti-referral fee provisions of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures
Act, which is commonly known as RESPA, and the notice provisions
of the Fair Credit Reporting Act, which is commonly known as FCRA.
For MGIC, while these proceedings in the aggregate have not
resulted in material liability, were there to be future proceedings under
these laws, there can be no assurance that the outcome would not
have a material adverse affect on us. In addition, various regulators,
including the CFPB, state insurance commissioners and state
attorneys general may bring other actions seeking various forms of
relief in connection with alleged violations of RESPA. The insurance
law provisions of many states prohibit paying for the referral of
insurance business and provide various mechanisms to enforce this
prohibition. While we believe our practices are in conformity with
applicable laws and regulations, it is not possible to predict the
eventual scope, duration or outcome of any such reviews or
investigations nor is it possible to predict their effect on us or the
mortgage insurance industry.

In addition to the matters described above, we are involved in
other legal proceedings in the ordinary course of business. In our
opinion, based on the facts known at this time, the ultimate resolution
of these ordinary course legal proceedings will not have a material
adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations.

Our holding company debt obligations materially exceed our holding
company cash and investments.

At September 30, 2016, we had approximately $329 million in
cash and investments at our holding company and our holding
company’s debt obligations were $1,168 million in aggregate principal
amount, consisting of $145 million of 5% Notes, $208 million of 2%
Notes, $425 million of 5.75% Senior Notes due in 2023 ("5.75%
Notes"), and $390 million of 9% Debentures (of which approximately
$133 million was purchased by and is held by MGIC, and is
eliminated on the consolidated balance sheet). Annual debt service
on the outstanding holding company debt as of September 30, 2016,
is approximately $71 million (of which approximately $12 million will
be paid to MGIC
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and will be eliminated on the consolidated income statement). For
more information about the purchase by MGIC of a portion of our
outstanding 9% Convertible Junior Subordinated Debentures, see
"Management's Discussion and Analysis – Debt at Our Holding
Company and Holding Company Capital Resources" in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 26, 2016. We
completed a public offering of the 5.75% Notes in August 2016. We
used a portion of the net proceeds from the offering, together with, in
certain cases, shares of our common stock, to purchase
approximately $292 million aggregate principal amount of the 2%
Notes. In the third quarter of 2016, we used a portion of the net
proceeds of the offering to purchase shares of our common stock to
offset a portion of the shares used as partial consideration in the
purchase of the 2% Notes. In October 2016, we purchased the
remaining 4.8 million shares used as partial consideration for our 2%
Notes repurchases. The funds remaining are being held for general
corporate purposes. We may continue to purchase our debt securities
in the future.

The Convertible Senior Notes, Senior Notes and Convertible
Junior Subordinated Debentures are obligations of our holding
company, MGIC Investment Corporation, and not of its subsidiaries.
The payment of dividends from our insurance subsidiaries which,
other than investment income and raising capital in the public
markets, is the principal source of our holding company cash inflow, is
restricted by insurance regulation. MGIC is the principal source of
dividend-paying capacity and OCI authorization is required for MGIC
to pay dividends. In each of April, June and September of 2016,
MGIC paid $16 million dividends to our holding company, its first
dividends since 2008, and we expect to continue to receive quarterly
dividends. If any additional capital contributions to our subsidiaries
were required, such contributions would decrease our holding
company cash and investments. As described in our Current Report
on Form 8-K filed on February 11, 2016, MGIC borrowed $155 million
from the Federal Home Loan Bank of Chicago. This is an obligation of
MGIC and not of our holding company.
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Item 2. Unregistered Sale of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Unregistered sales of equity securities

We entered into privately negotiated agreements with certain holders of the 2% Convertible Senior Notes due 2020 (the “2% Notes”) to
repurchase approximately $292.4 million aggregate principal amount of the outstanding 2% Notes (the “2020 Convertible Purchases”).  These
agreements include those agreements that were disclosed in a Current Report on Form 8-K that the Company filed with the SEC on August 4,
2016. The total consideration paid by the Company in the 2020 Convertible Purchases consists of approximately $230.7 million in cash and
18,313,482 shares of the Company’s common stock.

The exemption claimed for the issuance of shares of common stock in the repurchase transactions described above is Section 3(a)(9) of
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

In the second and third quarters of 2016, we repurchased shares of its common stock to offset the shares used as partial consideration in
the 2020 Convertible Purchases. See “Share repurchases” below.

Share repurchases

The following table sets forth information regarding repurchases made by or on behalf of us of our common stock during the three months
ended September 30, 2016.

Period Beginning  Period Ending  
Total number of shares

purchased  
Average price paid per

share  

Total number of shares
purchased as part of

publicly announced plans
or programs  

Maximum number of
shares that may yet be

purchased under the plans
or programs

July 1, 2016  July 31, 2016  —  $ —  —  —

August 1, 2016  August 31, 2016  2,476,948  $ 8.04  2,476,948  15,836,534

September 1, 2016  September 30, 2016  11,003,693  $ 8.01  11,003,693  4,832,841

    13,480,641  $ 8.02  13,480,641   

(a) On August 5, 2016 we completed our public offering (the “Offering”) of $425 million aggregate principal amount of our 5.75% Senior Notes
due 2023 (the “Notes”). In our Prospectus Supplement for the Offering filed on August 4, 2016 with the SEC, we announced our intention to
use the net proceeds from the Offering, together with, in certain cases, shares of our common stock, to fund the 2020 Convertible
Purchases and also to purchase shares of our common stock to offset the shares issued as partial consideration in the 2020 Convertible
Purchases.

(b) The repurchase plan had no expiration date, however the 18,313,482 shares issued as partial consideration in the 2020 Convertible
Purchases had been repurchased as of October 2016.
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Item 6. Exhibits

The accompanying Index to Exhibits is incorporated by reference
in answer to this portion of this Item, and except as otherwise
indicated in the next sentence, the Exhibits listed in such Index are
filed as part of this Form 10-Q. Exhibit 32 is not filed as part of this
Form 10-Q but accompanies this Form 10-Q.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned thereunto duly authorized, on November 7, 2016.

 MGIC INVESTMENT CORPORATION

  

 /s/ Timothy J. Mattke

 Timothy J. Mattke

 Executive Vice President and

 Chief Financial Officer

  

 /s/ Julie K. Sperber

 Julie K. Sperber

 Vice President, Controller and Chief Accounting Officer
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS
(Part II, Item 6)
 

Exhibit Number Description of Exhibit
4.8 Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 5, 2016, between MGIC Investment Corporation and U.S. Bank National Association (as

successor to Bank One Trust Company, National Association), as Trustee, under the Indenture, dated as of October 15, 2000, between the
Company and the Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Form 8‑K filed August 5, 2016)

  
12 Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

  
31.1 Certification of CEO under Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

  
31.2 Certification of CFO under Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

  
32 Certification of CEO and CFO under Section 906 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (as indicated in Item 6 of Part II, this Exhibit is not being

“filed”)

  
99 Risk Factors included in Item 1A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015, as supplemented by Part II,

Item 1A of our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended March 31, 2016, June 30, 2016, and September 30, 2016, and
through updating of various statistical and other information

  
101 The following financial information from MGIC Investment Corporation’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September

30, 2016, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2016 and
December 31, 2015, (ii) Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, (iii)
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, (iv) Consolidated
Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, (v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, and (vi) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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MGIC INVESTMENT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

(In thousands, except ratio)  
Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2016

   
Net earnings before taxes  $ 352,676

   
Fixed Charges:   

Interest expense  38,090

Amortization of debt expense  2,391

Rent expense (One-Fourth of all rentals, reasonable approximation of the interest factor)  393

Total fixed charges  40,874

   
Net earnings and fixed charges  $ 393,550

   

Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges  9.6



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS

I, Patrick Sinks, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of MGIC Investment Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this quarterly report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this quarterly report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this quarterly report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and we have:

 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this quarterly report is being prepared;

 

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

 

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

 
b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the

registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date:  November 7, 2016

/s/ Patrick Sinks
Patrick Sinks
Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Timothy J. Mattke, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of MGIC Investment Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this quarterly report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this quarterly report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this quarterly report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and we have:

 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this quarterly report is being prepared;

 

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

 

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

 
b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the

registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date:  November 7, 2016

/s/ Timothy J. Mattke
Timothy J. Mattke
Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32

SECTION 1350 CERTIFICATIONS

The undersigned, Patrick Sinks, Chief Executive Officer of MGIC Investment Corporation (the "Company"), and Timothy J. Mattke, Chief Financial Officer
of the Company, certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S. C. Section 1350, that to our knowledge:

(1) the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the three months ended September 30, 2016 (the "Report") fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: November 7, 2016

/s/ Patrick Sinks

Patrick Sinks
Chief Executive Officer
 
/s/ Timothy J. Mattke

Timothy J. Mattke
Chief Financial Officer
 
 



Exhibit 99

Risk Factors included in Item 1A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015, as supplemented by Part II, Item
1A of our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended March 31, 2016, June 30, 2016, and September 30, 2016, and through
updating of various statistical and other information.

Competition or changes in our relationships with our customers could reduce our revenues, reduce our premium yields and / or increase our
losses.

Our private mortgage insurance competitors include:

• Arch Mortgage Insurance Company,

• Essent Guaranty, Inc.,

• Genworth Mortgage Insurance Corporation,

• National Mortgage Insurance Corporation,

• Radian Guaranty Inc., and

• United Guaranty Residential Insurance Company (the parent company of Arch Mortgage Insurance Company has agreed to acquire
United Guaranty Residential Insurance Company in a transaction expected to close in the fourth quarter of 2016 or the first quarter of
2017).

The private mortgage insurance industry is highly competitive and is expected to remain so. We believe that we currently compete with
other private mortgage insurers based on pricing, underwriting requirements, financial strength, customer relationships, name recognition,
reputation, the strength of our management team and field organization, the ancillary products and services provided to lenders (including
contract underwriting services), the depth of our databases covering insured loans and the effective use of technology and innovation in the
delivery and servicing of our mortgage insurance products.

Much of the competition has been centered on pricing practices in the market which have included: (i) reductions in standard filed rates
on borrower-paid policies, (ii) use by certain competitors of a spectrum of filed rates to allow for formulaic, risk-based pricing (commonly
referred to as “black-box” pricing); and (iii) use of customized rates (discounted from published rates) on lender-paid, single premium policies.
The willingness of mortgage insurers to offer reduced pricing (through filed or customized rates) has been met with an increased demand from
various lenders for reduced rate products. This has further intensified pricing competition.

In response to the revised financial requirements contained in the private mortgage insurer eligibility requirements ("PMIERs") of
Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac (the “GSEs”), and reflecting the competitive environment of the private mortgage insurance industry, we changed
our premium rates effective in April 2016. In general, the revisions decreased our filed premium rates on some higher-FICO score loans and
increased our filed premium rates on some lower-FICO score loans. In addition to the revisions to our filed rates, we continue to use the
authority set forth in our rate filings to negotiate customized lender-paid single premium policy rates on a selective basis. We expect that our
current premium rates will put downward pressure on our new insurance written from lower-FICO score loans. We believe our pricing revisions
will allow us to compete more effectively; however, there can be no assurance that pricing competition will not intensify further, which could
result in a decrease in new insurance written and/or returns.

In each of 2015 and the first three quarters of 2016, approximately 5% of our new insurance written was for loans for which one lender
was the original insured. Our relationships with our customers could be adversely affected by a variety of factors, including premium rates
higher than can be obtained from competitors, tightening of and adherence to our underwriting requirements, which may result in our declining
to insure some of the loans originated by our customers, and insurance rescissions and curtailments that affect the customer. We have ongoing
discussions with lenders who are significant customers regarding their objections to our claims paying practices.

Substantially all of our insurance written since 2008 has been for loans purchased by the GSEs. The current PMIERs of the GSEs
require a mortgage insurer to maintain a minimum amount of assets to support its insured risk,



as discussed in our risk factor titled “We may not continue to meet the GSEs’ private mortgage insurer eligibility requirements and our returns
may decrease as we are required to maintain more capital in order to maintain our eligibility.” The PMIERs do not require an insurer to maintain
minimum financial strength ratings. However, a downgrade in our financial strength ratings could have an adverse effect on us in many ways,
including increased scrutiny of our financial condition by our customers, potentially resulting in a decrease in the amount of our new insurance
written. In addition, we believe that financial strength ratings may be a significant consideration for participants seeking to secure credit
enhancement in the non-GSE mortgage market. While this market has been limited since the financial crisis, it may grow in the future. Our
ability to participate in the non-GSE mortgage market could depend on our ability to maintain and improve our investment grade ratings for our
mortgage insurance subsidiaries. We could be competitively disadvantaged with some market participants because the financial strength
ratings of our insurance subsidiaries are lower than those of some competitors. MGIC's financial strength rating from Moody’s is Baa3 (with a
stable outlook) and from Standard & Poor’s is BBB (with a stable outlook). It is possible that MGIC’s financial strength ratings could decline from
these levels.

Financial strength ratings may also play a greater role if the GSEs no longer operate in their current capacities, for example, due to
legislative or regulatory action. In addition, although the PMIERs do not require minimum financial strength ratings, the GSEs consider financial
strength ratings to be important when utilizing forms of credit enhancement other than traditional mortgage insurance, including in the credit risk
transfer offering discussed in our risk factor titled "The amount of insurance we write could be adversely affected if lenders and investors select
alternatives to private mortgage insurance." If we are unable to compete effectively in the current or any future markets as a result of the
financial strength ratings assigned to our insurance subsidiaries, our future new insurance written could be negatively affected.

The amount of insurance we write could be adversely affected if lenders and investors select alternatives to private mortgage insurance.

Alternatives to private mortgage insurance include:

• lenders using FHA, VA and other government mortgage insurance programs,

• lenders and other investors holding mortgages in portfolio and self-insuring,

• investors using risk mitigation and credit risk transfer techniques other than private mortgage insurance, and

• lenders originating mortgages using piggyback structures to avoid private mortgage insurance, such as a first mortgage with an 80%
loan-to-value ratio and a second mortgage with a 10%, 15% or 20% loan-to-value ratio (referred to as 80-10-10, 80-15-5 or 80-20
loans, respectively) rather than a first mortgage with a 90%, 95% or 100% loan-to-value ratio that has private mortgage insurance.

Investors (including the GSEs) have used risk mitigation and credit risk transfer techniques other than private mortgage insurance,
such as obtaining insurance from non-mortgage insurers, engaging in credit-linked note transactions executed in the capital markets, or using
other forms of debt issuances or securitizations that transfer credit risk directly to other investors; using other risk mitigation techniques in
conjunction with reduced levels of private mortgage insurance coverage; or accepting credit risk without credit enhancement. Although the risk
mitigation and credit risk transfer techniques used by the GSEs in the past several years have not displaced primary mortgage insurance, we
cannot predict the impact of future transactions. In the third quarter of 2016, Freddie Mac launched a new credit risk transfer offering that
involved forward credit insurance policies written by a panel of mortgage insurance company affiliates, including an affiliate of MGIC. The
policies provide additional coverage beyond the primary mortgage insurance on 30-year fixed-rate mortgages with 80-95% loan-to-value ratios
("LTVs"). It is difficult to predict the amount of risk that will be insured under such transactions in the future. The amount of capital we have
allocated to this pilot program and the associated premiums are immaterial. Future participation in credit risk transfers will need to be evaluated
based upon the terms offered and expected returns.

The FHA's share of the low down payment residential mortgages that were subject to FHA, VA or primary private mortgage insurance
was an estimated 37.2% in the first half of 2016, compared to 40.2% in 2015 and 33.9% in 2014. In the past ten years, the FHA’s share has
been as low as 15.5% in 2006 and as high as 70.8% in 2009. Factors that influence the FHA’s market share include relative rates and fees,
underwriting guidelines and loan limits of the FHA, VA, private mortgage insurers and the GSEs; flexibility for the FHA to establish new
products as a result of federal legislation and programs; returns expected to be obtained by lenders for Ginnie Mae securitization of FHA-
insured loans compared



to those obtained from selling loans to Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac for securitization; and differences in policy terms, such as the ability of a
borrower to cancel insurance coverage under certain circumstances. We cannot predict how these factors or the FHA’s share of new insurance
written will change in the future.

The VA's share of the low down payment residential mortgages that were subject to FHA, VA or primary private mortgage insurance
was an estimated 27.2% in the first half of 2016, compared to 24.7% in 2015 and 25.4% in 2014 (which had been its highest annual market
share in ten years). The VA’s lowest market share in the past ten years was 5.4% in 2007. We believe that the VA’s market share has generally
been increasing because the VA offers 100% LTV loans and charges a one-time funding fee that can be included in the loan amount but no
additional monthly expense, and because of an increase in the number of borrowers who are eligible for the VA’s program.

Changes in the business practices of the GSEs, federal legislation that changes their charters or a restructuring of the GSEs could reduce our
revenues or increase our losses.

The GSEs’ charters generally require credit enhancement for a low down payment mortgage loan (a loan amount that exceeds 80% of
a home’s value) in order for such loan to be eligible for purchase by the GSEs. Lenders generally have used private mortgage insurance to
satisfy this credit enhancement requirement and low down payment mortgages purchased by the GSEs generally are insured with private
mortgage insurance. As a result, the business practices of the GSEs greatly impact our business and include:

• private mortgage insurer eligibility requirements of the GSEs (for information about the financial requirements included in the PMIERs,
see our risk factor titled “We may not continue to meet the GSEs’ private mortgage insurer eligibility requirements and our returns may
decrease as we are required to maintain more capital in order to maintain our eligibility”),

• the level of private mortgage insurance coverage, subject to the limitations of the GSEs’ charters (which may be changed by federal
legislation), when private mortgage insurance is used as the required credit enhancement on low down payment mortgages,

• the amount of loan level price adjustments and guaranty fees (which result in higher costs to borrowers) that the GSEs assess on loans
that require private mortgage insurance,

• whether the GSEs influence the mortgage lender’s selection of the mortgage insurer providing coverage and, if so, any transactions
that are related to that selection,

• the underwriting standards that determine which loans are eligible for purchase by the GSEs, which can affect the quality of the risk
insured by the mortgage insurer and the availability of mortgage loans,

• the terms on which mortgage insurance coverage can be canceled before reaching the cancellation thresholds established by law,

• the programs established by the GSEs intended to avoid or mitigate loss on insured mortgages and the circumstances in which
mortgage servicers must implement such programs,

• the terms that the GSEs require to be included in mortgage insurance policies for loans that they purchase,

• the extent to which the GSEs intervene in mortgage insurers’ rescission practices or rescission settlement practices with lenders, and

• the maximum loan limits of the GSEs in comparison to those of the FHA and other investors.

The Federal Housing Finance Agency (“FHFA”) is the conservator of the GSEs and has the authority to control and direct their
operations. The increased role that the federal government has assumed in the residential housing finance system through the GSE
conservatorship may increase the likelihood that the business practices of the GSEs change in ways that have a material adverse effect on us
and that the charters of the GSEs are changed by new federal legislation. The financial reform legislation that was passed in July 2010 (the
“Dodd-Frank Act”) required the U.S. Department of the Treasury to report its recommendations regarding options for ending the
conservatorship of the GSEs. This report did not provide any definitive timeline for GSE reform; however, it did recommend using a
combination of federal housing policy changes to wind down the GSEs, shrink the government’s footprint in housing finance (including



FHA insurance), and help bring private capital back to the mortgage market. Since then, members of Congress introduced several bills
intended to change the business practices of the GSEs and the FHA; however, no legislation has been enacted. As a result of the matters
referred to above, it is uncertain what role the GSEs, FHA and private capital, including private mortgage insurance, will play in the residential
housing finance system in the future or the impact of any such changes on our business. In addition, the timing of the impact of any resulting
changes on our business is uncertain. Most meaningful changes would require Congressional action to implement and it is difficult to estimate
when Congressional action would be final and how long any associated phase-in period may last.

We may not continue to meet the GSEs’ private mortgage insurer eligibility requirements and our returns may decrease as we are required to
maintain more capital in order to maintain our eligibility.

We must comply with the PMIERs to be eligible to insure loans purchased by the GSEs. The PMIERs include financial requirements,
as well as business, quality control and certain transaction approval requirements. The financial requirements of the PMIERs require a
mortgage insurer’s “Available Assets” (generally only the most liquid assets of an insurer) to equal or exceed its “Minimum Required Assets”
(which are based on an insurer’s book and are calculated from tables of factors with several risk dimensions and are subject to a floor amount).
Based on our interpretation of the PMIERs, as of September 30, 2016, MGIC’s Available Assets are $4.7 billion and its Minimum Required
Assets are $4.1 billion. MGIC is in compliance with the PMIERs and eligible to insure loans purchased by the GSEs.

If MGIC ceases to be eligible to insure loans purchased by one or both of the GSEs, it would significantly reduce the volume of our new
business writings. Factors that may negatively impact MGIC’s ability to continue to comply with the financial requirements of the PMIERs
include the following:

• The GSEs may reduce the amount of credit they allow under the PMIERs for the risk ceded under our quota share reinsurance
transaction. The GSEs’ ongoing approval of that transaction is subject to several conditions and the transaction will be reviewed under
the PMIERs at least annually by the GSEs. For more information about the transaction, see our risk factor titled “The mix of business
we write affects our Minimum Required Assets under the PMIERs, our premium yields and the likelihood of losses occurring.”

• The GSEs could make the PMIERs more onerous in the future; in this regard, the PMIERs provide that the tables of factors that
determine Minimum Required Assets will be updated every two years and may be updated more frequently to reflect changes in
macroeconomic conditions or loan performance. The GSEs will provide notice 180 days prior to the effective date of table updates. In
addition, the GSEs may amend the PMIERs at any time.

• Our future operating results may be negatively impacted by the matters discussed in the rest of these risk factors. Such matters could
decrease our revenues, increase our losses or require the use of assets, thereby creating a shortfall in Available Assets.

• Should additional capital be needed by MGIC in the future, additional capital contributions from our holding company may not be
available due to competing demands on holding company resources, including for repayment of debt.

While on an overall basis, the amount of Available Assets MGIC must hold in order to continue to insure GSE loans increased under
the PMIERs over what state regulation currently requires, our reinsurance transaction mitigates the negative effect of the PMIERs on our
returns. In this regard, see the first bullet point above.

The benefit of our net operating loss carryforwards may become substantially limited.

As of September 30, 2016, we had approximately $1.6 billion of net operating losses for tax purposes that we can use in certain
circumstances to offset future taxable income and thus reduce our federal income tax liability. Our ability to utilize these net operating losses to
offset future taxable income may be significantly limited if we experience an “ownership change” as defined in Section 382 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). In general, an ownership change will occur if there is a cumulative change in our ownership
by “5-percent shareholders” (as defined in the Code) that exceeds 50 percentage points over a rolling three-year period. A corporation that
experiences an ownership change will generally be subject to an annual limitation on the corporation’s subsequent use of net operating loss
carryovers that arose from pre-ownership change periods and use of losses that are subsequently recognized with respect to assets that had a
built-in-loss on the date of the ownership change. The amount of the annual limitation generally equals the fair value of the corporation
immediately before the ownership change multiplied



by the long-term tax-exempt interest rate (subject to certain adjustments). To the extent that the limitation in a post-ownership-change year is
not fully utilized, the amount of the limitation for the succeeding year will be increased.

While we have adopted our Amended and Restated Rights Agreement to minimize the likelihood of transactions in our stock resulting
in an ownership change, future issuances of equity-linked securities or transactions in our stock and equity-linked securities that may not be
within our control may cause us to experience an ownership change. If we experience an ownership change, we may not be able to fully utilize
our net operating losses, resulting in additional income taxes and a reduction in our shareholders’ equity.

We are involved in legal proceedings and are subject to the risk of additional legal proceedings in the future.

Before paying a claim, we review the loan and servicing files to determine the appropriateness of the claim amount. All of our insurance
policies provide that we can reduce or deny a claim if the servicer did not comply with its obligations under our insurance policy. We call such
reduction of claims “curtailments.” In 2015 and the first three quarters of 2016, curtailments reduced our average claim paid by approximately
6.7% and 5.4%, respectively.

When reviewing the loan file associated with a claim, we may determine that we have the right to rescind coverage on the loan. (In our
SEC reports, we refer to insurance rescissions and denials of claims collectively as “rescissions” and variations of that term.) In recent quarters,
approximately 4% of claims received in a quarter have been resolved by rescissions, down from the peak of approximately 28% in the first half
of 2009. Our loss reserving methodology incorporates our estimates of future rescissions, curtailments, and reversals of rescissions and
curtailments. A variance between ultimate actual rescission, curtailment and reversal rates and our estimates, as a result of the outcome of
litigation, settlements or other factors, could materially affect our losses.

When the insured disputes our right to curtail claims or rescind coverage, we generally engage in discussions in an attempt to settle
the dispute. If we are unable to reach a settlement, the outcome of a dispute ultimately would be determined by legal proceedings.

Until a liability associated with settlement discussions or legal proceedings becomes probable and can be reasonably estimated, we
consider our claim payment or rescission resolved for financial reporting purposes. Under ASC 450-20, an estimated loss from such
discussions and proceedings is accrued for only if we determine that the loss is probable and can be reasonably estimated. In such cases, we
have recorded our best estimate of our probable loss. If we are not able to implement settlements we consider probable, we intend to defend
MGIC vigorously against any related legal proceedings.

In addition to matters for which we have recorded a probable loss, we are involved in other discussions and/or proceedings with
insureds with respect to our claims paying practices. Although it is reasonably possible that when these matters are resolved we will not prevail
in all cases, we are unable to make a reasonable estimate or range of estimates of the potential liability. We estimate the maximum exposure
associated with matters where a loss is reasonably possible to be approximately $281 million, although we believe (but can give no assurance
that) we will ultimately resolve these matters for significantly less than this amount. This estimate of our maximum exposure does not include
interest or consequential or exemplary damages.

Mortgage insurers, including MGIC, have been involved in litigation and regulatory actions related to alleged violations of the anti-
referral fee provisions of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act, which is commonly known as RESPA, and the notice provisions of the
Fair Credit Reporting Act, which is commonly known as FCRA. For MGIC, while these proceedings in the aggregate have not resulted in
material liability, were there to be future proceedings under these laws, there can be no assurance that the outcome would not have a material
adverse affect on us. In addition, various regulators, including the CFPB, state insurance commissioners and state attorneys general may bring
other actions seeking various forms of relief in connection with alleged violations of RESPA. The insurance law provisions of many states
prohibit paying for the referral of insurance business and provide various mechanisms to enforce this prohibition. While we believe our
practices are in conformity with applicable laws and regulations, it is not possible to predict the eventual scope, duration or outcome of any
such reviews or investigations nor is it possible to predict their effect on us or the mortgage insurance industry.

In addition to the matters described above, we are involved in other legal proceedings in the ordinary course of business. In our
opinion, based on the facts known at this time, the ultimate resolution of these ordinary course legal proceedings will not have a material
adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations.



We are subject to comprehensive regulation and other requirements, which we may fail to satisfy.

We are subject to comprehensive, detailed regulation by state insurance departments. These regulations are principally designed for
the protection of our insured policyholders, rather than for the benefit of investors. Although their scope varies, state insurance laws generally
grant broad supervisory powers to agencies or officials to examine insurance companies and enforce rules or exercise discretion affecting
almost every significant aspect of the insurance business. State insurance regulatory authorities could take actions, including changes in
capital requirements, that could have a material adverse effect on us. For more information about state capital requirements, see our risk factor
titled “State capital requirements may prevent us from continuing to write new insurance on an uninterrupted basis.” To the extent that we are
construed to make independent credit decisions in connection with our contract underwriting activities, we also could be subject to increased
regulatory requirements under the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, commonly known as ECOA, the FCRA, and other laws. For more details about
the various ways in which our subsidiaries are regulated, see “Regulation” in Item 1 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on
February 26, 2016. In addition to regulation by state insurance regulators, the CFPB may issue additional rules or regulations, which may
materially affect our business.

In December 2013, the U.S. Treasury Department’s Federal Insurance Office released a report that calls for federal standards and
oversight for mortgage insurers to be developed and implemented. It is uncertain what form the standards and oversight will take and when
they will become effective.

Resolution of our dispute with the Internal Revenue Service could adversely affect us.

As previously disclosed, the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) completed examinations of our federal income tax returns for the years
2000 through 2007 and issued proposed assessments for taxes, interest and penalties related to our treatment of the flow-through income and
loss from an investment in a portfolio of residual interests of Real Estate Mortgage Investment Conduits (“REMICs”). The IRS indicated that it
did not believe that, for various reasons, we had established sufficient tax basis in the REMIC residual interests to deduct the losses from
taxable income. We appealed these assessments within the IRS and in August 2010, we reached a tentative settlement agreement with the
IRS which was not finalized.

In 2014, we received Notices of Deficiency (commonly referred to as “90 day letters”) covering the 2000-2007 tax years. The Notices of
Deficiency reflect taxes and penalties related to the REMIC matters of $197.5 million and at September 30, 2016, there would also be interest
related to these matters of approximately $195.9 million. In 2007, we made a payment of $65.2 million to the United States Department of the
Treasury which will reduce any amounts we would ultimately owe. The Notices of Deficiency also reflect additional amounts due of $261.4
million, which are primarily associated with the disallowance of the carryback of the 2009 net operating loss to the 2004-2007 tax years. We
believe the IRS included the carryback adjustments as a precaution to keep open the statute of limitations on collection of the tax that was
refunded when this loss was carried back, and not because the IRS actually intends to disallow the carryback permanently.

We filed a petition with the U.S. Tax Court contesting most of the IRS’ proposed adjustments reflected in the Notices of Deficiency and
the IRS filed an answer to our petition which continues to assert their claim. The case has twice been scheduled for trial and in each instance,
the parties jointly filed, and the U.S. Tax Court approved (most recently in February 2016), motions for continuance to postpone the trial date.
Also in February 2016, the U.S. Tax Court approved a joint motion to consolidate for trial, briefing, and opinion, our case with similar cases of
Radian Group, Inc., as successor to Enhance Financial Services Group, Inc., et al. Litigation to resolve our dispute with the IRS could be
lengthy and costly in terms of legal fees and related expenses. We can provide no assurance regarding the outcome of any such litigation or
whether a compromised settlement with the IRS will ultimately be reached and finalized. Depending on the outcome of this matter, additional
state income taxes and state interest may become due when a final resolution is reached. As of September 30, 2016, those state taxes and
interest would approximate $50.2 million. In addition, there could also be state tax penalties. Our total amount of unrecognized tax benefits as
of September 30, 2016 is $107.9 million, which represents the tax benefits generated by the REMIC portfolio included in our tax returns that we
have not taken benefit for in our financial statements, including any related interest. We continue to believe that our previously recorded tax
provisions and liabilities are appropriate. However, we would need to make appropriate adjustments, which could be material, to our tax
provision and liabilities if our view of the probability of success in this matter changes, and the ultimate resolution of this matter could have a
material negative impact on our effective tax rate, results of operations, cash flows, available assets and statutory capital. In this regard, see
our risk factors titled “We may not continue to meet the GSEs’ private mortgage insurer eligibility requirements and our returns may decrease



as we are required to maintain more capital in order to maintain our eligibility” and “State capital requirements may prevent us from continuing
to write new insurance on an uninterrupted basis.”

Because we establish loss reserves only upon a loan default rather than based on estimates of our ultimate losses on risk in force, losses may
have a disproportionate adverse effect on our earnings in certain periods.

In accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, commonly referred to as GAAP, we establish
reserves for insurance losses and loss adjustment expenses only when notices of default on insured mortgage loans are received and for loans
we estimate are in default but for which notices of default have not yet been reported to us by the servicers (this is often referred to as “IBNR”).
Because our reserving method does not take account of losses that could occur from loans that are not delinquent, such losses are not
reflected in our financial statements, except in the case where a premium deficiency exists. As a result, future losses on loans that are not
currently delinquent may have a material impact on future results as such losses emerge.

Because loss reserve estimates are subject to uncertainties, paid claims may be substantially different than our loss reserves.

When we establish reserves, we estimate the ultimate loss on delinquent loans using estimated claim rates and claim amounts. The
estimated claim rates and claim amounts represent our best estimates of what we will actually pay on the loans in default as of the reserve date
and incorporate anticipated mitigation from rescissions and curtailments. The establishment of loss reserves is subject to inherent uncertainty
and requires judgment by management. The actual amount of the claim payments may be substantially different than our loss reserve
estimates. Our estimates could be adversely affected by several factors, including a deterioration of regional or national economic conditions,
and an increase in the length of time a loan has been delinquent before a claim is received. The deterioration in conditions may include an
increase in unemployment, reducing borrowers’ income and thus their ability to make mortgage payments, and a decrease in housing values,
which may affect borrower willingness to continue to make mortgage payments when the value of the home is below the mortgage balance.
Changes to our estimates could have a material impact on our future results, even in a stable economic environment. In addition, historically,
losses incurred have followed a seasonal trend in which the second half of the year has weaker credit performance than the first half, with
higher new default notice activity and a lower cure rate.

We rely on our management team and our business could be harmed if we are unable to retain qualified personnel or successfully develop
and/or recruit their replacements.

Our success depends, in part, on the skills, working relationships and continued services of our management team and other key
personnel. The unexpected departure of key personnel could adversely affect the conduct of our business. In such event, we would be required
to obtain other personnel to manage and operate our business. In addition, we will be required to replace the knowledge and expertise of our
aging workforce as our workers retire. In either case, there can be no assurance that we would be able to develop or recruit suitable
replacements for the departing individuals; that replacements could be hired, if necessary, on terms that are favorable to us; or that we can
successfully transition such replacements in a timely manner. We currently have not entered into any employment agreements with our officers
or key personnel. Volatility or lack of performance in our stock price may affect our ability to retain our key personnel or attract replacements
should key personnel depart. Without a properly skilled and experienced workforce, our costs, including productivity costs and costs to replace
employees may increase, and this could negatively impact our earnings.

Loan modification and other similar programs may not continue to provide substantial benefits to us.

The federal government, including through the U.S. Department of the Treasury and the GSEs, and several lenders have modification
and refinance programs to make loans more affordable to borrowers with the goal of reducing the number of foreclosures. These programs
include the Home Affordable Modification Program (“HAMP”) and the Home Affordable Refinance Program (“HARP”). During 2015 and the first
three quarters of 2016, we were notified of modifications that cured delinquencies that had they become paid claims would have resulted in
approximately $0.6 billion and $0.4 billion, respectively, of estimated claim payments. These levels are down from a high of $3.2 billion in 2010.

In 2015 and the first three quarters of 2016, approximately 16% and 15%, respectively, of our primary cures were the result of
modifications, with HAMP accounting for approximately 66% and 64% of the modifications in each of those periods, respectively. Although the
HAMP and HARP programs have been extended through December 2016



and September 2017, respectively, we believe that we have realized the majority of the benefits from them because the number of loans
insured by us that we are aware are entering those programs has decreased significantly.

We cannot determine the total benefit we may derive from loan modification programs, particularly given the uncertainty around the re-
default rates for defaulted loans that have been modified. Our loss reserves do not account for potential re-defaults of current loans.

If the volume of low down payment home mortgage originations declines, the amount of insurance that we write could decline, which would
reduce our revenues.

The factors that affect the volume of low down payment mortgage originations include:

• restrictions on mortgage credit due to more stringent underwriting standards, liquidity issues or risk-retention and/or capital
requirements affecting lenders ,

• the level of home mortgage interest rates and the deductibility of mortgage interest for income tax purposes,

• the health of the domestic economy as well as conditions in regional and local economies and the level of consumer confidence,

• housing affordability,

• population trends, including the rate of household formation,

• the rate of home price appreciation, which in times of heavy refinancing can affect whether refinanced loans have loan-to-value ratios
that require private mortgage insurance, and

• government housing policy encouraging loans to first-time homebuyers.

A decline in the volume of low down payment home mortgage originations could decrease demand for mortgage insurance, decrease
our new insurance written and reduce our revenues. For other factors that could decrease the demand for mortgage insurance, see our risk
factor titled “The amount of insurance we write could be adversely affected if lenders and investors select alternatives to private mortgage
insurance.”

State capital requirements may prevent us from continuing to write new insurance on an uninterrupted basis.

The insurance laws of 16 jurisdictions, including Wisconsin, our domiciliary state, require a mortgage insurer to maintain a minimum
amount of statutory capital relative to the risk in force (or a similar measure) in order for the mortgage insurer to continue to write new business.
We refer to these requirements as the “State Capital Requirements.” While they vary among jurisdictions, the most common State Capital
Requirements allow for a maximum risk-to-capital ratio of 25 to 1. A risk-to-capital ratio will increase if (i) the percentage decrease in capital
exceeds the percentage decrease in insured risk, or (ii) the percentage increase in capital is less than the percentage increase in insured risk.
Wisconsin does not regulate capital by using a risk-to-capital measure but instead requires a minimum policyholder position (“MPP”). The
“policyholder position” of a mortgage insurer is its net worth or surplus, contingency reserve and a portion of the reserves for unearned
premiums.

At September 30, 2016, MGIC’s risk-to-capital ratio was 11.1 to 1, below the maximum allowed by the jurisdictions with State Capital
Requirements, and its policyholder position was $1.4 billion above the required MPP of $1.1 billion. In calculating our risk-to-capital ratio and
MPP, we are allowed full credit for the risk ceded under our reinsurance transaction with a group of unaffiliated reinsurers. It is possible that
under the revised State Capital Requirements discussed below, MGIC will not be allowed full credit for the risk ceded to the reinsurers. If MGIC
is not allowed an agreed level of credit under either the State Capital Requirements or the PMIERs, MGIC may terminate the reinsurance
agreement, without penalty. At this time, we expect MGIC to continue to comply with the current State Capital Requirements; however, you
should read the rest of these risk factors for information about matters that could negatively affect such compliance.

At September 30, 2016, the risk-to-capital ratio of our combined insurance operations (which includes a reinsurance affiliate) was 12.6
to 1. Reinsurance transactions with our affiliate permit MGIC to write insurance with a



higher coverage percentage than it could on its own under certain state-specific requirements. A higher risk-to-capital ratio on a combined
basis may indicate that, in order for MGIC to continue to utilize reinsurance arrangements with its affiliates, additional capital contributions to
the reinsurance affiliates could be needed.

The NAIC previously announced that it plans to revise the minimum capital and surplus requirements for mortgage insurers that are
provided for in its Mortgage Guaranty Insurance Model Act. In May 2016, a working group of state regulators released an exposure draft of a
risk-based capital framework to establish capital requirements for mortgage insurers, although no date has been established by which the NAIC
must propose revisions to the capital requirements. We continue to evaluate the impact of the framework contained in the exposure draft,
including the potential impact of certain items that have not yet been completely addressed by the framework which include: the treatment of
ceded risk, minimum capital floors, and action level triggers. Currently we believe that the PMIERs contain the more restrictive capital
requirements in most circumstances.

While MGIC currently meets the State Capital Requirements of Wisconsin and all other jurisdictions, it could be prevented from writing
new business in the future in all jurisdictions if it fails to meet the State Capital Requirements of Wisconsin, or it could be prevented from writing
new business in a particular jurisdiction if it fails to meet the State Capital Requirements of that jurisdiction, and in each case MGIC does not
obtain a waiver of such requirements. It is possible that regulatory action by one or more jurisdictions, including those that do not have specific
State Capital Requirements, may prevent MGIC from continuing to write new insurance in such jurisdictions. If we are unable to write business
in all jurisdictions, lenders may be unwilling to procure insurance from us anywhere. In addition, a lender’s assessment of the future ability of
our insurance operations to meet the State Capital Requirements or the PMIERs may affect its willingness to procure insurance from us. In this
regard, see our risk factor titled “Competition or changes in our relationships with our customers could reduce our revenues, reduce our
premium yields and/or increase our losses.” A possible future failure by MGIC to meet the State Capital Requirements or the PMIERs will not
necessarily mean that MGIC lacks sufficient resources to pay claims on its insurance liabilities. While we believe MGIC has sufficient claims
paying resources to meet its claim obligations on its insurance in force on a timely basis, you should read the rest of these risk factors for
information about matters that could negatively affect MGIC’s claims paying resources.

Downturns in the domestic economy or declines in the value of borrowers’ homes from their value at the time their loans closed may result in
more homeowners defaulting and our losses increasing, with a corresponding decrease in our returns.

Losses result from events that reduce a borrower’s ability or willingness to continue to make mortgage payments, such as
unemployment, health issues, family status, and whether the home of a borrower who defaults on his mortgage can be sold for an amount that
will cover unpaid principal and interest and the expenses of the sale. In general, favorable economic conditions reduce the likelihood that
borrowers will lack sufficient income to pay their mortgages and also favorably affect the value of homes, thereby reducing and in some cases
even eliminating a loss from a mortgage default. A deterioration in economic conditions, including an increase in unemployment, generally
increases the likelihood that borrowers will not have sufficient income to pay their mortgages and can also adversely affect housing values,
which in turn can influence the willingness of borrowers with sufficient resources to make mortgage payments to do so when the mortgage
balance exceeds the value of the home. Housing values may decline even absent a deterioration in economic conditions due to declines in
demand for homes, which in turn may result from changes in buyers’ perceptions of the potential for future appreciation, restrictions on and the
cost of mortgage credit due to more stringent underwriting standards, higher interest rates generally, changes to the deductibility of mortgage
interest for income tax purposes, or other factors. Changes in housing values and unemployment levels are inherently difficult to forecast given
the uncertainty in the current market environment, including uncertainty about the effect of actions the federal government has taken and may
take with respect to tax policies, mortgage finance programs and policies, and housing finance reform.

The mix of business we write affects our Minimum Required Assets under the PMIERs, our premium yields and the likelihood of losses
occurring.

The Minimum Required Assets under the PMIERs are, in part, a function of the direct risk-in-force and the risk profile of the loans we
insure, considering loan-to-value ratio, credit score, vintage, HARP status and delinquency status; and whether the loans were insured under
lender-paid mortgage insurance policies or other policies that are not subject to automatic termination consistent with the Homeowners
Protection Act requirements for borrower paid mortgage insurance. Therefore, if our direct risk-in-force increases through increases in new
insurance written, or if our mix of business changes to include loans with higher loan-to-value ratios or lower FICO scores, for example, or if we
insure



more loans under lender-paid mortgage insurance policies, we will be required to hold more Available Assets in order to maintain GSE
eligibility.

The minimum capital required by the risk-based capital framework contained in the exposure draft released by the NAIC in May 2016
would be, in part, a function of certain loan factors, including property location, loan-to-value ratio and credit score; general underwriting quality
in the market at the time of loan origination; the age of the loan; and the premium rate we charge. Depending on the provisions of the capital
requirements when they are released in final form and become effective, our mix of business may affect the minimum capital we are required to
hold under the new framework.

Beginning in 2014, we have increased the percentage of our business from lender-paid single premium policies. Depending on the
actual life of a single premium policy and its premium rate relative to that of a monthly premium policy, a single premium policy may generate
more or less premium than a monthly premium policy over its life.

We entered into a quota share reinsurance transaction with a group of unaffiliated reinsurers that was restructured effective July 1,
2015. Although the transaction reduces our premiums, it has a lesser impact on our overall results, as losses ceded under the transaction
reduce our losses incurred and the ceding commission we receive reduces our underwriting expenses. The net cost of reinsurance, with
respect to a covered loan, is 6% (but can be lower if losses are materially higher than we expect). This cost is derived by dividing the reduction
in our pre-tax net income from such loan with reinsurance by our direct (that is, without reinsurance) premiums from such loan. Although the
net cost of the reinsurance is generally constant at 6%, the effect of the reinsurance on the various components of pre-tax income will vary from
period to period, depending on the level of ceded losses. The 2015 restructuring of the reinsurance transaction caused volatility in our 2015
premium yield and we expect it to modestly reduce our premium yield in 2016.

In addition to the effect of reinsurance on our premium yield, we expect a modest decline in premium yield resulting from the premium
rates themselves: the books we wrote before 2009, which have a higher average premium rate than subsequent books, are expected to
continue to decline as a percentage of the insurance in force; and the average premium rate on these books is also expected to decline as the
premium rates reset to lower levels at the time the loans reach the ten-year anniversary of their initial coverage date. However, for loans that
have utilized HARP, the initial ten-year period was reset to begin as of the date of the HARP transaction. As of September 30, 2016,
approximately 4%, 7% and 3% of our total primary risk in force was written in 2006, 2007, and 2008, respectively, was not refinanced under
HARP and is subject to a reset after ten years.

The circumstances in which we are entitled to rescind coverage have narrowed for insurance we have written in recent years. During
the second quarter of 2012, we began writing a portion of our new insurance under an endorsement to our then existing master policy (the
“Gold Cert Endorsement”), which limited our ability to rescind coverage compared to that master policy. The Gold Cert Endorsement is filed as
Exhibit 99.7 to our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2012 (filed with the SEC on May 10, 2012).

To comply with requirements of the GSEs, we introduced our current master policy in 2014. Our rescission rights under our current
master policy are comparable to those under our previous master policy, as modified by the Gold Cert Endorsement, but may be further
narrowed if the GSEs permit modifications to them. Our current master policy is filed as Exhibit 99.19 to our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended September 30, 2014 (filed with the SEC on November 7, 2014). All of our primary new insurance on loans with mortgage
insurance application dates on or after October 1, 2014, was written under our current master policy. As of September 30, 2016, approximately
60% of our flow, primary insurance in force was written under our Gold Cert Endorsement or our current master policy.

From time to time, in response to market conditions, we change the types of loans that we insure and the requirements under which we
insure them. We also change our underwriting guidelines, in part through aligning some of them with Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac for loans
that receive and are processed in accordance with certain approval recommendations from a GSE automated underwriting system. As a result
of changes to our underwriting guidelines and requirements and other factors, our business written beginning in the second half of 2013 is
expected to have a somewhat higher claim incidence than business written in 2009 through the first half of 2013. However, we believe this
business presents an acceptable level of risk. Our underwriting requirements are available on our website at http://www.mgic.com/underwriting/
index.html. We monitor the competitive landscape and will make adjustments to our pricing and underwriting guidelines as warranted. We also
make exceptions to our underwriting requirements on a loan-by-loan basis and for certain customer programs. Together, the number of loans
for which exceptions were made accounted for fewer than 2% of the loans we insured in each of 2015 and the first three quarters of 2016.



Even when housing values are stable or rising, mortgages with certain characteristics have higher probabilities of claims. These
characteristics include loans with higher loan-to-value ratios, lower FICO scores, limited underwriting, including limited borrower
documentation, or higher total debt-to-income ratios, as well as loans having combinations of higher risk factors. As of September 30, 2016,
approximately 14.7% of our primary risk in force consisted of loans with loan-to-value ratios greater than 95%, 4.0% had FICO scores below
620, and 3.9% had limited underwriting, including limited borrower documentation, each attribute as determined at the time of loan origination.
A material number of these loans were originated in 2005 - 2007 or the first half of 2008. For information about our classification of loans by
FICO score and documentation, see footnotes (1) and (2) to the composition of primary default inventory table under “Results of Consolidated
Operations – Losses – Losses incurred” in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 26, 2016.

As of September 30, 2016, approximately 2% of our primary risk in force consisted of adjustable rate mortgages in which the initial
interest rate may be adjusted during the five years after the mortgage closing (“ARMs”). We classify as fixed rate loans adjustable rate
mortgages in which the initial interest rate is fixed during the five years after the mortgage closing. If interest rates should rise between the time
of origination of such loans and when their interest rates may be reset, claims on ARMs and adjustable rate mortgages whose interest rates
may only be adjusted after five years would be substantially higher than for fixed rate loans. In addition, we have insured “interest-only” loans,
which may also be ARMs, and loans with negative amortization features, such as pay option ARMs. We believe claim rates on these loans will
be substantially higher than on loans without scheduled payment increases that are made to borrowers of comparable credit quality.

Although we attempt to incorporate these higher expected claim rates into our underwriting and pricing models, there can be no
assurance that the premiums earned and the associated investment income will be adequate to compensate for actual losses even under our
current underwriting requirements. We do, however, believe that our insurance written beginning in the second half of 2008 will generate
underwriting profits.

The premiums we charge may not be adequate to compensate us for our liabilities for losses and as a result any inadequacy could materially
affect our financial condition and results of operations.

We set premiums at the time a policy is issued based on our expectations regarding likely performance of the insured risks over the
long-term. Our premiums are subject to approval by state regulatory agencies, which can delay or limit our ability to increase our premiums.
Generally, we cannot cancel mortgage insurance coverage or adjust renewal premiums during the life of a mortgage insurance policy. As a
result, higher than anticipated claims generally cannot be offset by premium increases on policies in force or mitigated by our non-renewal or
cancellation of insurance coverage. The premiums we charge, and the associated investment income, may not be adequate to compensate us
for the risks and costs associated with the insurance coverage provided to customers. An increase in the number or size of claims, compared
to what we anticipate, could adversely affect our results of operations or financial condition. Our premium rates are also based in part on the
amount of capital we are required to hold against the insured risk. If the amount of capital we are required to hold increases from the amount
we were required to hold when a policy was written, we cannot adjust premiums to compensate for this and our returns may be lower than we
assumed.

The losses we have incurred on our 2005-2008 books have exceeded our premiums from those books. Our current expectation is that
the incurred losses from those books, although declining, will continue to generate a material portion of our total incurred losses for a number of
years. The ultimate amount of these losses will depend in part on general economic conditions, including unemployment, and the direction of
home prices.

We are susceptible to disruptions in the servicing of mortgage loans that we insure.

We depend on reliable, consistent third-party servicing of the loans that we insure. Over the last several years, the mortgage loan
servicing industry has experienced consolidation and an increase in the number of specialty servicers servicing delinquent loans. The resulting
change in the composition of servicers could lead to disruptions in the servicing of mortgage loans covered by our insurance policies. Further
changes in the servicing industry resulting in the transfer of servicing could cause a disruption in the servicing of delinquent loans which could
reduce servicers’ ability to undertake mitigation efforts that could help limit our losses. Future housing market conditions could lead to additional
increases in delinquencies and transfers of servicing.

Changes in interest rates, house prices or mortgage insurance cancellation requirements may change the length of time that our policies
remain in force.



The premium from a single premium policy is collected upfront and generally earned over the estimated life of the policy. In contrast,
premiums from a monthly premium policy are received and earned each month over the life of the policy. In each year, most of our premiums
received are from insurance that has been written in prior years. As a result, the length of time insurance remains in force, which is also
generally referred to as persistency, is a significant determinant of our revenues. Future premiums on our monthly premium policies in force
represent a material portion of our claims paying resources and a low persistency rate will reduce those future premiums. In contrast, a higher
than expected persistency rate will decrease the profitability from single premium policies because they will remain in force longer than was
estimated when the policies were written.

The monthly premium policies for the substantial majority of loans we insured provides that, for the first ten years of the policy, the
premium is determined by the product of the premium rate and the initial loan balance; thereafter, a lower premium rate is applied to the initial
loan balance. The initial ten-year period is reset when the loan is refinanced under HARP. The premiums on many of the policies in our 2005
book that were not refinanced under HARP reset in 2015 and the premiums on many of the policies in our 2006 book that were not refinanced
under HARP will reset in 2016. As of September 30, 2016, approximately 4%, 7% and 3% of our total primary risk-in-force was written in 2006,
2007 and 2008, respectively, was not refinanced under HARP, and is subject to a rate reset after ten years.

Our persistency rate was 78.3% at September 30, 2016, compared to 79.7% at December 31, 2015 and 82.8% at December 31, 2014.
Since 2000, our year-end persistency ranged from a high of 84.7% at December 31, 2009 to a low of 47.1% at December 31, 2003.

Our persistency rate is primarily affected by the level of current mortgage interest rates compared to the mortgage coupon rates on our
insurance in force, which affects the vulnerability of the insurance in force to refinancing. Our persistency rate is also affected by mortgage
insurance cancellation policies of mortgage investors along with the current value of the homes underlying the mortgages in the insurance in
force.

Your ownership in our company may be diluted by additional capital that we raise or if the holders of our outstanding convertible debt convert
that debt into shares of our common stock.

As noted above under our risk factor titled “We may not continue to meet the GSEs’ private mortgage insurer eligibility requirements
and our returns may decrease as we are required to maintain more capital in order to maintain our eligibility,” although we are currently in
compliance with the requirements of the PMIERs, there can be no assurance that we would not seek to issue non-dilutive debt capital or to
raise additional equity capital to manage our capital position under the PMIERs or for other purposes. Any future issuance of equity securities
may dilute your ownership interest in our company. In addition, the market price of our common stock could decline as a result of sales of a
large number of shares or similar securities in the market or the perception that such sales could occur.

At September 30, 2016, we had outstanding $390 million principal amount of 9% Convertible Junior Subordinated Debentures due in
2063 ("9% Debentures") (of which approximately $133 million was purchased by and is held by MGIC, and is eliminated on the consolidated
balance sheet), $145 million principal amount of 5% Convertible Senior Notes due in 2017 ("5% Notes") and $208 million principal amount of
2% Convertible Senior Notes due in 2020 ("2% Notes"). The principal amount of the 9% Debentures is currently convertible, at the holder’s
option, at an initial conversion rate, which is subject to adjustment, of 74.0741 common shares per $1,000 principal amount of debentures. This
represents an initial conversion price of approximately $13.50 per share. We have the right, and may elect, to defer interest payable under the
debentures in the future. If a holder elects to convert its debentures, the interest that has been deferred on the debentures being converted is
also convertible into shares of our common stock. The conversion rate for such deferred interest is based on the average price that our shares
traded at during a 5-day period immediately prior to the election to convert the associated debentures. We may elect to pay cash for some or all
of the shares issuable upon a conversion of the debentures.

The 5% Notes are convertible, at the holder’s option, at an initial conversion rate, which is subject to adjustment, of 74.4186 shares per
$1,000 principal amount at any time prior to the maturity date. This represents an initial conversion price of approximately $13.44 per share.
Prior to January 1, 2020, the 2% Notes are convertible only upon satisfaction of one or more conditions. One such condition is that conversion
may occur during any calendar quarter commencing after March 31, 2014, if the last reported sale price of our common stock for each of at
least 20 trading days during the 30 consecutive trading days ending on, and including, the last trading day of the immediately preceding
calendar quarter is greater than or equal to 130% of the applicable conversion price on each applicable trading day. The notes are convertible
at an initial conversion rate, which is subject to adjustment, of 143.8332 shares per $1,000 principal amount. This represents an initial
conversion price of approximately $6.95 per share. 130% of such conversion



price is $9.03. On or after January 1, 2020, holders may convert their notes irrespective of satisfaction of the conditions. We do not have the
right to defer interest on our 5% Notes or 2% Notes. For a discussion of the dilutive effects of our convertible securities on our earnings per
share, see Note 6 – “Earnings per Share” to our consolidated financial statements.

Our holding company debt obligations materially exceed our holding company cash and investments.

At September 30, 2016, we had approximately $329 million in cash and investments at our holding company and our holding
company’s debt obligations were $1,168 million in aggregate principal amount, consisting of $145 million of 5% Notes, $208 million of 2%
Notes, $425 million of 5.75% Senior Notes due in 2023 ("5.75% Notes"), and $390 million of 9% Debentures (of which approximately $133
million was purchased by and is held by MGIC, and is eliminated on the consolidated balance sheet). Annual debt service on the outstanding
holding company debt as of September 30, 2016, is approximately $71 million (of which approximately $12 million will be paid to MGIC and will
be eliminated on the consolidated income statement). For more information about the purchase by MGIC of a portion of our outstanding 9%
Convertible Junior Subordinated Debentures, see "Management's Discussion and Analysis – Debt at Our Holding Company and Holding
Company Capital Resources" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 26, 2016. We completed a public offering of
the 5.75% Notes in August 2016. We used a portion of the net proceeds from the offering, together with, in certain cases, shares of our
common stock, to purchase approximately $292 million aggregate principal amount of the 2% Notes. In the third quarter of 2016, we used a
portion of the net proceeds of the offering to purchase shares of our common stock to offset a portion of the shares used as partial
consideration in the purchase of the 2% Notes. In October 2016, we purchased the remaining 4.8 million shares used as partial consideration
for our 2% Notes repurchases. The funds remaining are being held for general corporate purposes. We may continue to purchase our debt
securities in the future.

The Convertible Senior Notes, Senior Notes and Convertible Junior Subordinated Debentures are obligations of our holding company,
MGIC Investment Corporation, and not of its subsidiaries. The payment of dividends from our insurance subsidiaries which, other than
investment income and raising capital in the public markets, is the principal source of our holding company cash inflow, is restricted by
insurance regulation. MGIC is the principal source of dividend-paying capacity and OCI authorization is required for MGIC to pay dividends. In
each of April, June and September of 2016, MGIC paid $16 million dividends to our holding company, its first dividends since 2008, and we
expect to continue to receive quarterly dividends. If any additional capital contributions to our subsidiaries were required, such contributions
would decrease our holding company cash and investments. As described in our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 11, 2016,
MGIC borrowed $155 million from the Federal Home Loan Bank of Chicago. This is an obligation of MGIC and not of our holding company.

We could be adversely affected if personal information on consumers that we maintain is improperly disclosed and our information technology
systems may become outdated and we may not be able to make timely modifications to support our products and services.

We rely on the efficient and uninterrupted operation of complex information technology systems. All information technology systems are
potentially vulnerable to damage or interruption from a variety of sources. As part of our business, we maintain large amounts of personal
information on consumers. While we believe we have appropriate information security policies and systems to prevent unauthorized disclosure,
there can be no assurance that unauthorized disclosure, either through the actions of third parties or employees, will not occur. Unauthorized
disclosure could adversely affect our reputation and expose us to material claims for damages.

In addition, we are in the process of upgrading certain of our information systems that have been in place for a number of years. The
implementation of these technological improvements is complex, expensive and time consuming. If we fail to timely and successfully implement
the new technology systems, or if the systems do not operate as expected, it could have an adverse impact on our business, business
prospects and results of operations.


